Looking Ahead. Acting Now.

LT .

oOGE

2012 Annual Report



THIS IS OGE

OGE Energy Corp. (NYSE: OGE), with headquarters in Oklahoma City, is the parent
company of Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company (OG&E), a regulated electric
utility, and OGE Enogex Holdings LLC (Enogex), a midstream natural gas pipeline

business. OGE Energy and its subsidiaries have approximately 3,400 employees.

2012 Highlights

Dollars in millions unless noted

Gross Margin
on Revenues

$2,100 $800

Operating Income

Capital
Investments'?

$1,500 $420

08 09 10 11 12

08 09 10 11 12

Net Income

08 09 10 11 12

TIncludes $200.4 million related to the acquisition of certain gas gathering assets in 2011.
2|ncludes $78.6 million related to the acquisition of certain gas gathering assets in 2012.

Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company
Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company serves
approximately 798,000 retail customers in
Oklahoma and western Arkansas. OG&E, with
approximately 6,800 megawatts of capacity,
generates electricity from low-sulfur Wyoming
coal, natural gas and wind. OG&E’s electric
transmission and distribution systems cover
an area of 30,000 square miles.

Enogex

Enogex operates a pipeline system in
Oklahoma and Texas engaged in natural
gas gathering, processing, transportation and
storage. The system includes about 8,900
miles of pipe, nine natural gas processing
plants and 24 billion cubic feet of natural gas
storage capacity.




WHAT WE SAID; WHAT WE DID

CONSISTENT EARNINGS GROWTH
What we said:

Since 2009, we’ve had a compound annual growth
rate of 9.6 percent. We understand the importance of consistent
earnings growth, and in doing what’s necessary to reduce
earnings volatility.

INVESTING FOR THE FUTURE
What we said:

OG&E’s transmission investment now totals nearly
$1.5 billion. We completed two high-voltage transmission lines
in 2012 totaling 168 miles, and we currently have 400 miles of
high-voltage transmission projects, totaling about $625 million,
at various stages of construction.

LEVERAGING TECHNOLOGY
What we said:

OG&E saved $13.5 million in operational costs,
including avoided truck rolls and automated connects & discon-
nects. By the end of 2012, nearly 45,000 customers had enrolled
in SmartHours®, which shaved 66 megawatts of peak demand
off our system.

ENOGEX GROWTH
What we said:

Since 2010, Enogex has closed two significant
acquisitions that added more than 600,000 net acres of long-term
commitments, which increased our overall to 2.5 million net acres,
primarily located in the Granite Wash, Cleveland Sands, Tonkawa
and Cana Woodford plays.

Letter to Shareholders 2

Looking Ahead, Acting Now 4

Leadership 8

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 9
Financial Statements 41

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 48
Financial Performance 87

Historical Performance 88

Investor Information 89

OGE Energy Corp.

1



LOOKING AHEAD, ACTING NOW

Letter To Shareholders.

The position of strength on which your company stands is no accident. It’s the result of conservative business

practices and a constant, thoughtful plan for our future. It has been built by our employees’ unflinching

commitment to safety, reliability, operational excellence and innovation. Sustaining our position requires

constant engagement and an intense focus on all areas of our business - operations, finances and culture.

More importantly, it requires a drive to achieve more.

In 2012, OGE Energy Corp. continued the march toward
our vision of being an industry leader. We encountered
some headwinds — a challenging rate case settlement for
OG&E and ongoing low natural gas prices at Enogex —
but stayed true to our plan and had another solid year.
However, we are not content to rest on our laurels. The
stakes are too high. We are looking ahead, acting now.

Financial Strength OGE is in a position of strength with
strong credit ratings, and a conservative but growing
dividend that affords us cash flow for future investments.
We have grown consolidated earnings 36 percent since
2007, and have increased the dividend for seven
consecutive years.

In 2012, we proudly accepted the Edison Electric
Institute’s Index Award for highest shareholder return
among large-cap companies, thanks to a 103 percent
return for the five-year period ending Sept. 30, 2012.

That achievement comes in part from thoughtful
capital investment and our persistent focus on managing
our operations and maintenance expenses. We are opti-
mizing everything from our workforce to our processes,
with a goal of keeping O&M growth in check with inflation.

A Balanced Commitment At OG&E, we have
maintained a diverse generation mix, balancing our
commitment to renewable energy with our commitment
to provide our customers reasonably priced electricity.
Our goal is to defer the construction of incremental
fossil fuel generation until at least 2020, and we’re
accomplishing that by combining our renewable energy
program with concurrent efforts to reduce peak demand.
Our completed deployment of more than 800,000 smart
meters, along with our SmartHours® variable peak
pricing plan, empower our customers to better manage
their own energy use. That, along with other demand-
response programs, provided 77 megawatts of energy
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savings in 2012. In addition, we have completed more
than 326 miles of high-voltage transmission, which
increases reliability and has the potential to lower
generation costs for customers.

Pipeline Growth At Enogex, we continued to find
opportunities to grow processing and gathering volumes.
We closed a 15-year deal for the rights to gather and
process natural gas production from nearly 500,000 net
acres in northwestern Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle.
In a related transaction, we acquired approximately
235 miles of natural gas gathering assets. Those two
strategic transactions have grown our gathering assets
and helped increase processed volumes, which are up
more than 70 percent in five years. We also announced
plans to invest another $135 million of midstream infra-
structure in the region through 2013. Also in that time,
we rebalanced our portfolio of natural gas contracts
to reduce revenue risk in a difficult commodity market.
The conversion of keep-whole contracts to fixed fee
arrangements is providing a stable cash flow that’s
less vulnerable to the volatility of natural gas prices.
And, as this report went to press, we announced a
partnership that will combine Enogex’ assets with the
midstream assets of Houston-based CenterPoint Energy.
Once the new company is formed, the plan is to facilitate
an initial public offering as a master limited partnership.

Moving Forward When we look to the future of the
energy industry and OGE’s position within it, we are proud
of where we stand. That pride is embedded in our inter-
nal culture, in which cross-functional teams are seeking
operational efficiencies and innovation opportunities.
There is a new energy in the air as employees are actively
involved in making OGE stronger and more successful

in the future for all of us.



LOOKING AHEAD, ACTING NOW

Peter B. Delaney

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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LOOKING AHEAD, ACTING NOW

Looking Ahead. Toward 2020.

OG&
g Vi
40" 7943 .‘W G

Managing our Future The path toward our strategic goal of not building new incremental fossil-fired

generation until at least 2020 is well defined. It includes the continued implementation of demand-response
programs for commercial and industrial customers, increasing enroliment in the SmartHours® residential
variable peak pricing plan, and strategically executed renewable energy projects. In addition, our future calls
for continued investment in our infrastructure to increase system reliability and meet load growth. Meanwhile,
there is little doubt that the cost of electricity will increase in the future, primarily the result of increasing
environmental regulations. We will continue evaluating our compliance, implementing responsible programs,

and seeking fair and balanced solutions for our customers.
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LOOKING AHEAD, ACTING NOW

Acting Now. Engaging Customers.

Implementing and Innovating We’ve successfully launched an online energy management tool, myOGEpower,

and an innovative pricing plan, both of which have helped our customers better manage their electricity usage,
and reduced demand on our system. Nearly 45,000 customers enrolled last year, and OG&E saw an estimated
$13.5 million in operational savings. Customers saved an average of $179 on their summer bills. These programs
are helping us meet the needs of our growing customer base without added generation. Meanwhile, continued
investment in our infrastructure improves reliability, increases earnings and provides a return on investment for
our shareholders. And while we monitor regulatory environmental actions, OG&E is already taking action, with
plans to install low-NOX burners to reduce emissions at seven of our generation units. Progressive action today

is helping ensure we position the company for the long term, while helping customers manage their bills.
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LOOKING AHEAD, ACTING NOW

Looking Ahead. Opportunities To Grow.

Strength and Growth Ahead With more than 2.5 million acres of long-term dedications in very prolific basins,

we anticipate there will be opportunities to continue investing for years to come. Active and growing drilling
activity in dedicated areas translates into a robust volume forecast for 2013 and beyond. In both gathering and
processing, we project strong growth for at least the next two years. Our focus remains on providing attractive
returns for our shareholders through efficient operations and effective commercial management of our assets.
Mindful of the volatility of natural gas prices, we anticipate that a rebound from current lows has the potential
to significantly accelerate our volume growth projections. In the meantime, our confidence in our midstream

business and its long-term growth prospects is strong.
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LOOKING AHEAD, ACTING NOW

Acting Now. Increasing Volumes.

A Year of Growth In 2012, Enogex posted another year of record gathering and natural gas liquids (NGL)
production volumes. It gained key new opportunities with the acquisition of approximately 235 miles of natural
gas gathering pipelines from Chesapeake Energy’s midstream companies in the greater Granite Wash area.
Enogex also completed a 15-year agreement with Chesapeake for the rights to provide fee-based midstream
services for production from nearly 500,000 net acres. The new Wheeler Processing Plant began operations
supported by investments in new compression assets and additional gathering pipeline to serve increased
natural gas volumes from producers on dedicated acreage in the northwestern Oklahoma and Texas Panhandle
drilling areas. Enogex is executing on similar capital projects in the NGL-rich South Central Oklahoma Oil

Province (SCOOP) to support recently secured long-term acreage dedications from producing customers.
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LEADERSHIP

Board of Directors

Peter B. Delaney

Chairman, President and CEO
OGE Energy Corp., OG&E
CEO

Enogex Holdings LLC, Enogex LLC

Oklahoma City

Luke R. Corbett?®
Former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Kerr-McGee Corporation
(oil and gas exploration
and production company)
Oklahoma City

Robert Kelley'

President,

Kellco Investments Inc.
(private investment company)
Ardmore, Oklahoma

Robert O. Lorenz™"?
Retired Managing Partner,
Arthur Andersen
(accounting firm)
Oklahoma City

Leroy C. Richie??
Counsel,

Lewis & Munday, P.C.
(law firm)

Detroit, Michigan

Member of the audit committee
Member of the nominating and
corporate governance committee

Member of the compensation committee

Red number indicates committee chairman
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James H. Brandi*?

Retired Managing Director,
BNP Paribas Securities Corp.
(investment banking company)
New York City, New York

Wayne H. Brunetti'®
Retired Chairman,
Xcel Energy Inc.
(electric utility)
Denver, Colorado

John D. Groendyke??
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer,
Groendyke Transport, Inc.
(bulk transportation company)
Enid, Oklahoma

Kirk Humphreys' 3
Chairman,
The Humphreys Company, LLC

(real estate development company)

and Chairman,
Carlton Landing, LLC

(real estate development company)

Oklahoma City

Judy R. McReynolds?3
President and

Chief Executive Officer,
Arkansas Best Corporation
(freight company)

Fort Smith, Arkansas

Senior Management
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Enogex Holdings LLC, Enogex LLC

Sean Trauschke

Vice President and CFO
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Controller and

Chief Accounting Officer
OGE Energy Corp., OG&E

Patricia D. Horn

Vice President,
Governance, Environmental
and Corporate Secretary
OGE Energy Corp., OG&E
Secretary

Enogex Holdings LLC
Corporate Secretary
Enogex LLC

Gary D. Huneryager
Vice President, Internal Audits
OGE Energy Corp., OG&E

Cristina F. McQuistion

Vice President,

Strategic Planning,
Performance Improvement
and Chief Information Officer
OGE Energy Corp., OG&E

Max J. Myers

Treasurer
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Enogex Holdings LLC

Jerry A. Peace
Chief Risk Officer
OGE Energy Corp., OG&E

Paul L. Renfrow

Vice President, Public Affairs,
Human Resources

and Health & Safety
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William J. Bullard
General Counsel
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Assistant General Counsel
OGE Energy Corp.

Philip L. Crissup
Vice President,
Utility Technical Support

Kenneth C. Johnson
Vice President,
Power Supply Operations

Jesse B. Langston
Vice President, Retail Energy

Jean C. Leger, Jr.
Vice President, Utility Operations

Michael R. Mathews
Vice President,
Power Delivery Operations

Enogex LLC
E. Keith Mitchell
President

Stephen E. Merrill
COO

Paul M. Brewer
Vice President, Operations

Jon E. Hanna
Vice President,
Business Development

John P. Laws
Vice President, Planning
and Development

Thomas L. Levescy
Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer

Ramiro F. Rangel

Vice President,
Commercial Operations
and Human Resources



2012 Financial Section

(As included in the Company’s Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on February 27, 2013)



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements

Except for the historical statements contained herein, the matters
discussed in this Annual Report, including those matters discussed

in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” are forward-looking statements that are subject
to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Such forward-looking
statements are intended to be identified in this document by the words

» o«

“anticipate”, “believe”,

» o«

estimate”,

» o«

expect”, “intend”, “objective”, “plan”,

L]

“possible”, “potential”, “project” and similar expressions. Actual results
may vary materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements.
In addition to the specific risk factors discussed in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
herein, factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from

the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

e General economic conditions, including the availability of credit, access
to existing lines of credit, access to the commercial paper markets, actions
of rating agencies and their impact on capital expenditures;

 The ability of OGE Energy Corp. (“‘OGE Energy” and collectively, with its
subsidiaries, the “Company”) and its subsidiaries to access the capital
markets and obtain financing on favorable terms as well as inflation
rates and monetary fluctuations;

e Prices and availability of electricity, coal, natural gas and natural gas
liquids (“NGL”"), each on a stand-alone basis and in relation to each
other as well as the processing contract mix between percent-of-liquids,
percent-of-proceeds, keep-whole and fixed-fee;

* Business conditions in the energy and natural gas midstream industries;

* Competitive factors including the extent and timing of the entry of
additional competition in the markets served by the Company;

e Unusual weather;

e Availability and prices of raw materials for current and future construc-
tion projects;

 Federal or state legislation and regulatory decisions and initiatives that
affect cost and investment recovery, have an impact on rate structures
or affect the speed and degree to which competition enters the
Company’s markets;

e Environmental laws and regulations that may impact the Company’s
operations;

e Changes in accounting standards, rules or guidelines;

* The discontinuance of accounting principles for certain types of rate-
regulated activities;

® The cost of protecting assets against, or damage due to, terrorism
or cyber attacks and other catastrophic events;

e Advances in technology;

e Creditworthiness of suppliers, customers and other contractual parties;

* The higher degree of risk associated with the Company’s nonregulated
business compared with the Company’s regulated utility business; and
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e Other risk factors listed in the reports filed by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

Introduction

The Company is an energy and energy services provider offering physical
delivery and related services for both electricity and natural gas primarily
in the south central United States. The Company conducts these activities
through three business segments: (i) electric utility, (i) natural gas trans-
portation and storage and (jii) natural gas gathering and processing.

The electric utility segment generates, transmits, distributes and
sells electric energy in Oklahoma and western Arkansas. Its operations
are conducted through Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company (“OG&E”)
and are subject to regulation by the Oklahoma Corporation Commission
(“OCC”), the Arkansas Public Service Commission (“APSC”) and the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”). OG&E was incorpo-
rated in 1902 under the laws of the Oklahoma Territory. OG&E is the
largest electric utility in Oklahoma and its franchised service territory
includes the Fort Smith, Arkansas area. OG&E sold its retail natural
gas business in 1928 and is no longer engaged in the natural gas
distribution business.

OGE Enogex Holdings, LLC (“OGE Holdings,” wholly-owned
subsidiary of OGE Energy and parent company of Enogex Holdings
LLC, and collectively, with its subsidiaries, “Enogex”) is a provider of
integrated natural gas midstream services. Enogex is engaged in the
business of gathering, processing, transporting and storing natural gas.
Most of Enogex’s natural gas gathering, processing, transportation and
storage assets are strategically located in the Arkoma and Anadarko
basins of Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle. During the third quarter
of 2012, the operations and activities of Enogex Energy Resources LLC,
wholly-owned subsidiary of Enogex LLC (collectively with its subsidiaries,
“Enogex LLC”) (“EER”) were fully integrated with those of Enogex through
the creation of a new commodity management organization. This new
organization is intended to facilitate the execution of Enogex’s strategy
through an enhanced focus on asset optimization and active manage-
ment of its growing natural gas, NGLs and condensate positions. The
operations of EER, including asset management activities, have been
included in the natural gas transportation and storage segment and have
been restated for all prior periods presented. Enogex’s operations are
now organized into two business segments: (i) natural gas transportation
and storage and (ji) natural gas gathering and processing. At December
31, 2012, OGE Energy indirectly owns a 79.9 percent membership inter-
est in Enogex Holdings LLC, the parent company of Enogex LLC and a
majority-owned subsidiary of OGE Holdings (“Enogex Holdings”), which
in turn owns all of the membership interests in Enogex LLC.



Overview

Company Strategy

The Company’s mission is to fulfill its critical role in the nation’s electric
utility and natural gas midstream pipeline infrastructure and meet indi-
vidual customers’ needs for energy and related services focusing on
safety, efficiency, reliability, customer service and risk management.
The Company’s corporate strategy is to continue to maintain its existing
business mix and diversified asset position of its regulated electric utility
business and unregulated natural gas midstream business while provid-
ing competitive energy products and services to customers primarily in
the south central United States as well as seeking growth opportunities
in both businesses.

OG&E is focused on increased investment to preserve system
reliability and meet load growth by adding and maintaining infrastructure
equipment and replacing aging transmission and distribution systems.
OG&E expects to maintain a diverse generation portfolio while remaining
environmentally responsible. OG&E is focused on maintaining strong
regulatory and legislative relationships for the long-term benefit of its
customers. In an effort to encourage more efficient use of electricity,
OG&E is also providing energy management solutions to its customers
through the Smart Grid program that utilizes newer technology to
improve operational and environmental performance as well as allow
customers to monitor and manage their energy usage, which should
help reduce demand during critical peak times, resulting in lower capac-
ity requirements. If these initiatives are successful, OG&E believes it
may be able to defer the construction or acquisition of any incremental
fossil fuel generation capacity until 2020. The Smart Grid program also
provides benefits to OG&E, including more efficient use of its resources
and access to increased information about customer usage, which
should enable OG&E to have better distribution system planning data,
better response to customer usage questions and faster detection and
restoration of system outages. As the Smart Grid platform matures,
OG&E anticipates providing new products and services to its customers.
In addition, OG&E is also pursuing additional transmission-related
opportunities within the Southwest Power Pool (“SPP”).

Enogex’s business plan entails growing its businesses and providing
attractive financial returns through efficient operations and effective
commercial management of its assets. Enogex also plans to capture
growth opportunities through expansion projects, increased utilization of
existing assets and through acquisitions (including joint ventures) in and
around its footprint and attracting new customers. In addition, Enogex is
seeking to geographically diversify its gathering, processing and trans-
portation businesses principally by expanding into other areas that are
complementary with the Company’s capabilities. Enogex expects to
accomplish this diversification by undertaking organic growth projects
and through acquisitions.

Additionally, the Company wants to achieve a premium valuation of
its businesses relative to its peers, grow earnings per share with a stable
earnings pattern, create a high performance culture and achieve desired

outcomes with target stakeholders. The Company’s financial objectives
include a long-term annual earnings growth rate of five to seven percent
on a weather-normalized basis, maintaining a strong credit rating as
well as increasing the dividend to meet the Company’s dividend payout
objectives. The Company’s target payout ratio is to pay out dividends no
more than 60 percent of its normalized earnings on an annual basis. The
target payout ratio has been determined after consideration of numerous
factors, including the largely retail composition of the Company’s share-
holder base, the Company’s financial position, the Company’s growth
targets, the composition of the Company’s assets and investment
opportunities. The Company believes it can accomplish these financial
objectives by, among other things, pursuing multiple avenues to build its
business, maintaining a diversified asset position, continuing to develop
a wide range of skills to succeed with changes in its industries, providing
products and services to customers efficiently, managing risks effectively
and maintaining strong regulatory and legislative relationships.

Summary of Operating Results

2012 Compared to 2011

Net income attributable to OGE Energy was $355.0 million, or $3.58 per
diluted share, in 2012 as compared to $342.9 million, or $3.45 per diluted
share, in 2011. The increase in net income attributable to OGE Energy
of $12.1 million, or 3.5 percent, or $0.13 per diluted share, in 2012 as
compared to 2011 was primarily due to:

An increase in net income at OG&E of $17.0 million, or 6.5 percent,

or $0.18 per diluted share of the Company’s common stock, primarily
due to a higher gross margin and lower income tax expense. The higher
gross margin was primarily due to increased recovery of investments
and increased transmission revenue partially offset by milder weather in
OG&E'’s service territory. These increases were partially offset by higher
other operation and maintenance expense, higher depreciation and
amortization expense, lower allowance for equity funds used during
construction and higher interest expense;

A decrease in net income at Enogex of $8.1 million, or 9.9 percent, or
$0.08 per diluted share of the Company’s common stock, primarily due
to higher other operation and maintenance expense, higher depreciation
and amortization expense, lower other income primarily due to the
recognition of a gain related to the sale of the Harrah processing plant
and the associated Wellston and Davenport gathering assets in 2011,
higher interest expense and OGE Energy’s lower membership interest
in Enogex Holdings. These decreases were partially offset by a higher
gross margin related to (i) increased gathering rates and volumes associ-
ated with ongoing expansion projects and increased volumes from gas
gathering assets acquired in November 2011 and August 2012 and (i)
increased inlet volumes partially offset by lower average natural gas and
NGLs prices. Also having a positive impact on net income was a higher
gain on insurance proceeds in 2012 and an impairment related to the
Atoka Midstream LLC joint venture (“Atoka”) processing plant in 2011; and
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* An increase in net income at OGE Energy of $3.2 million, or $0.03 per
diluted share of the Company’s common stock, primarily due to higher
other income due to a decrease in deferred compensation losses partially
offset by higher interest expense and a lower income tax benefit in 2012.

Non-Recurring ltems

During 2012, Enogex had an increase in net income of $4.6 million due
to a gain on insurance proceeds related to the reimbursement of costs
incurred to replace the damaged train at the Cox City natural gas pro-
cessing plant partially offset by a decrease in net income of $2.1 million
related to sales taxes on the assets acquired in the gas gathering acqui-
sitions in August 2012, as discussed in Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, which Enogex does not consider to be reflective of its
ongoing performance. During 2011, Enogex had an increase in net income
of $2.3 million relating to the sale of the Harrah processing plant and the
associated Wellston and Davenport gathering assets in April 2011, which
Enogex does not consider to be reflective of its ongoing performance.

2011 Compared to 2010

Net income attributable to OGE Energy was $342.9 million, or $3.45 per
diluted share, in 2011 as compared to $295.3 million, or $2.99 per diluted
share, in 2010. Included in net income attributable to OGE Energy in 2010
was a one-time, non-cash charge of $11.4 million, or $0.11 per diluted
share, related to the elimination of the tax deduction for the Medicare
Part D subsidy (as previously reported in the Company’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2011). The increase in net income attributa-
ble to OGE Energy of $47.6 million, or 16.1 percent, or $0.46 per diluted
share, in 2011 as compared to 2010 was primarily due to:

e An increase in net income at OG&E of $47.6 million or 22.1 percent,
or $0.47 per diluted share of the Company’s common stock, primarily
due to a higher gross margin primarily from warmer weather in OG&E’s
service territory partially offset by higher other operation and mainte-
nance expense, higher interest expense and higher income tax expense.
Income tax expense was higher due to higher pre-tax income which more
than offset the effects of the Medicare Part D subsidy discussed above;

¢ A decrease in net income at Enogex of $8.9 million or 9.8 percent, or
$0.09 per diluted share of the Company’s common stock, primarily due
to higher other operation and maintenance expense and OGE Energy’s
lower membership interest in Enogex Holdings partially offset by a higher
gross margin primarily from higher NGLs prices and increased gathered
volumes associated with ongoing expansion projects, the recognition of
a gain related to the sale of the Harrah processing plant and the associ-
ated Wellston and Davenport gathering assets, lower interest expense
and lower income tax expense related to the Medicare Part D subsidy
discussed above; and
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* An increase in the net income at OGE Energy of $8.9 million or
77.4 percent or $0.08 per diluted share of the Company’s common
stock, primarily due to lower other operation and maintenance expense,
a decrease in charitable contributions in 2011 and a higher income tax
benefit related to the Medicare Part D subsidy discussed above.

Non-Recurring ltem

During 2011, Enogex had an increase in net income of $2.3 million
relating to the sale of the Harrah processing plant and the associated
Wellston and Davenport gathering assets in April 2011, which Enogex
does not consider to be reflective of its ongoing performance.

Timing Item

Enogex’s net income in 2011 was $82.2 million, which included a loss
of $2.6 million resulting from recording Enogex’s natural gas storage
inventory at the lower of cost or market value. The offsetting gains from
the sale of withdrawals from inventory were realized during the first
quarter of 2012.

Recent Developments and Regulatory Matters

OG&E SPP Transmission Projects

In 2007, the SPP notified OG&E to construct 44 miles of a new 345 kilovolt
transmission line originating at OG&E’s existing Sooner 345 kilovolt sub-
station and proceeding generally in a northerly direction to the Oklahoma/
Kansas Stateline (referred to as the Sooner-Rose Hill project). At the
Oklahoma/Kansas Stateline, the line connects to the companion line
constructed in Kansas by Westar Energy. The transmission line was
placed in service in April 2012. The total capital expenditures associated
with this project were $45 million.

In January 2009, OG&E received notification from the SPP to begin
construction on 50 miles of a new 345 kilovolt transmission line and
substation upgrades at OG&E’s Sunnyside substation, among other
projects. In April 2009, Western Farmers Electric Cooperative assigned
to OG&E the construction of 50 miles of line designated by the SPP to
be built by Western Farmers Electric Cooperative. The new line extends
from OG&E’s Sunnyside substation near Ardmore, Oklahoma, 123.5 miles
to the Hugo substation owned by Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
near Hugo, Oklahoma. The transmission line was completed in April
2012. The total capital expenditures associated with this project were
$157 million.

As discussed in Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, the OCC approved a settlement agreement in OG&E’s 2011
Oklahoma rate case filing that included an expedited procedure for
recovering the costs of the two projects. On July 31, 2012, OG&E filed
an application with the OCC requesting an order authorizing recovery for
the two projects through the SPP transmission systems additions rider.
On October 2, 2012, all parties signed a settlement agreement in this
matter which stated: (i) the parties agree not to oppose requested relief
sought by OG&E, (ii) OG&E will host meetings to discuss the SPP’s
transmission planning process, including any future transmission proj-
ects for which OG&E has received a notice to construct from the SPP,



and (iii) there will be opportunities for parties to provide input related to
transmission planning studies that the SPP performs to identify future
transmission projects. On October 25, 2012, the OCC issued an order
approving the settlement agreement and granting OG&E cost recovery
for the two projects. OG&E initiated cost recovery beginning with the
first billing cycle in November 2012.

OG&E Demand and Energy Efficiency Program Filing

On July 2, 2012, OG&E filed an application with the OCC requesting
approval of OG&E’s 2013 demand portfolio, the authorization to recover
the program costs, lost revenues associated with any achieved energy,
demand savings and performance based incentives through the demand
program rider and the recovery of costs associated with research and
development investments. On July 16, 2012, OG&E filed an amended
application which modified various calculations to reflect the rate of
return authorized by the OCC in OG&E’s 2011 rate case order and pro-
vided for consideration of a peak time rebate program. On December
20, 2012, the OCC approved a settlement with all parties in this matter.
Key terms of the settlement included (i) approval of the program budgets
proposed by OG&E and an additional amount of approximately $7 million
over the three-year period for the energy efficiency programs, (ii) approval
of OG&E’s proposed Demand Program Rider tariff, (i) the recovery through
the Demand Program Rider of the increased program costs and the net
lost revenues, incentives and research and development investments
requested by OG&E, with the exception of lost revenues resulting from
the Integrated Volt Var Control program (automated intelligence to con-
trol voltage and power on the distribution lines) and incentives for the
SmartHours® and Integrated Volt Var Control demand response programs,
(iv) recovery of the program costs on a levelized basis over the three-year
period, (v) consideration of implementing a peak time rebate program in
2015 and (vi) the periodic filing of additional reports. The Demand Program
Rider became effective on January 1, 2013.

OG&E Fuel Adjustment Clause Review for Calendar Year 2010

The OCC routinely reviews the costs recovered from customers through
OG&E's fuel adjustment clause. On August 19, 2011, the OCC Staff filed
an application to review OG&E’s fuel adjustment clause for calendar
year 2010, including the prudence of OG&E’s electric generation, pur-
chased power and fuel procurement costs. OG&E responded by filing
direct testimony and the minimum filing review package on October 18,
2011. On September 26, 2012, the administrative law judge recommended
that the OCC find that for the calendar year 2010 OG&E’s generation,
purchase power and fuel procurement processes and costs, including
the cost of replacement power for the Sooner 2 outage, were prudent
and no disallowance (as discussed below) for any of these expenses is
warranted. On January 31, 2013, the OCC issued an order approving the
administrative law judge’s recommendation. Previously, the Oklahoma
Industrial Energy Consumers recommended that the OCC disallow
recovery of approximately $44 million of costs previously recovered
through OG&E’s fuel adjustment clause. These recommendations were
based on allegations that OG&E’s lower cost coal-fired generation was

underutilized, that OG&E failed to aggressively pursue purchasing power
at a cost lower than its marginal cost of generation and that OG&E should
be found imprudent related to an unplanned outage at OG&E’s Sooner 2
coal unit in November and December 2010. Previously, the OCC Staff
recommended approval of OG&E’s actions related to utilization of coal
plants and practices related to purchasing power but recommended that
OG&E refund $3 million to customers because of the Sooner 2 outage.

Texas Panhandle Gathering Divestiture

On January 2, 2013, Enogex and one of its five largest customers
entered into new agreements, effective January 1, 2013, relating to

the customer’s gathering and processing volumes on the Texas portion
of Enogex’s system. The effects of this new arrangement are (j) a fixed
fee processing agreement replaces the previous keep-whole agreement,
(ii) the acreage dedicated by the customer to Enogex for gathering and
processing in Texas has been increased for an extended term and (jii) the
sale by Enogex of certain gas gathering assets in the Texas Panhandle
portion of Enogex’s system to this customer for cash proceeds of
approximately $35 million. The sale of these assets was approved by
the Company’s and Enogex’s Board of Directors in November 2012,
therefore these assets were classified as held for sale on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012. Enogex expects to
recognize a pre-tax gain of approximately $10 million in the first quarter
of 2013 in its natural gas gathering and processing segment from the
sale of these assets.

Enogex Western Oklahoma/Texas Panhandle Natural Gas
Gathering and Processing System Expansions

In August 2012, Enogex completed construction of its cryogenic
processing plant in Wheeler County, Texas, which added 200 million
cubic feet per day (“MMcf/d”) of rich gas processing capacity to Enogex’s
system, and is supported by the installation of 9,400 horsepower of field
compression, as well as 6,000 horsepower of inlet compression to facilitate
additional flexibility in the operation of Enogex’s “super-header” gather-
ing system. The remainder of the inlet compression facilities is expected
to be in service during the second quarter of 2013.

In support of significant long-term acreage dedications from its
customers in the area, Enogex has expanded its gathering infrastructure in
western Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle. These expansions included
the installation of 39,700 horsepower of low pressure compression and
235 miles of gathering pipe across the area, which was completed
during the third quarter of 2012.

In support of significant long-term acreage dedications from its
customers in the area, Enogex is expanding its gathering infrastructure
in southern Oklahoma. The initial phase of these expansions include the
installation of approximately 20,000 horsepower of compression and
approximately 100 miles of gathering pipeline, which are expected to be
in service by the end of the first quarter of 2013. The remainder of the
expansion includes the installation of approximately 50,000 horsepower
of compression and approximately 300 miles of gathering pipeline, which
are expected to be in service by the end of 2013.
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Enogex is constructing a cryogenic processing plant in Custer
County, Oklahoma, which is expected add 200 MMcf/d of natural gas
processing capacity to Enogex’s system, and is expected to be sup-
ported by the installation of 6,000 horsepower of inlet compression and
four miles of transmission pipeline. This plant will be connected to the
Enogex “super-header” gathering system and is expected to be in
service by the end of 2013.

The capital expenditures related to the above projects are presented
in the summary of capital expenditures for known and committed projects
in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources — Future Capital
Requirements and Financing Activities.”

Gas Gathering Acquisitions

On August 1, 2012, Enogex entered into agreements with Chesapeake
Midstream Gas Services, L.L.C. and Mid-America Midstream Gas
Services, L.L.C., wholly-owned subsidiaries of Access Midstream
Partners, L.P. and Chesapeake Midstream Development, L.P., respec-
tively, pursuant to which Enogex agreed to acquire approximately

235 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, right-of-ways and certain
other midstream assets that provide natural gas gathering services in
the greater Granite Wash area. The transactions closed on August 31,
2012. The aggregate purchase price for these transactions was approxi-
mately $78.6 million including reimbursement for certain permitted
capital expenditures incurred during the period beginning June 1, 2012
and ending August 31, 2012. Enogex utilized cash generated from oper-
ations and bank borrowings to fund the purchase. In addition, Enogex
also incurred acquisition-related costs of $3.5 million for sales taxes on
acquired assets, which are included in taxes other than income. Enogex
expects the purchase price allocations to be completed by the end of
the first quarter of 2013. The Company believes that the acquisition
transactions will provide Enogex with key new opportunities in the
greater Granite Wash area.

In connection with these agreements, Enogex entered into a
gas gathering and processing agreement with Chesapeake Energy
Marketing, Inc. and Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C. (“Chesapeake”)
effective September 1, 2012 pursuant to which Enogex began providing
fee-based natural gas gathering, compression, processing and trans-
portation services to Chesapeake with respect to certain acreage
dedicated by Chesapeake.

The capital expenditures related to the above agreements are
presented in the summary of capital expenditures for known and com-
mitted projects in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources —
Future Capital Requirements and Financing Activities.”

2013 Outlook

The Company’s 2013 earnings guidance is between approximately
$335 million and $360 million of net income, or $3.35 to $3.60 per
average diluted share.
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Key Assumptions for 2013 Include:
Consolidated OGE

* Approximately 100 million average diluted shares outstanding;

* An effective tax rate of approximately 30 percent; and

* A projected loss at the holding company between approximately
$2 million and $4 million, or $0.02 to $0.04 per diluted share, primarily
due to interest expense relating to long and short-term debt borrowings
partially offset by tax deductions.

OG&E

The Company projects OG&E to earn approximately $280 million to
$290 million or $2.80 to $2.90 per average diluted share in 2013 and
is based on the following assumptions:

* Normal weather patterns are experienced for the remainder of the year;

» Gross margin on revenues of approximately $1.290 billion to $1.295 bil-
lion based on sales growth of approximately 1.5 percent on a weather-
adjusted basis;

- Approximately $75 million of gross margin is primarily attributed to
regionally allocated transmission projects;

» Operating expenses of approximately $770 million to $780 million,
with operation and maintenance expenses comprising 57 percent
of the total;

¢ Interest expense of approximately $130 million to $135 million which
assumes a $3 million allowance for borrowed funds used during con-
struction reduction to interest expense and $250 million of long-term
debt issued in the first half of 2013;

¢ Allowance for equity funds used during construction of approximately
$10 million; and

* An effective tax rate of approximately 28 percent.

OG&E has significant seasonality in its earnings. OG&E typically shows
minimal earnings in the first and fourth quarters with a majority of earnings
in the third quarter due to the seasonal nature of air conditioning demand.

Enogex

The Company projects Enogex to earn approximately $55 million

to $75 million, or $0.55 to $0.75 per average diluted share and Enogex
Holdings earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”) between $213 million and $241 million, in 2013 net of non-
controlling interest, and is based on the following assumptions:

 Total Enogex anticipated gross margin of between approximately
$470 million and $500 million. The gross margin assumption includes:
- Natural gas transportation and storage gross margin contribution
of between approximately $130 million and $140 million, of which
83 percent is attributable to the transportation business;
- Natural gas gathering and processing gross margin contribution
of between approximately $340 million and $360 million, of which
51 percent is attributable to the processing business;
- Key factors affecting the natural gas gathering and processing gross
margin forecast are:



e Assumed increase of approximately 10 to 15 percent in gathered
volumes over 2012;
* Assumed increase of approximately 10 to 15 percent in processable*
volumes over 2012;
¢ At the midpoint of Enogex’s natural gas gathering and processing
assumption Enogex has assumed:
- An average processing contract mix of 48 percent fixed-fee,
23 percent percent-of-liquids, 19 percent percent-of-proceeds
and 10 percent keep-whole;
- Average natural gas price of $3.38 per million British thermal unit
(“MMBtu”) in 2013;
- Average NGLs price of $0.82 per gallon in 2013;
- Average price per gallon of condensate of $2.13 in 2013;
- Ethane is projected to be in rejection for 2013;
- Approximately 50 percent of NGLs volumes are expected to flow
to Mt. Belvieu; and
- A 10 percent change in the average NGLs price for the entire year
impacts net income approximately $5 million;

* Enogex has assumed operating expenses of approximately $325 million
to $335 million, with operation and maintenance expenses comprising
54 percent of the total;

e A pre-tax gain of approximately $10 million associated with asset sales
in the first quarter of 2013;

* Interest expense of approximately $30 million to $35 million;

* An effective tax rate of approximately 38 percent; and

* Bronco Midstream Holdings, LLC, Bronco Midstream Holdings I, LLC,
(collectively the “ArcLight group”) will own approximately 22 percent of
Enogex Holdings by the end of 2013.

2014 Volume Projections for Enogex:

e Assumed increase of approximately five to 10 percent in gathered
volumes over 2013; and

* Assumed increase of approximately 10 to 20 percent in processable*
volumes over 2013.

* Processable volumes are the natural gas production that are on Enogex’s gathering systems that
are available to be processed, some of which is moved off of the system and is not processed
under one of Enogex’s processing agreements. Processable volumes include condensate volumes
which are captured in the gathering pipeline and therefore not included in plant inlet volumes.

EBITDA is a supplemental non-GAAP financial measure used by external
users of the Company’s financial statements such as investors, commer-
cial banks and others; therefore, the Company has included the table
below which provides a reconciliation of projected EBITDA to projected
net income attributable to Enogex Holdings at the midpoint of Enogex
Holdings’ earnings assumptions for 2013, which does not include the
effect of income taxes whereas OGE Energy’s portion of Enogex Holdings’
net income included in OGE Energy’s earnings guidance does reflect
the effect of income taxes. Enogex Holding’s net income shown in the
EBITDA table does not include the effect of income taxes because
Enogex Holdings is a partnership and is not subject to income taxes.
Each partner is responsible for paying their own income taxes. For a dis-
cussion of the reasons for the use of EBITDA, as well as its limitations
as an analytical tool, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” below.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2013 B)
Reconciliation of projected EBITDA to projected
net income attributable to Enogex Holdings
Net income attributable to Enogex Holdings $132
Add:
Interest expense, net 33
Depreciation and amortization expense© 123
EBITDA $288
OGE Energy’s portion $228

(A) Based on the midpoint of Enogex Holdings’ earnings guidance for 2013.

(B) As of November 1, 2010, Enogex Holdings’ earnings are no longer subject to tax (other than
Texas state margin taxes) and are taxable at the individual partner level.

(©) Includes amortization of certain customer-based intangible assets associated with the acquisi-
tion from Cordillera Energy Partners Ill, LLC (“Cordillera”) in November 2011, which is included
in gross margin for financial reporting purposes.

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis presents factors that affected
the Company’s consolidated results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and the Company’s consolidated
financial position at December 31, 2012 and 2011. The following infor-
mation should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto. Known trends and contingencies of a
material nature are discussed to the extent considered relevant.

(In millions, except per share data,

year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Operating income $ 676.9 $ 646.7 $ 593.9
Net income attributable to OGE Energy ~ $ 355.0 $ 3429 $ 295.3
Basic average common

shares outstanding 98.6 97.9 97.3
Diluted average common

shares outstanding 99.1 99.2 98.9
Basic earnings per average common

share attributable to OGE Energy

common shareholders $ 3.60 $ 3.50 $ 3.03
Diluted earnings per average common

share attributable to OGE Energy

common shareholders $ 3.58 $ 3.45 $ 2.99
Dividends declared per common share ~ $1.5950 $1.5175 $1.4625

In reviewing its consolidated operating results, the Company
believes that it is appropriate to focus on operating income as reported
in its Consolidated Statements of Income as operating income indicates
the ongoing profitability of the Company excluding the cost of capital
and income taxes.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Operating income (loss) by
business segment
OG&E (Electric Utility) $489.4 $472.3 $413.7
Enogex (Natural Gas Midstream Operations)
Natural gas transportation and storage®  45.1 56.4 60.4
Natural gas gathering and processing 140.5 118.7 123.9

Other operations® 1.9 0.7) 4.1)
Consolidated operating income $676.9 $646.7 $593.9

(A) During the third quarter of 2012, the operations and activities of EER were fully integrated
with those of Enogex through the creation of a new commodity management organization.
The operations of EER, including asset management activities, have been included in the natural
gas transportation and storage segment and have been restated for all prior periods presented.

(B) Other Operations primarily includes the operations of the holding company and consolidating
eliminations.
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The following operating income analysis by business segment
includes intercompany transactions that are eliminated in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

2012 Compared to 2011

OG&E’s operating income increased $17.1 million, or 3.6 percent,

in 2012 as compared to 2011 primarily due to a higher gross margin
partially offset by higher other operation and maintenance expense

(Dollars in millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010 and higher depreciation and amortization expense.
OG&E (Electric Utility)
Operating revenues $2,141.2 $2,211.5 $2,109.9 Gross Margin
Cost of goods sold 879.1 1,013.5 1,000.2 o " $2.141.2 million in 2012 dt
Gross margin on revenues 1,262.1 1,198.0 1,109.7 perating revenues were oz, - mifiion in as compared to
Other operation and maintenance 446.3 436.0 418.1  $2,211.5 million in 2011, a decrease of $70.3 million, or 3.2 percent.
Depreciation and amortization 248.7 216.1 208.7  Cost of goods sold was $879.1 million in 2012 as compared to
Taxes other than income 7.7 73.6 69.2  $1,013.5 million in 2011, a decrease of $134.4 million, or 13.3 percent.
Operating income 4894 4723 4137 Gross margin was $1,262.1 million in 2012 as compared to $1,198.0 mil-
Interest income 0.2 0.5 0.1 . . .
X lion in 2011, an increase of $64.1 million, or 5.4 percent. The below
Allowance for equity funds used
during construction 6.2 20.4 11.4 factors contributed to the change in gross margin:
Other income 8.0 8.0 6.5
Other expense 4.3 8.4 1.6 (In millions) $ Change
Interest expense 124.6 111.6 103.4  Price variance® $54.1
Income tax expense 94.6 117.9 111.0  Wholesale transmission revenue® 28.5
Net income $ 280.3 $ 263.3 $ 215.7  New customer growth 11.5
Operating revenues by classification Non-residential demand and related revenues 4.9
Residential $ 878.0 $ 9435 $ 894.8  Enogex transportation credit© 3.3
Commercial 523.5 531.3 521.0  Arkansas rate increase 2.8
Industrial 206.8 216.0 212.5  Oklahoma rate increase 2.7
Qilfield 163.4 165.1 162.8 Renewal of wholesale contract with customer 1.3
Public authorities and street light 202.4 207.4 200.8  Other 0.3
Sales for resale 54.9 65.3 65.8  Quantity variance (primarily weather) (45.3)
System sales revenues® 2,029.0 2,128.6 2,057.7  Change in gross margin $64.1
Off-system sales revenues® 36.5 36.2 21.7 () Increased due to revenues from the recovery of investments, including the Crossroads wind
Other 75.7 46.7 30.5 farm and smart grid.
Total operating revenues $2’141 2 $2’21 15 $2’1 09.9 (B) Increased primarily due to the inclusion of construction work in progress in transmission rates
Megawatt—hour (“MWH ,,) sales Z:jjﬂzg :ERC approved projects that previously accrued allowance for funds used during
by classification (in milions) (©) Increased due to a credit to OG&E’s customers in 2011 related to the settlement of OG&E’s
Residential 9.1 9.9 9.6 2009 fuel adjustment clause review.
Commercial 7.0 6.9 6.7
Industrial 40 3.9 3.8 Cost of goods sold for OG&E consists of fuel used in electric
Oilfield 3.3 3.2 3.1 . h o | h Fuel
Public authorities and street light 33 3.2 3.0 generation, purchased power and transmission related charges. Fue
Sales for resale 1.3 1.4 1.4 expense was $642.4 million in 2012 as compared to $775.0 million in
System sales 28.0 28.5 27.6 2011, a decrease of $132.6 million, or 17.1 percent, primarily due to
Off-system sales 1.4 1.0 0.5 lower natural gas prices. OG&E’s electric generating capability is fairly
Total sales 29.4 29.5 281 evenly divided between coal and natural gas and provides for flexibility
Number of customers 798,110 789,146 782,558 . . .
- to use either fuel to the best economic advantage for OG&E and its
Weighted-average cost of energy
per kilowatt-hour (cents) customers. In 2012, OG&E’s fuel mix was 52 percent coal, 42 percent
Natural gas 2.930 4.328 4.638  natural gas and six percent wind. In 2011, OG&E’s fuel mix was 58 per-
Coal 2310 2.064 1.911  cent coal, 39 percent natural gas and three percent wind. Purchased
Total fuel 2431 2897 3012 o ower costs were $223.0 million in 2012 as compared to $230.7 million
Total fuel and purchased power 2.806 3.215 3.309 | - . .
in 2011, a decrease of $7.7 million, or 3.3 percent, primarily due to
Degree days©
Heating — Actual 2,667 3,359 3528 @ decrease in cogeneration purchases and purchases in the energy
Heating — Normal 3,349 3,631 3,631  imbalance service market due to milder weather partially offset by an
Cooling - Actual 2,561 2,776 2,328 increase in short-term power purchases. Transmission related charges
Cooling - Normal 2,092 1,911 1,911

(A) Sales to OG&E’s customers.

(B) Sales to other utilities and power marketers.

(C) Degree days are calculated as follows: The high and low degrees of a particular day are added
together and then averaged. If the calculated average is above 65 degrees, then the difference
between the calculated average and 65 is expressed as cooling degree days, with each degree
of difference equaling one cooling degree day. If the calculated average is below 65 degrees,
then the difference between the calculated average and 65 is expressed as heating degree days,
with each degree of difference equaling one heating degree day. The daily calculations are then
totaled for the particular reporting period.
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were $13.7 million in 2012 as compared to $7.8 million in 2011, an
increase of $5.9 million, or 75.6 percent, primarily due to higher SPP
charges for the base plan projects of other utilities.



Variances in the actual cost of fuel used in electric generation and
certain purchased power costs, as compared to the fuel component
included in the cost-of-service for ratemaking, are passed through to
OG&E'’s customers through fuel adjustment clauses. The fuel adjustment
clauses are subject to periodic review by the OCC, the APSC and the
FERC. The OCC, the APSC and the FERC have authority to review the
appropriateness of gas transportation charges or other fees OG&E pays
to Enogex.

Operating Expenses

Other operation and maintenance expenses were $446.3 million in
2012 as compared to $436.0 million in 2011, an increase of $10.3 million,
or 2.4 percent. The below factors contributed to the change in other
operations and maintenance expense:

(In millions) $ Change
Salaries and wages® $ 6.4
Contract professional and technical services
(related to smart grid)® 4.2
Employee benefits© 3.4
Administration and assessment fees (primarily SPP

and North American Electric Reliability Corporation) 3.4
Wind farm lease expense (primarily Crossroads)® 3.0
Injuries and damages 1.9
Ongoing maintenance at power plants® 1.9
Software (primarily smart grid)® 1.8
Other 0.2
Temporary labor 1.7)
Uncollectibles 2.4)
Vegetation management (primarily system hardening)® (3.0)
Allocations from holding company (primarily lower contract

professional services and lower payroll and benefits) (3.1)
Capitalized labor (5.7)
Change in other operation and maintenance expense $10.3

(A) Increased primarily due to salary increases and an increase in incentive compensation expense
partially offset by lower headcount in 2012 and a decrease in overtime expense.

(B) Includes costs that are being recovered through a rider.

(C) Increased primarily due to an increase in worker’s compensation accruals, an increase in medical
expense and an increase in postretirement medical expense partially offset by a decrease in
pension expense.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $248.7 million in 2012
as compared to $216.1 million in 2011, an increase of $32.6 million, or
15.1 percent, primarily due to additional assets being placed in service
throughout 2011 and 2012, including the Crossroads wind farm, which
was fully in service in January 2012, the Sooner-Rose Hill and Sunnyside-
Hugo transmission projects, which were fully in service in April 2012,
and the smart grid project which was completed in late 2012.

Additional Information

Allowance for Equity Funds Used During Construction. Allowance
for equity funds used during construction was $6.2 million in 2012
as compared to $20.4 million in 2011, a decrease of $14.2 million, or
69.6 percent, primarily due to higher levels of construction costs for
the Crossroads wind farm in 2011.

Other Income. Other income was $8.0 million in both 2012 and 2011.
Factors affecting other income included an increased margin of $8.8 mil-
lion recognized in the guaranteed flat bill program in 2012 as a result of
milder weather offset by a decrease of $8.9 million related to the benefit
associated with the tax gross-up of allowance for equity funds used
during construction.

Other Expense. Other expense was $4.3 million in 2012 as compared to
$8.4 million in 2011, a decrease of $4.1 million, or 48.8 percent primarily
due to a decrease in charitable contributions.

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $124.6 million in 2012 as
compared to $111.6 million in 2011, an increase of $13.0 million, or
11.6 percent, primarily due to a $6.9 million increase in interest expense
related to lower allowance for borrowed funds used during construction
costs for the Crossroads wind farm in 2011 and a $5.5 million increase
in interest expense related to the issuance of long-term debt in May 2011.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense was $94.6 million in 2012
as compared to $117.9 million in 2011, a decrease of $23.3 million, or
19.8 percent. The decrease in income tax expense was primarily due
to an increase in the amount of Federal renewable energy tax credits
recognized associated with the Crossroads wind farm and lower
pre-tax income in 2012 as compared to 2011.

2011 Compared to 2010

OG&E’s operating income increased $58.6 million, or 14.2 percent,
in 2011 as compared to 2010 primarily due to a higher gross margin
partially offset by higher other operation and maintenance expense.

Gross Margin

Operating revenues were $2,211.5 million in 2011 as compared to
$2,109.9 million in 2010, an increase of $101.6 million, or 4.8 percent.
Cost of goods sold was $1,013.5 million in 2011 as compared to
$1,000.2 million in 2010, an increase of $13.3 million, or 1.3 percent.
Gross margin was $1,198.0 million in 2011 as compared to $1,109.7 mil-
lion in 2010, an increase of $88.3 million, or 8.0 percent. The below
factors contributed to the change in gross margin:
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(In millions) $ Change
Quantity variance (primarily weather) $27.4
Price variance® 23.9
Transmission revenue® 15.3
New customer growth 13.1

Arkansas rate increase 6.0
Non-residential demand and related revenues 5.0
Renewal of wholesale contract with customer 3.1

Other 0.2
Enogex transportation credit© (5.7)
Change in gross margin $88.3

(A) Increased due to revenues from the recovery of investments, including the Windspeed transmission
line, Oklahoma demand program, smart grid, system hardening, storm recovery, the Crossroads
wind farm and the OU Spirit wind farm, and higher revenues from industrial and oilfield customers.

(B) Increased primarily due to the inclusion of construction work in progress in transmission rates
for specific FERC approved projects that previously accrued allowance for funds used during
construction.

(C) Decreased due to a credit to OG&E’s customers in 2011 related to the settlement of OG&E’s
2009 fuel adjustment clause review.

Fuel expense was $775.0 million in 2011 as compared to $771.0 million
in 2010, an increase of $4.0 million, or 0.5 percent, primarily due to higher
generation primarily due to warmer weather in OG&E’s service territory.
OG&E’s electric generating capability is fairly evenly divided between
coal and natural gas and provides for flexibility to use either fuel to the
best economic advantage for OG&E and its customers. In 2011, OG&E’s
fuel mix was 58 percent coal, 39 percent natural gas and three percent
wind. In 2010, OG&E'’s fuel mix was 55 percent coal, 42 percent natural
gas and three percent wind. Purchased power costs were $230.7 million
in 2011 as compared to $226.5 million in 2010, an increase of $4.2 million,
or 1.9 percent, primarily due to an increase in short-term power purchases
partially offset by a decrease in purchases in the energy imbalance service
market and a decrease in cogeneration cost.

Operating Expenses

Other operation and maintenance expenses were $436.0 million in 2011
as compared to $418.1 million in 2010, an increase of $17.9 million, or
4.3 percent. The below factors contributed to the change in other opera-
tions and maintenance expense:

(In millions)
Allocations from holding company®

$ Change
$15.5

Salaries and wages® 121
Other marketing and sales expense

(primarily demand-side management initiatives)© 4.6
Uncollectible expense 3.1
Fleet transportation expense (primarily higher fuel costs in 2011) 1.6
Temporary labor expense 1.3
Administration and assessment fees (primarily SPP) 1.2
Vegetation management (primarily system hardening)© (2.9)
Other (3.8)
Injuries and damages (primarily higher reserves on claims in 2010) (5.0)
Employee benefits® 9.8)
Change in other operation and maintenance expense $17.9

(A) Increased primarily related to payroll and benefits expense, contract technical and construction
services and contract professional services.

(B) Increased primarily due to salary increases in 2011, increased incentive compensation expense
and increased overtime expense primarily due to storms in April and August 2011.

(©) Includes costs that are being recovered through a rider.

(D) Decreased primarily due to a decrease in postretirement benefits expense related to amend-
ments to the Company’s retiree medical plan adopted in January 2011 (see Note 14 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements) partially offset by a modification to OG&E’s pension tracker
and a decrease in worker’s compensation accruals in 2011.
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Additional Information

Allowance for Equity Funds Used During Construction. Allowance
for equity funds used during construction was $20.4 million in 2011
as compared to $11.4 million in 2010, an increase of $9.0 million, or
78.9 percent, primarily due to higher levels of construction costs for
the Crossroads wind farm in 2011.

Other Income. Other income was $8.0 million in 2011 as compared to
$6.5 million in 2010, an increase of $1.5 million, or 23.1 percent. The
increase in other income was primarily due to a benefit of $5.6 million
associated with the tax gross-up of allowance for equity funds used
during construction partially offset by increased losses of $4.2 million
recognized in the guaranteed flat bill program in 2011 from higher than
expected usage resulting from warmer weather.

Other Expense. Other expense was $8.4 million in 2011 as compared
to $1.6 million in 2010, an increase of $6.8 million, primarily due to an
increase in charitable contributions of $6.4 million as the holding
company made the charitable contributions in 2010.

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $111.6 million in 2011 as
compared to $103.4 million in 2010, an increase of $8.2 million, or 7.9 per-
cent, primarily due to a $14.0 million increase related to the issuance of
long-term debt in June 2010 and May 2011. This increase in interest
expense was partially offset by:

* A $4.9 million decrease in interest expense due to a higher allowance
for borrowed funds used during construction primarily due to construc-
tion costs for the Crossroads wind farm; and

¢ A $1.4 million decrease in interest expense in 2011 due to interest to
customers related to the fuel over recovery balance in 2010.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense was $117.9 million in 2011
as compared to $111.0 million in 2010, an increase of $6.9 million, or
6.2 percent. The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to
higher pre-tax income in 2011 as compared to 2010. This increase in
income tax expense was partially offset by:

® The one-time, non-cash charge in 2010 for the elimination of the tax
deduction for the Medicare Part D subsidy;

* The write-off of previously recognized Oklahoma investment tax credits
in 2010 primarily due to expenditures no longer eligible for the
Oklahoma investment tax credit related to the change in the tax method
of accounting for capitalization of repair expenditures; and

* Higher Oklahoma investment tax credits in 2011 as compared to 2010.



Enogex (Natural Gas Midstream Operations)

Natural Gas
Natural Gas Gathering
Transportation and
(In millions, year ended December 31) and Storage Processing  Eliminations Total
2012
Operating revenues $639.5 $1,222.6 $(253.5)  $1,608.6
Cost of goods sold 504.9 868.7 (253.5) 1,120.1
Gross margin on revenues 134.6 353.9 - 488.5
Other operation and maintenance 49.8 123.1 - 172.9
Depreciation and amortization 24.0 84.8 - 108.8
Impairment of assets - 0.4 - 0.4
Gain on insurance proceeds - (7.5) - (7.5)
Taxes other than income 15.7 12.6 - 28.3
Operating income $ 45.1 $ 1405 $ - $ 185.6
2011
Operating revenues $880.1 $1,167.1 $(260.1)  $1,787.1
Cost of goods sold 736.0 870.7 (260.1) 1,346.6
Gross margin on revenues 1441 296.4 - 440.5
Other operation and maintenance 50.7 111.8 - 162.5
Depreciation and amortization 22.0 55.6 - 77.6
Impairment of assets - 6.3 - 6.3
Gain on insurance proceeds - (8.0) - (3.0)
Taxes other than income 15.0 7.0 0.1 221
Operating income $ 56.4 $ 118.7 $ (0.1) $ 175.0
2010
Operating revenues $984.8 $1,005.6 $(282.7)  $1,707.7
Cost of goods sold 834.5 733.3 (282.7) 1,285.1
Gross margin on revenues 150.3 272.3 - 422.6
Other operation and maintenance 53.8 91.5 - 145.3
Depreciation and amortization 21.2 50.1 - 71.3
Impairment of assets 0.7 0.4 - 1.1
Taxes other than income 14.2 6.4 - 20.6
Operating income $ 60.4 $ 123.9 $ - $ 184.3

Operating Data

2012 Compared to 2011

Enogex’s operating income increased $10.6 million, or 6.1 percent, in

Year ended December 31 2012 2011 2010
Gathered volumes (TBtu/d)® 1.41 1.36 1.32
Incremental transportation volumes (TBtw/d)®  0.67 0.58 0.40

Total throughput volumes (TBtu/d) 2.08 1.94 1.72
Natural gas processed (TBtu/d) 0.98 0.79 0.82
Condensate sold (million gallons) 35 27 24
Average condensate sales price per gallon ~ $1.95 $2.09 $1.81
NGLs sold - keep-whole (miliion gallons) 162 167 187
NGLs sold - purchased for resale (miliion gallons) 667 487 470
NGLs sold — percent-of-liquids (million gallons) 24 25 26
NGLs sold - percent-of-proceeds (million gallons) 14 6 5

Total NGLs sold (million gallons) 867 685 688
Average NGLs sales price per gallon $0.89 $1.16 $0.96
Average natural gas sales price per MMBtu  $2.79 $4.08 $4.24

(A) Trillion British thermal units per day.

(B) Incremental transportation volumes consist of natural gas moved only on the transportation pipeline.

2012 as compared to 2011. This increase was primarily due to a higher
gross margin, a higher gain on insurance proceeds related to the reim-
bursement of costs incurred to replace the damaged train at the Cox City
natural gas processing plant discussed below and lower impairment of
assets partially offset by higher other operation and maintenance expense,
higher depreciation and amortization expense and higher taxes other
than income. The higher gross margin related to (i) increased gathering
rates and volumes associated with ongoing expansion projects and
increased volumes from gas gathering assets acquired in November
2011 and August 2012 and (i) increased inlet volumes resulting from
the return to full service of the Cox City natural gas processing plant

in September 2011, the South Canadian natural gas processing plant,
which was placed in service in December 2011, and the Wheeler natural

gas processing plant, which was placed in service in August 2012.

These increases in gross margin were partially offset by lower average

natural gas and NGLs prices. In 2012, imbalance volume changes and

realized margin on physical gas long/short positions decreased the

gross margin by $7.5 million, net of corresponding imbalance and fuel

tracker balances and the impact of the recovery of prior years’ under-

recovered fuel positions during 2012.
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Other operation and maintenance expense increased $10.4 million,
or 6.4 percent, primarily due to:

e Increased payroll and benefits costs due to increased headcount to
support business growth; and

¢ Increased rental expense on compression due to leases acquired in the
August 2012 gas gathering acquisition partially offset by the reduction
of rental payments on the Atoka plant, which was taken out of service
in August 2011.

These increases in other operation and maintenance expense

were partially offset by:

* Decreased costs for soil remediation projects; and

e Lower contract technical and professional services expense and
materials and supplies expense due to a decrease in non-capital
projects during 2012.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $31.2 million,

or 40.2 percent, primarily due to additional assets placed in service
throughout 2011 and 2012, including the gas gathering assets acquired
in November 2011 and August 2012.

Impairment of assets decreased $5.9 million, or 93.7 percent,
primarily due to an impairment of $5.0 million related to a management
decision in August 2011 to use third-party processing exclusively for
gathered volumes dedicated to the Atoka processing plant and, there-
fore, to take the processing plant out of service and return it to the
lessor in accordance with the rental agreement. The noncontrolling
interest portion of the impairment was $2.5 million which was included
in Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Income.

Gain on insurance proceeds increased $4.5 million related to the
reimbursement of costs incurred to replace the damaged train at the
Cox City natural gas processing plant.

Taxes other than income increased $6.2 million, or 28.1 percent,
primarily due to:

* Sales tax of $3.5 million related to the acquisition of certain gas gather-
ing assets in September 2012 as discussed in Note 3 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements; and

e Increased ad valorem taxes resulting from additional assets placed in
service throughout 2011 and 2012.

Natural Gas Transportation and Storage

The natural gas transportation and storage business contributed
$134.6 million of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin during 2012 as
compared to $144.1 million during 2011, a decrease of $9.5 million or
6.6 percent. The transportation operations contributed $110.1 million
of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin during 2012 as compared to
$118.8 million during 2011. The storage operations contributed $24.5 mil-
lion of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin during 2012 as compared
to $25.3 million during 2011. Gross margin decreased primarily due to:
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* Lower volumes and realized margin on sales of physical natural gas long
positions associated with transportation operations, which decreased the
gross margin by $6.4 million, net of imbalances and fuel tracker balances;

* Lower storage fees due to terminated contracts and renegotiated
contracts with less favorable terms, which decreased the gross margin
by $2.5 million;

* Lower gains on storage sales during 2012, which decreased the gross
margin by $1.9 million;

* Lower crosshaul revenues in 2012 resulting from the reversal of a previ-
ously recognized reserve of $3.0 million associated with the settlement
of Enogex’s 2009 FERC Section 311 rate case during 2011 partially
offset by increased utilization of $1.3 million during 2012, which
decreased the gross margin by $1.7 million; and

* Lower transportation fees due to unbundling of transportation and
gathering fees as contracts are renegotiated, which decreased the
gross margin by $1.4 million.

These decreases in the natural gas transportation and storage gross
margin were partially offset by:

 Higher realized margin on hedging activity associated with natural gas
storage inventory from storage, which increased the gross margin by
$4.4 million; and

¢ Higher transportation demand fees as a result of new contracts, which
increased the gross margin by $2.3 million.

Other operation and maintenance expense for the natural gas
transportation and storage business was $0.9 million, or 1.8 percent,
lower during 2012 as compared to 2011 primarily due to lower contract
technical and professional services expense and materials and supplies
expense due to a decrease in non-capital projects during 2012 partially
offset by increased payroll and benefits costs due to increased head-
count to support business growth.

Natural Gas Gathering and Processing

The natural gas gathering and processing business contributed
$353.9 million of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin during 2012 as
compared to $296.4 million during 2011, an increase of $57.5 million,
or 19.4 percent. The gathering operations contributed $145.9 million
of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin during 2012 as compared to
$125.2 million during 2011. The processing operations contributed
$208.0 million of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin during 2012 as
compared to $171.2 million during 2011.

During 2012, Enogex realized a higher gross margin in its natural gas
gathering and processing operations related to (i) increased gathering
rates and volumes associated with ongoing expansion projects, primarily
in the Granite Wash play, which has added richer natural gas to Enogex’s
system, and increased volumes from gas gathering assets acquired in



November 2011 and August 2012, (ji) increased inlet volumes resulting
from the return to full service of the Cox City natural gas processing
plant in September 2011, the South Canadian natural gas processing
plant, which was placed in service in December 2011, and the Wheeler
natural gas processing plant, which was placed in service in August
2012, and (jii) contract conversion of one of Enogex’s five largest cus-
tomer’s Oklahoma production volumes to fixed fee effective July 1,
2011. These increases in the gathering and processing gross margin
were partially offset by lower average natural gas and NGLs prices.

The above factors contributed to the increase in the natural gas
gathering and processing gross margin as follows:

* An increased gross margin on keep-whole processing of $28.4 million;

* An increase in gathering fees associated with ongoing expansion projects
and increased volumes from gas gathering assets, which increased the
gross margin by $16.8 million;

* An increase in condensate revenues associated with higher condensate
margins and volumes, which increased the gross margin by $14.2 mil-
lion; and

* An increased gross margin on fixed-fee contracts of $8.4 million.

These increases in the natural gas gathering and processing gross
margin were partially offset by:

* An increase in the utilization of third-party processing as a result of (i)
the Atoka processing plant being taken out of service in August 2011
and (i) increased activity from western Oklahoma and Texas Panhandle
expansion projects currently processed by third parties, which together
decreased the gross margin by $6.2 million;

* A decrease in percent-of-liquids and percent-of-proceeds margins of
$4.4 million; and

* Lower volumes and realized margin on sales of physical natural gas long
positions associated with gathering operations, which decreased the gross
margin by $1.1 million, net of imbalances and fuel tracker obligations.

Other operation and maintenance expense for the natural gas gathering
and processing business was $11.3 million, or 10.1 percent, higher during
2012 as compared to 2011 primarily due to:

¢ Increased payroll and benefits costs due to increased headcount to
support business growth; and

¢ Increased rental expense on compression due to leases acquired in the
August 2012 gas gathering acquisition partially offset by the reduction
of rental payments on the Atoka plant, which was taken out of service
in August 2011.

These increases in other operation and maintenance expense were
partially offset by decreased costs for soil remediation projects.

Enogex Consolidated Information

Other Income. Enogex’s consolidated other income was $1.0 million
during 2012 as compared to $3.9 million during 2011, a decrease of
$2.9 million, or 74.4 percent, due to the recognition in April 2011 of a
gain related to the sale of the Harrah processing plant and the associ-
ated Wellston and Davenport gathering assets.

Other Expense. Enogex’s consolidated other expense was $4.5 million
during 2012 as compared to $1.3 million during 2011, an increase of
$3.2 million due to higher non-cash losses on retirements of equipment
during 2012.

Interest Expense. Enogex’s consolidated interest expense was
$32.6 million during 2012 as compared to $22.9 million during 2011,
an increase of $9.7 million, or 42.4 percent, primarily due to:

* A decrease in capitalized interest during 2012 due to the completion
of several large capital projects as compared to 2011;

¢ Higher borrowings partially offset by repayments under Enogex’s
revolving credit agreement during 2012 as compared to 2011; and

* Borrowings under Enogex’s term loan during 2012 with no comparable
item during 2011.

Income Tax Expense. Enogex’s consolidated income tax expense was
$45.7 million during 2012 as compared to $51.7 million during 2011, a
decrease of $6.0 million, or 11.6 percent, primarily due to lower pre-tax
income (net of noncontrolling interest) during 2012 as compared to 2011.

Noncontrolling Interest. Enogex’s net income attributable to noncontrolling
interest was $29.7 million during 2012 as compared to $20.8 million during
2011, an increase of $8.9 million or 42.8 percent, due to higher net income,
the ArcLight group’s increased ownership in Enogex Holdings as a result
of the ArcLight group funding capital contributions at a disproportionate
percentage to OGE Holdings throughout 2011 and an impairment recorded
in August 2011 related to the Atoka processing plant.

Non-Recurring Items. During 2012, Enogex had an increase in net
income of $4.6 million due to a gain on insurance proceeds related to
the reimbursement of costs incurred to replace the damaged train at the
Cox City natural gas processing plant partially offset by a decrease in
net income of $2.1 million related to sales taxes on the assets acquired
in the gas gathering acquisitions in August 2012, as discussed in Note 3
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which Enogex does not
consider to be reflective of its ongoing performance. During 2011, Enogex
had an increase in net income of $2.3 million relating to the sale of the
Harrah processing plant and the associated Wellston and Davenport
gathering assets in April 2011, which Enogex does not consider to be
reflective of its ongoing performance.
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2011 Compared to 2010
Enogex’s operating income decreased $9.3 million, or 5.0 percent, in
2011 as compared to 2010. This decrease was primarily due to higher
other operation and maintenance expense, higher depreciation and
amortization expense, lower average natural gas prices and a slight
decrease in inlet processing volumes related to the 120 MMcf/d Cox
City natural gas processing plant being out of service due to the fire
from December 2010 until September 2011 and the sale of the Harrah
processing plant and the associated Wellston and Davenport gathering
assets in April 2011. These decreases were partially offset by higher
NGLs prices and increased gathered volumes associated with ongoing
expansion projects. In 2011, imbalance volume changes and realized
margin on physical gas long/short positions decreased the gross margin
by $14.8 million, net of corresponding imbalance and fuel tracker bal-
ances and the impact of the recovery of prior years’ under-recovered
fuel positions during 2010.

Other operation and maintenance expense increased $17.2 million,
or 11.8 percent, primarily due to:

e Increased payroll and benefits costs due to increased headcount
to support business growth;

e Increased contract technical and professional services expense
and materials and supplies expense due to an increase in non-capital
projects in 2011;

e Increased property insurance costs;

e Increased rental expense due to growing demand for compression
as Enogex’s business expands; and

e Increased costs due to soil remediation projects.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $6.3 million, or
8.8 percent, primarily due to additional assets placed in service through-
out 2010 and 2011.

Impairment of assets increased $5.2 million in 2011 primarily due
to an impairment of $5.0 million related to a management decision in
August 2011 to use third-party processing exclusively for gathered vol-
umes dedicated to the Atoka processing plant and, therefore, to take
the processing plant out of service and return it to the lessor in accor-
dance with the rental agreement. The noncontrolling interest portion
of the impairment was $2.5 million which was included in Net Income
Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests in the Company’s Consolidated
Statement of Income.

Gain on insurance proceeds was $3.0 million in 2011 with no
comparable item in 2010. The gain on insurance proceeds was for
reimbursement related to the damaged train at the Cox City natural
gas processing plant being replaced and the facility being returned
to full service in September 2011.
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Natural Gas Transportation and Storage

The natural gas transportation and storage business contributed
$144.1 million of Enogex’s gross margin in 2011 as compared to
$150.3 million in 2010, a decrease of $6.2 million, or 4.1 percent. The
transportation operations contributed $118.8 million of Enogex’s consoli-
dated gross margin in 2011 as compared to $116.9 million in 2010. The
storage operations contributed $25.3 million of Enogex’s consolidated
gross margin in 2011 as compared to $33.4 million in 2010. Gross
margin decreased primarily due to:

* Lower volumes and realized margin on sales of physical natural gas long
positions associated with transportation operations in 2011. Gross margin
in 2011 included the under recovery of fuel positions as compared to
2010 that included the recovery of prior year’s under-recovered fuel
positions, which reduced the gross margin in 2011 by $12.1 million, net
of imbalance and fuel tracker obligations;

* Lower of cost or market adjustments on the natural gas storage inventory
reflective of higher inventory volumes in 2011, which decreased the
gross margin by $4.4 million; and

* Lower realized margin on sale of natural gas inventory from storage
due to a reduction in the realized natural gas market spreads, which
decreased the gross margin by $2.8 million.

These decreases in the natural gas transportation and storage gross
margin were partially offset by:

¢ Higher capacity lease services under the Midcontinent Express Pipeline,
LLC (“MEP”) and Gulf Crossing capacity leases in 2011 as a result of
pipeline integrity work on an Enogex pipeline in 2010, which increased
the gross margin by $7.1 million;

¢ Higher firm 311 services due to new contracts with more favorable rates
in 2011, which increased the gross margin by $5.4 million;

* More favorable results from Enogex’s customer-focused risk management
services, natural gas marketing activities and trading activities and the
expiration of an unfavorable transportation contract, which increased
the gross margin by $2.2 million;

e Higher interruptible transportation fees due to new contracts with
more favorable rates in 2011, which increased the gross margin by
$1.6 million; and

e Higher crosshaul revenues in 2011 resulting from the reversal of a
previously recognized reserve of $3.0 million associated with the settle-
ment of Enogex’s 2009 FERC Section 311 rate case partially offset by
decreased utilization of $2.5 million in 2011 due to shippers utilizing
crosshaul service in 2010 as a result of pipeline integrity work, which
increased the 2011 gross margin by $0.5 million.

Other operation and maintenance expense for the natural gas
transportation and storage business was $3.1 million, or 5.8 percent,
lower in 2011 as compared to 2010 primarily due to decreased contract
technical and professional services expense and materials and supplies
expense due to a decrease in non-capital projects in 2011 partially
offset by an increase in payroll and benefits costs due to increased
headcount to support business growth.



Natural Gas Gathering and Processing

The natural gas gathering and processing business contributed

$296.4 million of Enogex’s consolidated gross margin in 2011 as compared
to $272.3 million in 2010, an increase of $24.1 million, or 8.9 percent.
The gathering operations contributed $125.2 million of Enogex’s consol-
idated gross margin in 2011 as compared to $117.6 million in 2010. The
processing operations contributed $171.2 million of Enogex’s consolidated
gross margin in 2011 as compared to $154.7 million in 2010.

In 2011, Enogex realized a higher gross margin in its natural gas
gathering and processing operations primarily as the result of continued
growth in gathered volumes from ongoing expansion projects, primarily in
the Granite Wash play and Cana/Woodford Shale play, which has added
richer natural gas to Enogex’s system and higher NGLs prices. Although
gathered volumes increased over 2010, gathering and processing volumes
grew at a slower pace during the fourth quarter of 2011 than Enogex had
anticipated. The increased gathering volumes were partially offset by the
contract conversion of one of Enogex’s five largest customer’s Oklahoma
production volumes to fixed fee effective July 1, 2011, a slight decrease
in inlet processing volumes related to the 120 MMcf/d Cox City natural
gas processing plant being out of service due to the fire from December
2010 until September 2011, the sale of the Harrah processing plant and
the associated Wellston and Davenport gathering assets in April 2011
and lower average natural gas prices.

The above factors contributed to the increase in the natural gas
gathering and processing gross margin as follows:

* An increase in condensate revenues associated with higher condensate
prices and volumes, which increased the gross margin by $11.1 million;

* An increase in gathering fees associated with ongoing expansion projects,
which increased the gross margin by $10.7 million;

* An increased gross margin on keep-whole processing of $4.8 million;

* An increased gross margin on percent-of-liquids and percent-of-proceeds
contracts of $2.6 million; and

* An increased gross margin on fixed-fee contract of $1.3 million.

These increases in the natural gas gathering and processing gross margin
were partially offset by:

* An increase in the utilization of third-party processing as a result of
the reduced capacity related to the Cox City processing plant being out
of service until September 2011 and the Atoka processing plant being
taken out of service in August 2011, which decreased the gross margin
by $3.4 million; and

* Lower volumes and realized margin on sales of physical natural gas
long positions associated with gathering operations, which decreased
the gross margin in 2011 by $2.7 million, net of imbalance and fuel
tracker obligations.

Other operation and maintenance expense for the natural gas gathering
and processing business was $20.3 million, or 22.2 percent, higher in
2011 as compared to 2010 primarily due to:

e Increased payroll and benefits costs due to increased headcount to
support business growth;

¢ Increased contract technical and professional services expense and
materials and supplies expense due to an increase in non-capital
projects in 2011;

¢ Increased rental expense due to growing demand for compression
as Enogex’s business expands; and

* Increased costs due to soil remediation projects.

Enogex Consolidated Information

Other Income. Enogex’s consolidated other income was $3.9 million in
2011 as compared to $0.2 million in 2010, an increase of $3.7 million,
primarily due to the recognition of a gain related to the sale of the Harrah
processing plant and the associated Wellston and Davenport gathering
assets in April 2011.

Interest Expense. Enogex’s consolidated interest expense was
$22.9 million in 2011 as compared to $30.4 million in 2010, a decrease
of $7.5 million, or 24.7 percent, primarily due to:

 An increase of $6.1 million in capitalized interest related to increased
construction activity in 2011; and

e A decrease of $1.0 million in interest expense in 2011 due to the
retirement of long-term debt in January 2010.

Income Tax Expense. Enogex’s consolidated income tax expense was
$51.7 million in 2011 as compared to $57.7 million in 2010, a decrease
of $6.0 million, or 10.4 percent, primarily due to:

® Lower pre-tax income in 2011 as compared to 2010; and
* The one-time, non-cash charge in 2010 for the elimination of the tax
deduction for the Medicare Part D subsidy.

Noncontrolling Interest. Enogex’s net income attributable to noncontrolling
interest was $20.8 million in 2011 as compared to $5.1 million in 2010, an
increase of $15.7 million, due to the equity sale of a membership interest
in Enogex Holdings to the ArcLight group partially offset by an impairment
recorded in August 2011 related to the Atoka processing plant.

Non-Recurring Item. During 2011, Enogex had an increase in net income
of $2.3 million relating to the sale of the Harrah processing plant and the
associated Wellston and Davenport gathering assets in April 2011, which
Enogex does not consider to be reflective of its ongoing performance.

Timing Item. Enogex’s net income in 2011 was $82.2 million, which
included a loss of $2.6 million resulting from recording Enogex’s natural
gas storage inventory at the lower of cost or market value. The offsetting
gains from the sale of withdrawals from inventory were realized during
the first quarter of 2012.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measure

Enogex has included in the Company’s Form 10-K the non-GAAP
financial measure EBITDA. EBITDA is a supplemental non-GAAP financial
measure used by external users of the Company’s financial statements
such as investors, commercial banks and others, to assess:

* The financial performance of Enogex’s assets without regard to
financing methods, capital structure or historical cost basis;

* Enogex’s operating performance and return on capital as compared
to other companies in the midstream energy sector, without regard to
financing or capital structure; and

* The viability of acquisitions and capital expenditure projects and the
overall rates of return on alternative investment opportunities.

Enogex provides a reconciliation of EBITDA to net income attributable
to Enogex Holdings, which Enogex considers to be its most directly
comparable financial measure as calculated and presented in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). The non-GAAP financial measure of EBITDA should not be
considered as an alternative to GAAP net income attributable to Enogex
Holdings. EBITDA is not a presentation made in accordance with GAAP
and has important limitations as an analytical tool. EBITDA should not
be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of Enogex’s
results as reported under GAAP. Because EBITDA excludes some, but
not all, items that affect net income and is defined differently by different
companies in Enogex’s industry, Enogex’s definition of EBITDA may not
be comparable to a similarly titled measure of other companies.

To compensate for the limitations of EBITDA as an analytical tool,
Enogex believes it is important to review the comparable GAAP measure
and understand the differences between the measures.

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Reconciliation of EBITDA to net income
attributable to Enogex Holdings
Net income attributable to
Enogex Holdings $147.8 $155.9 $476.1
Add:
Interest expense, net 32.6 22.9 30.3
Income tax expense® 0.2 0.2 (325.0)
Depreciation and
amortization expense®) 111.6 77.2 70.2
EBITDA $292.2 $256.2 $251.6
OGE Energy’s portion $236.6 $222.9 $248.8

(A) As of November 1, 2010, Enogex Holdings’ earnings are no longer subject to tax (other than
Texas state margin taxes) and are taxable at the individual partner level.

(B) Includes amortization of certain customer-based intangible assets associated with the acquisition
from Cordillera in November 2011, which is included in gross margin for financial reporting purposes.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement

OG&E Railcar Lease Agreement

OG&E has a noncancellable operating lease with purchase options,
covering 1,389 coal hopper railcars to transport coal from Wyoming to
OG&E'’s coal-fired generation units. Rental payments are charged to Fuel
Expense and are recovered through OG&E’s tariffs and fuel adjustment
clauses. On December 15, 2010, OG&E renewed the lease agreement
effective February 1, 2011. At the end of the new lease term, which is
February 1, 2016, OG&E has the option to either purchase the railcars at
a stipulated fair market value or renew the lease. If OG&E chooses not
to purchase the railcars or renew the lease agreement and the actual fair
value of the railcars is less than the stipulated fair market value, OG&E
would be responsible for the difference in those values up to a maxi-
mum of $22.8 million.

On January 11, 2012, OG&E executed a five-year lease agreement
for 135 railcars to replace railcars that have been taken out of service
or destroyed. OG&E is also required to maintain all of the railcars it has
under lease to transport coal from Wyoming and has entered into agree-
ments with Progress Rail Services and WATCO, both of which are
non-affiliated companies, to furnish this maintenance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working Capital

Working capital is defined as the amount by which current assets
exceed current liabilities. The Company’s working capital requirements
are driven generally by changes in accounts receivable, accounts payable,
commodity prices, credit extended to, and the timing of collections
from, customers, the level and timing of spending for maintenance and
expansion activity, inventory levels and fuel recoveries.

The balance of Accounts Receivable, Net and Accrued Unbilled
Revenues was $352.7 million and $381.8 million at December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively, a decrease of $29.1 million, or 7.6 percent, primarily
due to a decrease in billings to OG&E’s customers in 2012 due to milder
weather in 2012, a decrease at Enogex due to lower natural gas sales
volumes and prices and the timing of customer payments received par-
tially offset by higher transmission revenue and increased rates at OG&E.

The balance of Accounts Payable was $396.7 million and $388.0 million
at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, an increase of $8.7 mil-
lion, or 2.2 percent, primarily due to increased NGLs volumes at Enogex
partially offset by lower NGLs prices at Enogex, a decrease in accruals
and the timing of ad valorem payments.



Cash Flows

2012 vs. 2011 2011 vs. 2010
(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Net cash provided from operating activities $1,046.1 $ 833.9 $782.5 $212.2 254% $ 51.4 6.6%
Net cash used in investing activities (1,192.6) (1,395.8) (846.1) 203.2 (14.6)% (549.7) 65.0%
Net cash provided from financing activities 143.7 564.2 7.8 (420.5) (74.5)% 556.4 *

* Percentage is greater than 100 percent.

Operating Activities Financing Activities
The increase of $212.2 million, or 25.4 percent, in net cash provided from The decrease of $420.5 million, or 74.5 percent, in net cash provided from
operating activities in 2012 as compared to 2011 was primarily due to: financing activities in 2012 as compared to 2011 was primarily due to:

e Higher fuel recoveries at OG&E in 2012 as compared to 2011; e Lower contributions from the ArcLight group during 2012 as compared

* An increase in cash received in 2012 from transmission revenue and the to 2011;
recovery of investments including the Crossroads wind farm and smart ¢ Higher borrowings under Enogex’s revolving credit agreement during
grid partially offset by milder weather in 2012; and 2011; and

e An increase in gathered volumes and NGLs volumes at Enogex during * Repayments of Enogex’s line of credit during 2012.
2012 as compared to 2011 partially offset by lower natural gas and . . . . L

. . These decreases in net cash provided from financing activities were
NGLs prices in 2012 as compared to 2011. . . . . .
partially offset by an increase in short-term debt borrowings during 2012

The increase of $51.4 million, or 6.6 percent, in net cash provided from as compared to 2011.
operating activities in 2011 as compared to 2010 was primarily due to: The increase of $556.4 million in net cash provided from financing

. activities in 2011 as compared to 2010 was primarily due to:
e Lower fuel refunds at OG&E in 2011 as compared to 2010; and

e Cash received in 2011 from an increase in billings to OG&E’s customers * Repayment in 2010 of the remaining balance of Enogex LLC’s

due to warmer weather in OG&E’s service territory in 2011. $400 million 8.125% senior notes which matured on January 15, 2010;

. . . . . ® An increase in short-term debt borrowings in 2011 as compared to 2010;
These increases in net cash provided from operating activities was o o .
. . . . e Contributions from the noncontrolling interest partners in 2011;
partially offset by income tax refunds received in 2010 related to a carry . . . . .
e Higher borrowings under Enogex LLC’s revolving credit agreement in
2011; and

* A decrease in repayments of borrowings under Enogex LLC’s revolving

back of the 2008 tax loss resulting from a change in tax method of
accounting for capitalization of repair expenditures and accelerated

tax bonus depreciation. ) .
credit agreement in 2011 as compared to 2010.

Investing Activities . i . . o
- . . Future Capital Requirements and Financing Activities
The decrease of $203.2 million, or 14.6 percent, in net cash used in . ) »
. . . o The Company’s primary needs for capital are related to acquiring or
investing activities in 2012 as compared to 2011 was primarily due to . o . . - o
. . . constructing new facilities and replacing or expanding existing facilities
lower levels of capital expenditures in 2012 related to the Crossroads . . .
. . . at OG&E and Enogex. Other working capital requirements are expected
wind farm at OG&E and lower levels of capital expenditures related to . . . . o
. . . . to be primarily related to maturing debt, operating lease obligations,
gathering and processing expansion projects at Enogex. ) . )
. . . hedging activities, fuel clause under and over recoveries and other gen-
The increase of $549.7 million, or 65.0 percent, in net cash used .
L . . o eral corporate purposes. The Company generally meets its cash needs
in investing activities in 2011 as compared to 2010 primarily related to o .
. . . . . . through a combination of cash generated from operations, short-term
higher levels of capital expenditures in 2011 related to various transmis- . o . .
) . . . borrowings (through a combination of bank borrowings and commercial
sion projects and the Crossroads wind farm at OG&E and gathering . .
) . . paper) and permanent financings.
and processing expansion projects at Enogex.
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Capital Expenditures

The Company’s consolidated estimates of capital expenditures for the
years 2013 through 2017 are shown in the following table. These capital
expenditures represent the base maintenance capital expenditures (i.e.,
capital expenditures to maintain and operate the Company’s businesses)
plus capital expenditures for known and committed projects.

(In millions) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
OG&E base transmission $ 65 $ 50 $ 50 $ 50 $ 50
OG&E base distribution 175 175 175 175 175
OG&E base generation 80 75 75 75 75
OG&E other 15 15 15 15 15

Total OG&E base transmission, distribution, generation and other 335 315 315 315 315

OG&E known and committed projects:
Transmission projects:

Balanced Portfolio 3E Projects® 205 25 - - -
SPP Priority Projects ® 165 110 - - -
SPP Integrated Transmission Projects© 5 5 - 40 40
Total transmission projects 375 140 - 40 40
Other projects:
Smart Grid Program 25 25 10 10 -
System Hardening 15 - - - -
Environmental - low nitrogen oxide (“NOX”) burners 30 20 25 20 -
Total other projects 70 45 35 30 -
Total OG&E known and committed projects 445 185 35 70 40
Total OG&E® 780 500 350 385 355
Enogex LLC base maintenance 50 55 55 55 55
Enogex LLC known and committed projects:
Western Oklahoma/Texas Panhandle gathering expansion 380 180 140 80 65
Other gathering expansion 25 15 10 10 10
Total Enogex LLC known and committed projects 405 195 150 90 75
Total Enogex LLC® 455 250 205 145 130
OGE Energy 10 10 10 10 10
Total capital expenditures $1,245 $760 $565 $540 $495

(M) Balanced Portfolio 3E includes three projects to be built by OG&E and includes: (i) construction of 135 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s Seminole substation in a northeastern direction to OG&E’s
Muskogee substation at an estimated cost of $175 million for OG&E, which is expected to be in service by late 2013, (i) construction of 96 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s Woodward District
Extra High Voltage substation in a southwestern direction to the Oklahoma/Texas Stateline to a companion transmission line to be built by Southwestern Public Service to its Tuco substation at an estimated
cost of $115 million for OG&E, which is expected to be in service by mid-2014 and (iii) construction of 39 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s Sooner substation in an eastern direction to the Grand
River Dam Authority Cleveland substation at an estimated cost of $45 million for OG&E, which was placed in service in February 2013.

(B) The Priority Projects consist of several transmission projects, two of which have been assigned to OG&E. The 345 kilovolt projects include: (i) construction of 99 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s
Woodward District Extra High Voltage substation to a companion transmission line to be built by Southwestern Public Service to its Hitchland substation in the Texas Panhandle at an estimated cost of
$185 million for OG&E, which is expected to be in service by mid-2014 and (i) construction of 77 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s Woodward District Extra High Voltage substation to a companion
transmission line at the Kansas border to be built by either Mid-Kansas Electric Company or another company assigned by Mid-Kansas Electric Company at an estimated cost of $150 million to OG&E,
which is expected to be in service by late 2014. OG&E began construction on the Hitchland project in November 2012 and expects to begin construction on the Kansas project in June 2013.

(C) On January 31, 2012, the SPP approved the Integrated Transmission Plan Near Term and Integrated Transmission Plan 10-year projects. These plans include two projects to be built by OG&E: (i) construction
of 47 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s Gracemont substation in a northwestern direction to a companion transmission line to be built by American Electric Power to its Elk City substation at an
estimated cost of $75 million for OG&E, which is expected to be in service by early 2018, and (i) construction of 126 miles of transmission line from OG&E’s Woodward District Extra High Voltage substation in
a southeastern direction to OG&E’s Cimarron substation and construction of a new substation on this transmission line, the Mathewson substation, at an estimated cost of $210 million for OG&E, which
is expected to be in service by early 2021. On April 9, 2012, OG&E received a notice to construct these projects from the SPP. On June 26, 2012, OG&E responded to the SPP that OG&E will construct
the projects discussed above and is moving forward with more detailed cost estimates that must be reviewed and approved by the SPP. OG&E and American Electric Power are currently in discussions
regarding how much of the 94 mile Elk City to Gracemont transmission line will be built by OG&E and American Electric Power. American Electric Power has argued for a larger portion of such transmis-
sion line than the traditional 50 percent split. The capital expenditures related to these projects are presented in the summary of capital expenditures for known and committed projects above.

(D) The capital expenditures above exclude any environmental expenditures associated with:

* Pollution control equipment related to controlling sulfur dioxide (“SO2”) emissions under the regional haze requirements due to the uncertainty regarding the approach and timing for such pollution
control equipment. The SO2 emissions standards in the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s (“EPA”) Federal implementation plan (“FIP”) could require the installation of dry flue gas desulfurization
units with spray dryer absorber (“Dry Scrubbers”) or fuel switching. OG&E estimates that installing such Dry Scrubbers could cost more than $1.0 billion. The FIP is being challenged by OG&E and the
state of Oklahoma. On June 22, 2012, OG&E was granted a stay of the FIP by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, which delays the timing of required implementation of the SO2 emissions
standards in the rule. The merits of the appeal have been fully briefed, and oral argument is scheduled to occur on March 6, 2013. Neither the outcome of the challenge to the FIP nor the timing of any
required capital expenditures can be predicted with any certainty at this time, but such capital expenditures could be significant.

* Installation of control equipment for compliance with Mercury and Air Toxics Standards (“MIATS”) by a deadline of April 16, 2015, with the possibility of a one-year extension. OG&E is currently planning
to utilize activated carbon injection and low levels of dry sorbent injection at each of its five coal-fired units. Due to various uncertainties about the final design, the potential use of this technology
relating to regional haze measures and the specifications for the control equipment, the resulting cost estimates currently range from $34 million to $72 million per unit.

OG&E is currently evaluating options to comply with environmental requirements. For further information, see “Environmental Laws and Regulations” below.

(E) These capital expenditures represent 100 percent of Enogex LLC’s capital expenditures, of which a portion may be funded by the ArcLight group. Until the ArcLight group owns 50 percent of the equity
of Enogex Holdings, the ArcLight group will fund capital contributions in an amount higher than its proportionate interest. If necessary, the ArcLight group will fund between 50 percent and 90 percent
of required capital contributions during that period. The remainder of the required capital contributions (i.e., between 10 percent and 50 percent) will be funded by OGE Holdings.

Additional capital expenditures beyond those identified in the table above, including additional incremental growth opportunities in electric transmission assets and at Enogex LLC, will be evaluated based
upon their impact upon achieving the Company’s financial objectives. The capital expenditure projections related to Enogex LLC in the table above reflect base market conditions at February 27, 2013 and
do not reflect the potential opportunity for a set of growth projects that could materialize. Also, if drilling activity declines in the future, this could reduce Enogex’s capital expenditures in the table above.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations
at December 31, 2012. See the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Capitalization and Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.

(In millions) 2013 2014-2015 2016-2017 After 2017 Total
Maturities of long-term debt® $ 02 $ 550.4 $2354 $2,0701  $2,856.1
Operating lease obligations
OG&E railcars 3.2 5.5 27.3 - 36.0
OG&E wind farm land leases 2.0 4.2 4.5 51.2 61.9
OG&E Energy noncancellable operating lease 0.3 1.6 1.6 0.7 4.2
Enogex noncancellable operating leases 5.2 7.2 41 - 16.5
Total operating lease obligations 10.7 18.5 37.5 51.9 118.6
Other purchase obligations and commitments
OG&E cogeneration capacity and fixed operation and maintenance payments 87.9 170.3 162.5 315.3 736.0
OG&E expected cogeneration energy payments 58.6 134.3 168.3 468.7 829.9
OG&E minimum fuel purchase commitments 405.0 519.8 - - 924.8
OG&E expected wind purchase commitments 57.5 116.9 120.6 838.0 1,133.0
OG&E long-term service agreements 8.0 34.5 12.6 53.0 108.1
EER commitments 11.9 15.5 0.8 - 28.2
Total other purchase obligations and commitments 628.9 991.3 464.8 1,675.0 3,760.0
Total contractual obligations 639.8 1,560.2 737.7 3,797.0 6,734.7
Amounts recoverable through fuel adjustment clause® (524.3) (776.5) (316.2) (1,306.7) (2,923.7)
Total contractual obligations, net $115.5 $ 783.7 $4215 $2,490.3 $3,811.0

(A) Maturities of the Company'’s long-term debt during the next five years consist of $0.2 million, $300.2 million, $250.2 million, $110.2 million and $125.2 million in years 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and

2017, respectively.

(B) Includes expected recoveries of costs incurred for OG&E’s railcar operating lease obligations, OG&E’s expected cogeneration energy payments, OG&E’s minimum fuel purchase commitments and

OG&E's expected wind purchase commitments.

OG&E also has 440 megawatts (“MW?”) of qualified cogeneration
facilities (“QF”) contracts to meet its current and future expected cus-
tomer needs. OG&E will continue reviewing all of the supply alternatives
to these QF contracts that minimize the total cost of generation to its
customers, including exercising its options (if applicable) to extend
these QF contracts at pre-determined rates.

Variances in the actual cost of fuel used in electric generation
(which includes the operating lease obligations for OG&E’s railcar
leases shown above) and certain purchased power costs, as compared
to the fuel component included in the cost-of-service for ratemaking, are
passed through to OG&E’s customers through fuel adjustment clauses.
Accordingly, while the cost of fuel related to operating leases and the
vast majority of minimum fuel purchase commitments of OG&E noted
above may increase capital requirements, such costs are recoverable
through fuel adjustment clauses and have little, if any, impact on net
capital requirements and future contractual obligations. The fuel adjust-
ment clauses are subject to periodic review by the OCC, the APSC
and the FERC.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

At December 31, 2012, 42.3 percent of the qualified defined benefit
retirement plan (“Pension Plan”) investments were in listed common
stocks with the balance primarily invested in U.S Government securities,
bonds, debentures and notes, a commingled fund and a common col-
lective trust as presented in Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. In 2012, asset returns on the Pension Plan were 10.6 per-
cent due to the gains in fixed income and equity investments. During the
same time, corporate bond yields, which are used in determining the
discount rate for future pension obligations, have continued to decline.
During 2012 and 2011, OGE Energy made contributions to its Pension
Plan of $35 million and $50 million, respectively, to help ensure that the
Pension Plan maintains an adequate funded status. The level of funding
is dependent on returns on plan assets and future discount rates. During
2013, OGE Energy expects to contribute up to $35 million to its Pension
Plan. OGE Energy could be required to make additional contributions if
the value of its pension trust and postretirement benefit plan trust assets
are adversely impacted by a major market disruption in the future.

The following table presents the status of the Company’s Pension
Plan, the supplemental retirement plan to the Pension Plan (“Restoration
of Retirement Income Plan”) and the postretirement benefit plans at
December 31, 2012 and 2011. These amounts have been recorded
in Accrued Benefit Obligations with the offset in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss (except OG&E’s portion which is recorded as
a regulatory asset as discussed in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements) in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The amounts in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss and those
recorded as a regulatory asset represent a net periodic benefit cost to be
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income in future periods.

Restoration of Postretirement

Pension Plan Retirement Income Plan Benefit Plans
(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Benefit obligations $(747.1) $(697.7) $(14.5) $(13.3) $(301.0) $(280.6)
Fair value of plan assets 626.0 589.8 - - 59.6 61.0
Funded status at end of year $(121.1) $(107.9) $(14.5) $(13.3) $(241.4) $(219.6)

Common Stock Dividends

The Company’s dividend policy is reviewed by the Board of Directors
at least annually and is based on numerous factors, including manage-
ment’s estimation of the long-term earnings power of its businesses.
The Company’s financial objective includes increasing the dividend to
meet the Company’s dividend payout objectives. The Company’s target
payout ratio is to pay out dividends no more than 60 percent of its nor-
malized earnings on an annual basis. The target payout ratio has been
determined after consideration of numerous factors, including the largely
retail composition of the Company’s shareholder base, the Company’s
financial position, the Company’s growth targets, the composition of the
Company’s assets and investment opportunities. At the Company’s
November 2012 Board meeting, management, after considering esti-
mates of future earnings and numerous other factors, recommended

to the Board of Directors an increase in the current quarterly dividend
rate to $0.4175 per share from $0.3925 per share effective with the
Company’s first quarter 2013 dividend.

Security Ratings
Standard
Moody’s & Poor’s
Investor Ratings Fitch
Services Services Ratings
OG&E senior notes A2 BBB+ A+
Enogex LLC notes Baa3 BBB- BBB
OGE Energy senior notes Baa1 BBB A-
OGE Energy commercial paper P2 A2 F2

Access to reasonably priced capital is dependent in part on credit and
security ratings. Generally, lower ratings lead to higher financing costs.
Pricing grids associated with the Company’s credit facilities could cause
annual fees and borrowing rates to increase if an adverse rating impact
occurs. The impact of any future downgrade could include an increase
in the costs of the Company’s short-term borrowings, but a reduction
in the Company’s credit ratings would not result in any defaults or accel-
erations. Any future downgrade could also lead to higher long-term
borrowing costs and, if below investment grade, would require the
Company to post collateral or letters of credit. In the event Moody’s
Investors Services or Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services were to lower
the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating to a below investment
grade rating, at December 31, 2012, the Company would have been
required to post $0.2 million of cash collateral to satisfy its obligation
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under its financial and physical contracts relating to derivative instruments
that are in a net liability position at December 31, 2012. In addition, the
Company could be required to provide additional credit assurances in
future dealings with third parties, which could include letters of credit

or cash collateral.

On June 20, 2012, Fitch Ratings downgraded OGE Energy Corp.’s
short-term debt rating from F1 to F2 and OGE Energy Corp.’s long-term
debt issuer default rating from A to A-. All other ratings (by Fitch Ratings)
at OG&E and Enogex remained unchanged and with a stable outlook.
Fitch Ratings indicated that the downgrade at OGE Energy Corp. was
primarily due to concerns related to the uncertainties associated with
the environmental mandates at OG&E as well as Enogex’s sensitivity to
commodity prices and growth strategy with the ArcLight group.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities.
Such rating may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the
credit rating agency and each rating should be evaluated independently
of any other rating.

Future financing requirements may be dependent, to varying degrees,
upon numerous factors such as general economic conditions, abnormal
weather, load growth, commodity prices, levels of drilling activity, acqui-
sitions of other businesses and/or development of projects, actions by
rating agencies, inflation, changes in environmental laws or regulations,
rate increases or decreases allowed by regulatory agencies, new legislation
and market entry of competing electric power generators.

2012 Capital Requirements, Sources of Financing,

Purchase of Treasury Stock and Financing Activities

Total capital requirements, consisting of capital expenditures and
maturities of long-term debt, were $1,351.8 million and contractual
obligations, net of recoveries through fuel adjustment clauses, were
$112.8 million resulting in total net capital requirements and contractual
obligations of $1,464.6 million in 2012, of which $12.9 million was to
comply with environmental regulations. This compares to net capital
requirements of $1,446.2 million and net contractual obligations of
$111.1 million totaling $1,557.3 million in 2011, of which $6.9 million
was to comply with environmental regulations.

In 2012, the Company’s sources of capital were cash generated from
operations, proceeds from the issuance of short-term debt, proceeds
from Enogex’s term loan agreement, proceeds from the sales of com-
mon stock to the public through the Company’s Automatic Dividend



Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan, funding for growth opportunities
at Enogex through the ArcLight group and quarterly distributions from
Enogex Holdings. Changes in working capital reflect the seasonal nature
of the Company’s business, the revenue lag between billing and collec-
tion from customers and fuel inventories. See “Working Capital” for a
discussion of significant changes in net working capital requirements
as it pertains to operating cash flow and liquidity.

Purchase of Treasury Stock

In November 2012, the Company purchased 60,000 shares of its common
stock at an average cost of $55.41 per share on the open market. These
shares will be used to satisfy Enogex’s portion of the Company’s obliga-
tion to deliver shares of common stock related to long-term incentive
payouts of earned performance units in 2013. The Company expects to
purchase shares in the future to satisfy a portion of its obligation under
its incentive plan.

Enogex Term Loan Agreement

On August 2, 2012, Enogex entered into a $250 million, three-year term
loan agreement with a maturity date of August 2, 2015. The loan was
used to fund capital expenditures and for working capital purposes.

Potential Collateral Requirements

Derivative instruments are utilized in managing the Company’s commodity
price exposures and in Enogex’s asset management and hedging activities
executed on behalf of the Company. Agreements governing the derivative
instruments may require the Company to provide collateral in the form of
cash or a letter of credit in the event mark-to-market exposures exceed
contractual thresholds or the Company’s credit ratings are lowered.
Future collateral requirements are uncertain, and are subject to terms

of the specific agreements and to fluctuations in natural gas and NGLs
market prices.

On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank
Act. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act provides for a new regula-
tory regime for derivatives, including mandatory clearing of certain swaps
and margin requirements. The Dodd-Frank Act contains provisions that
should exempt certain derivatives end-users such as the Company from
much of the clearing requirements. The regulations require that the deci-
sion on whether to use the end-user exception from mandatory clearing
for derivative transactions be reviewed and approved by an “appropriate
committee” of the Board of Directors. The scope of the margin require-
ments and their potential direct impact on the Company remain unclear
because final rules have not been issued. Further, even if the Company
qualifies for the end-user exception to clearing and margin requirements
are not imposed on end-users, its derivative counterparties may be
subject to new capital, margin and business conduct requirements as a
result of the new regulations, which may increase the Company’s trans-
action costs or make it more difficult to enter into derivative transactions

on favorable terms. The Company’s inability to enter into derivative
transactions on favorable terms, or at all, could increase operating
expenses and put the Company at increased exposure to risks of adverse
changes in commodities prices. The impact of the provisions of the
Dodd-Frank Act on the Company cannot be fully determined at this time
due to uncertainty over forthcoming regulations and potential changes
to the derivatives markets arising from new regulatory requirements.

Future Sources of Financing

Management expects that cash generated from operations, proceeds
from the issuance of long and short-term debt and proceeds from the
sales of common stock to the public through the Company’s Automatic
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan or other offerings will
be adequate over the next three years to meet anticipated cash needs
and to fund future growth opportunities. Additionally, the Company will
have an additional source of funding for growth opportunities at Enogex
through the ArcLight group and from quarterly distributions from Enogex
Holdings. The Company utilizes short-term borrowings (through a com-
bination of bank borrowings and commercial paper) to satisfy temporary
working capital needs and as an interim source of financing capital
expenditures until permanent financing is arranged.

Short-Term Debt and Credit Facilities

Short-term borrowings generally are used to meet working capital
requirements. The Company borrows on a short-term basis, as neces-
sary, by the issuance of commercial paper and by borrowings under its
revolving credit agreements. The Company has revolving credit facilities
totaling in the aggregate $1,550.0 million. These bank facilities can also
be used as letter of credit facilities. The short-term debt balance was
$430.9 million and $277.1 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The weighted-average interest rate on short-term debt at
December 31, 2012 was 0.43 percent. The average balance of short-
term debt in 2012 was $451.0 million at a weighted-average interest
rate of 0.45 percent. The maximum month-end balance of short-term
debt in 2012 was $608.2 million. At December 31, 2012, Enogex had
no outstanding borrowings under its revolving credit agreement as
compared to $150.0 million at December 31, 2011. As Enogex LLC’s
credit agreement matures on December 13, 2016, along with its intent
in utilizing its credit agreement, borrowings thereunder are classified

as long-term debt in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. At
December 31, 2012, the Company had $1,116.9 million of net available
liquidity under its revolving credit agreements. OG&E has the necessary
regulatory approvals to incur up to $800 million in short-term borrowings
at any one time for a two-year period beginning January 1, 2013 and
ending December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2012, the Company had
$1.8 million in cash and cash equivalents. See Note 13 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company’s
short-term debt activity.
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Expected Issuance of Long-Term Debt

OG&E expects to issue up to $250 million of long-term debt in the first
half of 2013, depending on market conditions, to fund capital expendi-
tures, repay short-term borrowings and for general corporate purposes.

Common Stock

The Company expects to issue between $12 million and $15 million

of common stock in its Automatic Dividend Reinvestment and Stock
Purchase Plan in 2013. See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of the Company’s common stock activity.

Minimum Quarterly Distributions by Enogex Holdings

Pursuant to the Enogex Holdings LLC Agreement, Enogex Holdings
will make minimum quarterly distributions equal to the amount of cash
required to cover OGE Energy’s anticipated tax liabilities plus $12.5 mil-
lion, to be distributed in proportion to each member’s percentage
ownership interest.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements contain information that is pertinent to
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis. In preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date
of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Changes to these
assumptions and estimates could have a material effect on the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements. However, the Company believes it
has taken reasonable, but conservative, positions where assumptions
and estimates are used in order to minimize the negative financial
impact to the Company that could result if actual results vary from the
assumptions and estimates. In management’s opinion, the areas of
the Company where the most significant judgment is exercised for
all Company segments includes the determination of Pension Plan
assumptions, impairment estimates of long-lived assets (including
intangible assets), income taxes, contingency reserves, asset retirement
obligations, fair value and cash flow hedges and the allowance for
uncollectible accounts receivable. For the electric utility segment, the
most significant judgment is also exercised in the valuation of regulatory
assets and liabilities and unbilled revenues. For the natural gas
transportation and storage segment and the natural gas gathering and
processing segment, the most significant judgment is also exercised in
the valuation of operating revenues, natural gas purchases, purchase
and sale contracts, assets and depreciable lives of property, plant and
equipment, amortization methodologies related to intangible assets
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and impairment assessments of goodwill. The selection, application
and disclosure of the following critical accounting estimates have been
discussed with the Company’s Audit Committee. The Company dis-
cusses its significant accounting policies, including those that do not
require management to make difficult, subjective, or complex judgments
or estimates, in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated (Including all Company segments)

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company has a Pension Plan that covers a significant amount

of the Company’s employees hired before December 1, 2009. Also,
effective December 1, 2009, the Company’s Pension Plan is no longer
being offered to employees hired on or after December 1, 2009. The
Company also has defined benefit postretirement plans that cover a
significant amount of its employees. Pension and other postretirement
plan expenses and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and
are affected by the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected
return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and the level of funding.
Actual changes in the fair market value of plan assets and differences
between the actual return on plan assets and the expected return on
plan assets could have a material effect on the amount of pension
expense ultimately recognized. The pension plan rate assumptions are
shown in Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The
assumed return on plan assets is based on management’s expectation
of the long-term return on the plan assets portfolio. The discount rate
used to compute the present value of plan liabilities is based generally
on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the
average period over which benefits will be paid. The level of funding is
dependent on returns on plan assets and future discount rates. Higher
returns on plan assets and an increase in discount rates will reduce
funding requirements to the Pension Plan. The following table indicates
the sensitivity of the Pension Plan funded status to these variables.

Impact on

Change Funded Status

Actual plan asset returns +/- 1 percent +/- $6.3 million
Discount rate +/- 0.25 percent +/- $16.7 million
Contributions +/- $10 million +/- $10 million

Assessing Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

(Including Intangible Assets) and Goodwiill

The Company assesses its long-lived assets, including intangible assets
with finite useful lives, for impairment when there is evidence that events
or changes in circumstances require an analysis of the recoverability of
an asset’s carrying amount. Estimates of future cash flows used to test
the recoverability of long-lived assets and intangible assets shall include
only the future cash flows (cash inflows less associated cash outflows)
that are directly associated with and that are expected to arise as a



direct result of the use and eventual disposition of the asset. The fair
value of these assets is based on third-party evaluations, prices for simi-
lar assets, historical data and projected cash flows. An impairment loss
is recognized when the sum of the expected future net cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the asset. The amount of any recognized
impairment is based on the estimated fair value of the asset subject to
impairment compared to the carrying amount of such asset. In 2011, the
Company recorded a pre-tax impairment loss of $5.0 million, of which
$2.5 million was the noncontrolling interest portion (see Note 5 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements), related to the Atoka processing
plant. The Company recorded no other material impairments in 2012,
2011 or 2010.

As a result of the gas gathering acquisitions in November 2011,
Enogex recorded goodwill of $39.4 million. Enogex assesses its goodwill
for impairment at least annually as of October 1 by comparing the fair
value of the reporting unit with its book value, including goodwill. Enogex
utilizes the income approach (generally accepted valuation approach) to
estimate the fair value of the reporting unit, also giving consideration to
alternative methods such as the market and cost approaches. Under the
income approach, anticipated cash flows over a period of years plus a
terminal value are discounted to present value using appropriate discount
rates. Enogex performs its goodwill impairment testing at the natural gas
gathering and processing segment reporting unit level. Enogex recorded
no impairments of goodwill in 2012.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for
income taxes. Under this method, a deferred tax asset or liability is
recognized for the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of
assets and liabilities as well as tax credit carry forwards and net operat-
ing loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in the period of the change.

The application of income tax law is complex. Laws and regulations
in this area are voluminous and often ambiguous. Interpretations and
guidance surrounding income tax laws and regulations change over time.
Accordingly, it is necessary to make judgments regarding income tax
exposure. As a result, changes in these judgments can materially affect
amounts the Company recognized in its consolidated financial statements.
Tax positions taken by the Company on its income tax returns that are
recognized in the financial statements must satisfy a more likely than not
recognition threshold, assuming that the position will be examined by
taxing authorities with full knowledge of all relevant information.

Commitments and Contingencies
In the normal course of business, the Company is confronted with
issues or events that may result in a contingent liability. These generally
relate to lawsuits or claims made by third parties, including governmental
agencies. When appropriate, management consults with legal counsel
and other appropriate experts to assess the claim. If, in management’s
opinion, the Company has incurred a probable loss as set forth by GAAP,
an estimate is made of the loss and the appropriate accounting entries
are reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
Except as disclosed otherwise in this Form 10-K, the Company
believes that any reasonably possible losses in excess of accrued
amounts arising out of pending or threatened lawsuits or claims would
not be quantitatively material to its financial statements and would not
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. See Notes 16 and 17 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 3 of Part | in the
Company’s Form 10-K for a discussion of the Company’s commitments
and contingencies.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company has previously recorded asset retirement obligations
that are being amortized over their respective lives ranging from three
months to 74 years. The Company also has certain asset retirement
obligations primarily related to Enogex’s processing plants and com-
pression sites that have not been recorded because the Company
cannot determine when these obligations will be incurred. The inputs
used in the valuation of asset retirement obligations include the
assumed life of the asset placed into service, the average inflation rate,
market risk premium, the credit-adjusted risk free interest rate and the
timing of incurring costs related to the retirement of the asset.

Hedging Policies
The Company designates as cash flow hedges derivatives used to
manage commodity price risk exposure for Enogex’s NGLs volumes
and corresponding keep-whole natural gas resulting from its natural
gas processing contracts (processing hedges) and natural gas positions
resulting from its natural gas gathering and processing operations and
natural gas transportation and storage operations (operational gas
hedges). The Company also designates as cash flow hedges certain
derivatives used to manage natural gas commodity exposure for certain
natural gas storage inventory positions. Hedges are evaluated prior to
execution with respect to the impact on the volatility of forecasted earn-
ings and are evaluated at least quarterly after execution for the impact
on earnings. Enogex’s cash flow hedges at December 31, 2012 mature
by the end of the first quarter of 2013.

From time to time, OG&E and Enogex may engage in cash flow and
fair value hedge transactions to modify interest rate exposure and not to
modify the overall leverage of the debt portfolio.
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Electric Utility Segment

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

OG&E, as a regulated utility, is subject to accounting principles for certain
types of rate-regulated activities, which provide that certain actual or
anticipated costs that would otherwise be charged to expense can be
deferred as regulatory assets, based on the expected recovery from
customers in future rates. Likewise, certain actual or anticipated credits
that would otherwise reduce expense can be deferred as regulatory
liabilities, based on the expected flowback to customers in future rates.
Management’s expected recovery of deferred costs and flowback of
deferred credits generally results from specific decisions by regulators
granting such ratemaking treatment.

OG&E records certain actual or anticipated costs and obligations
as regulatory assets or liabilities if it is probable, based on regulatory
orders or other available evidence, that the cost or obligation will be
included in amounts allowable for recovery or refund in future rates. The
benefit obligations regulatory asset is comprised of expenses recorded
which are probable of future recovery and that have not yet been recog-
nized as components of net periodic benefit cost, including net loss,
prior service cost and net transition obligation.

Unbilled Revenues

OG&E reads its customers’ meters and sends bills to its customers
throughout each month. As a result, there is a significant amount of
customers’ electricity consumption that has not been billed at the end of
each month. Unbilled revenue is presented in Accrued Unbilled Revenues
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Operating Revenues on the
Consolidated Statements of Income based on estimates of usage and
prices during the period. At December 31, 2012, if the estimated usage
or price used in the unbilled revenue calculation were to increase or
decrease by one percent, this would cause a change in the unbilled
revenues recognized of $0.3 million. At December 31, 2012 and 2011,
Accrued Unbilled Revenues were $57.4 million and $59.3 million, respec-
tively. The estimates that management uses in this calculation could
vary from the actual amounts to be paid by customers.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable

Customer balances are generally written off if not collected within six
months after the final billing date. The allowance for uncollectible accounts
receivable for OG&E is calculated by multiplying the last six months of
electric revenue by the provision rate. The provision rate is based on a
12-month historical average of actual balances written off. To the extent
the historical collection rates are not representative of future collections,
there could be an effect on the amount of uncollectible expense recog-
nized. Also, a portion of the uncollectible provision related to fuel is
being recovered through the fuel adjustment clause. At December 31,
2012, if the provision rate were to increase or decrease by 10 percent,
this would cause a change in the uncollectible expense recognized of
$0.3 million. The allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable is a
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reduction to Accounts Receivable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
and is included in Other Operation and Maintenance Expense on the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The allowance for uncollectible
accounts receivable was $2.6 million and $3.7 million at December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Natural Gas Transportation and Storage and

Natural Gas Gathering and Processing Segments

Operating Revenues

Operating revenues for gathering, processing, transportation and storage
services for Enogex are recorded each month based on the current
month’s estimated volumes, contracted prices (considering current
commodity prices), historical seasonal fluctuations and any known
adjustments. The estimates are reversed in the following month and
customers are billed on actual volumes and contracted prices. Gas
sales are calculated on current-month nominations and contracted
prices. Operating revenues associated with the production of NGLs are
estimated based on current-month estimated production and contracted
prices. These amounts are reversed in the following month and the cus-
tomers are billed on actual production and contracted prices. Estimated
operating revenues are reflected in Accounts Receivable on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Operating Revenues on the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Enogex recognizes revenue from natural gas gathering, processing,
transportation and storage services to third parties as services are
provided. Revenue associated with NGLs is recognized when the
production is sold.

Enogex records deferred revenue when it receives consideration
from a third party before achieving certain criteria that must be met for
revenue to be recognized in accordance with GAAP. In August 2010,
Enogex completed construction of transportation and compression
facilities necessary to provide gas delivery service to a new natural gas-
fired electric generation facility near Pryor, Oklahoma. Aid in Construction
payments of $36.4 million received in excess of construction costs
were recognized as Deferred Revenues on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet and are being amortized on a straight-line basis of
$1.2 million per year over the life of the related firm transportation service
agreement under which service commenced in June 2011. Also, in
August 2011, Enogex and one of its five largest customers entered into
new agreements, effective July 1, 2011, relating to the customer’s natural
gas gathering and processing volumes on the Oklahoma portion of
Enogex’s system. As a result, Enogex has recorded $7.1 million in
Deferred Revenues on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2012, which are expected to be recognized based on the
estimated average fee per MMBtu processed by the end of 2014. Enogex
has also recorded $1.5 million in Deferred Revenues on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012 in connection with
other gathering and processing agreements.



Enogex engages in asset management and hedging activities related
to the purchase and sale of natural gas and NGLs. Contracts utilized in
these activities generally include purchases and sales for physical delivery,
over-the-counter forward swap and options contracts and exchange
traded futures and options. Enogex’s transactions that qualify as deriva-
tives are reflected at fair value with the resulting unrealized gains and
losses recorded as price risk management (“PRM”) Assets or Liabilities
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, classified as current or long-term
based on their anticipated settlement, or against the brokerage deposits
in Other Current Assets. The offsetting unrealized gains and losses
from changes in the market value of open contracts are included in
Operating Revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Income or in
Other Comprehensive Income for derivatives designated and qualifying
as cash flow hedges. Contracts resulting in delivery of a commodity
are included as sales or purchases in the Consolidated Statements of
Income as Operating Revenues or Cost of Goods Sold depending on
whether the contract relates to the sale or purchase of the commodity.

Natural Gas Purchases

Estimates for gas purchases are based on estimated volumes and
contracted purchase prices. Estimated gas purchases are included in
Accounts Payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Cost of
Goods Sold on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Purchase and Sale Contracts

Enogex utilizes purchases and sales for physical delivery, over-the-counter
forward swap and options contracts and exchange traded futures and
options. These activities either qualify as derivatives and are recorded at
fair market value or qualify for normal purchase normal sale treatment.
Enogex’s portfolio is marked to estimated fair market value on a daily
basis. When available, actual market prices are utilized in determining
the value of natural gas and related derivative commodity instruments.
For longer-term positions, which are limited to a maximum of 60 months
and certain short-term positions for which market prices are not avail-
able, models based on forward price curves are utilized. These models
incorporate estimates and assumptions as to a variety of factors such as
pricing relationships between various energy commodities and geographic
location. Actual experience can vary significantly from these estimates
and assumptions.

In nearly all cases, independent market prices are obtained and
compared to the values used in determining the fair value. The recorded
value of the energy contracts may change significantly in the future as the
market price for the commodity changes, but the value of transactions
not designated as cash flow hedges is subject to mark-to-market risk
loss limitations provided under the Company’s risk policies. Management
utilizes models to estimate the fair value of the Company’s energy con-
tracts including derivatives that do not have an independent market

price. At December 31, 2012, unrealized mark-to-market losses

were $0.2 million, none of which were calculated utilizing models. At
December 31, 2012, a price movement of one percent for prices verified
by independent parties would result in unrealized mark-to-market gains
or losses of less than $0.1 million and a price movement of five percent
on model-based prices would result in unrealized mark-to-market gains
or losses of less than $0.1 million.

Valuation of Assets

The application of business combination and impairment accounting
requires Enogex to use significant estimates and assumptions in deter-
mining the fair value of assets and liabilities. The acquisition method
of accounting for business combinations requires Enogex to estimate
the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed to allocate the
proper amount of the purchase price consideration between goodwill
and the assets that are depreciated and amortized. Enogex records
intangible assets separately from goodwill and amortizes intangible
assets with finite lives over their estimated useful life as determined by
management. Enogex does not amortize goodwill but instead annually
assesses goodwill for impairment.

In 2011 and 2012, Enogex completed gas gathering acquisitions
accounted for as business combinations as discussed in Note 3 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements. As part of these acquisitions,
Enogex has engaged the services of a third-party valuation expert to
assist it in determining the fair value of the acquired assets and liabili-
ties, including goodwill; however, the ultimate determination of those
values is the responsibility of Enogex’s management. Enogex bases its
estimates on assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are
inherently uncertain. These valuations require the use of management’s
assumptions, which would not reflect unanticipated events and circum-
stances that may occur.

Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment and
Amortization Methodologies Related to Intangible Assets

The computation of depreciation expense requires judgment regarding
the estimated useful lives and salvage value of assets at the time the
assets are placed in service. As circumstances warrant, useful lives are
adjusted when changes in planned use, changes in estimated produc-
tion lives of affiliated natural gas basins or other factors indicate that a
different life would be more appropriate. Such changes could materially
impact future depreciation expense. Changes in useful lives that do not
result in the impairment of an asset are recognized prospectively. The
computation of amortization expense on intangible assets requires judg-
ment regarding the amortization method used. Intangible assets are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives using a method
of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits
of the intangible asset are consumed.
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Natural Gas Inventory

Natural gas inventory is held by Enogex, through its transportation and
storage business, to provide operational support for its pipeline deliveries
and to manage its leased storage capacity. In an effort to mitigate market
price exposures, Enogex may enter into contracts or hedging instruments
to protect the cash flows associated with its inventory. All natural gas
inventory held by Enogex is valued using moving average cost and is
recorded at the lower of cost or market. As part of its asset manage-
ment activity, Enogex injects and withdraws natural gas into and out
of inventory under the terms of its storage capacity contracts. During
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, Enogex recorded
write-downs to market value related to natural gas storage inventory of
$5.5 million, $4.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively. The amount of
Enogex’s natural gas inventory was $16.5 million and $23.7 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The cost of gas associated
with sales of natural gas storage inventory is presented in Cost of
Goods Sold on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable

The allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable for Enogex is
calculated based on outstanding accounts receivable balances over
180 days old. In addition, other outstanding accounts receivable bal-
ances less than 180 days old are reserved on a case-by-case basis
when Enogex believes the collection of specific amounts owed is
unlikely to occur. The allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable
is a reduction to Accounts Receivable on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and is included in Other Operation and Maintenance Expense
on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The aggregate allowance
for uncollectible accounts receivable for Enogex’s natural gas transporta-
tion and storage and natural gas gathering and processing segments
was less than $0.1 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion
of current accounting pronouncements that are applicable to the Company.

Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company is confronted with issues
or events that may result in a contingent liability. These generally relate
to lawsuits or claims made by third parties, including governmental
agencies. When appropriate, management consults with legal counsel
and other appropriate experts to assess the claim. If, in management’s
opinion, the Company has incurred a probable loss as set forth by GAAP,
an estimate is made of the loss and the appropriate accounting entries
are reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. At
the present time, based on currently available information, except as
disclosed otherwise in this Form 10-K, the Company believes that any
reasonably possible losses in excess of accrued amounts arising out

of pending or threatened lawsuits or claims would not be quantitatively
material to its financial statements and would not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
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operations or cash flows. See Notes 16 and 17 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and Item 3 of Part | in the Company’s Form 10-K
for a discussion of the Company’s commitments and contingencies.

Environmental Laws and Regulations

The activities of OG&E and Enogex are subject to stringent and complex
Federal, state and local laws and regulations governing environmental
protection including the discharge of materials into the environment.
These laws and regulations can restrict or impact OG&E’s and Enogex’s
business activities in many ways, such as restricting the way it can
handle or dispose of their wastes, requiring remedial action to mitigate
pollution conditions that may be caused by their operations or that are
attributable to former operators, regulating future construction activities
to mitigate harm to threatened or endangered species and requiring
the installation and operation of pollution control equipment. Failure to
comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment
of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the imposition of remedial
requirements and the issuance of orders enjoining future operations.
OG&E and Enogex believe that their operations are in substantial com-
pliance with current Federal, state and local environmental standards.

Environmental regulation can increase the cost of planning,
design, initial installation and operation of OG&E’s or Enogex’s facilities.
Historically, OG&E’s and Enogex’s total expenditures for environmental
control facilities and for remediation have not been significant in relation to
its consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company
believes, however, that it is reasonably likely that the trend in environ-
mental legislation and regulations will continue towards more restrictive
standards. Compliance with these standards is expected to increase
the cost of conducting business.

OG&E expects that significant future capital expenditures necessary
to comply with the environmental laws and regulations discussed below
will qualify as part of a pre-approval plan to handle state and Federally
mandated environmental upgrades which will be recoverable in Oklahoma
from OG&E’s retail customers under House Bill 1910, which was enacted
into law in May 2005.

It is estimated that OG&E's and Enogex’s total expenditures to
comply with environmental laws, regulations and requirements for 2013
will be $63.0 million and $6.4 million, respectively, of which $45.3 million
and $0.7 million, respectively, are for capital expenditures. It is estimated
that OG&E’s and Enogex’s total expenditures to comply for environmental
laws, regulations and requirements for 2014 will be $37.7 million and
$6.3 million, respectively, of which $19.2 million and $0.5 million, respec-
tively, are for capital expenditures. The amounts for OG&E above include
capital expenditures for low NOX burners and exclude certain other capital
expenditures as discussed in the capital expenditures table and related
footnote D in “Future Capital Requirements and Financing Activities”
above. The Company’s management believes that all of its operations
are in substantial compliance with current Federal, state and local envi-
ronmental standards. Management continues to evaluate its compliance
with existing and proposed environmental legislation and regulations and
implement appropriate environmental programs in a competitive market.



Air

Federal Clean Air Act Overview

OG&E’s and Enogex’s operations are subject to the Federal Clean Air
Act, as amended, and comparable state laws and regulations. These
laws and regulations regulate emissions of air pollutants from various
industrial sources, including electric generating units, natural gas pro-
cessing plants and compressor stations, and also impose various
monitoring and reporting requirements. Such laws and regulations may
require that OG&E and Enogex obtain pre-approval for the construction
or modification of certain projects or facilities expected to produce air
emissions or result in the increase of existing air emissions, obtain and
strictly comply with air permits containing various emissions and opera-
tional limitations or install emission control equipment. OG&E and Enogex
likely will be required to incur certain capital expenditures in the future for
air pollution control equipment and technology in connection with obtain-
ing and maintaining operating permits and approvals for air emissions.

Regional Haze Control Measures

On June 15, 2005, the EPA issued final amendments to its 1999 regional
haze rule. Regional haze is visibility impairment caused by the cumulative
air pollutant emissions from numerous sources over a wide geographic
area. The regional haze rule is intended to protect visibility in certain national
parks and wilderness areas throughout the United States. In Oklahoma,
the Wichita Mountains are the only area covered under the rule. However,
Oklahoma’s impact on parks in other states must also be evaluated.

As required by the Federal regional haze rule, the state of Oklahoma
evaluated the installation of best available retrofit technology (“BART”) to
reduce emissions that cause or contribute to regional haze from certain
sources within the state that were built between 1962 and 1977. Certain
of OG&E’s units at the Horseshoe Lake, Seminole, Muskogee and Sooner
generating stations were evaluated for BART. On February 18, 2010,
Oklahoma submitted its state implementation plan (“SIP”) to the EPA,
which set forth the state’s plan for compliance with the Federal regional
haze rule. The SIP was subject to the EPA’s review and approval.

The Oklahoma SIP included requirements for reducing emissions of
NOX and SO2 from OG&E’s seven BART-eligible units at the Seminole,
Muskogee and Sooner generating stations. The SIP also included a
waiver from BART requirements for all eligible units at the Horseshoe
Lake generating station based on air modeling that showed no signifi-
cant impact on visibility in nearby national parks and wilderness areas.
The SIP concluded that BART for reducing NOX emissions at all of the
subject units should be the installation of low NOX burners with overfire
air (flue gas recirculation was also required on two of the units) and set
forth associated NOX emission rates and limits. OG&E preliminarily esti-
mates that the total capital cost of installing and operating these NOX
controls on all covered units, based on recent industry experience and
past projects, will be approximately $35 million. With respect to SO2
emissions, the SIP included an agreement between the Oklahoma
Department of Environmental Quality and OG&E that established BART
for SO2 control at the four affected coal-fired units located at OG&E’s

Sooner and Muskogee generating stations as the continued use of low
sulfur coal (along with associated emission rates and limits). The SIP
specifically rejected the installation and operation of Dry Scrubbers as
BART for SO2 control from these units because the state determined
that Dry Scrubbers were not cost effective on these units.

On December 28, 2011, the EPA issued a final rule in which it
rejected portions of the Oklahoma SIP and issued a FIP in their place.
While the EPA accepted Oklahoma’s BART determination for NOX in the
final rule, it rejected Oklahoma’s SO2 BART determination with respect
to the four coal-fired units at the Sooner and Muskogee generating
stations. The EPA is instead requiring that OG&E meet an SO2 emission
rate of 0.06 pounds per MMBtu within five years. OG&E could meet the
proposed standard by either installing and operating Dry Scrubbers or
fuel switching at the four affected units. OG&E estimates that installing
Dry Scrubbers on these units would include capital costs to OG&E of
more than $1.0 billion. OG&E and the state of Oklahoma filed an admin-
istrative stay request with the EPA on February 24, 2012. The EPA has
not yet responded to this request. OG&E and other parties also filed a
petition for review of the FIP in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth
Circuit on February 24, 2012 and a stay request on April 4, 2012. On
June 22, 2012, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit granted
the stay request. The stay will remain in place until a decision on the
petition for review is complete, which will delay the implementation of
the regional haze rule in Oklahoma. The merits of the appeal have been
fully briefed and oral argument is scheduled to occur on March 6, 2013.
Neither the outcome of the appeal nor the timing of any required expen-
ditures for pollution control equipment can be predicted with any
certainty at this time.

Cross-State Air Pollution Rule

On July 7, 2011, the EPA finalized its Cross-State Air Pollution Rule

to replace the former Clean Air Interstate Rule that was remanded by a
Federal court as a result of legal challenges. The final rule would require
27 states to reduce power plant emissions that contribute to ozone and
particulate matter pollution in other states. On December 27, 2011, the
EPA published a supplemental rule, which would make six additional
states, including Oklahoma, subject to the Cross-State Air Pollution
Rule for NOX emissions during the ozone-season from May 1 through
September 30. Under the rule, OG&E would have been required to
reduce ozone-season NOX emissions from its electrical generating units
within the state beginning in 2012. The Cross-State Air Pollution Rule
was challenged in court by numerous states and power generators. On
December 30, 2011, the U.S. Court of Appeals issued a stay of the rule,
which includes the supplemental rule, pending a decision on the merits.
By order dated August 21, 2012, the U.S. Court of Appeals vacated the
Cross-State Air Pollution Rule and ordered the EPA to promulgate a
replacement rule. On January 25, 2013, the U.S. Court of Appeals denied
the EPA’s request for an en banc reconsideration of the court’s decision
vacating the rule. OG&E cannot predict the outcome of such challenges.
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Hazardous Air Pollutants Emission Standards

On April 16, 2012, regulations governing emissions of certain hazardous
air pollutants from electric generating units were published as the final
MATS rule. This rule includes numerical standards for particulate matter
(as a surrogate for toxic metals), hydrogen chloride and mercury emis-
sions from coal-fired boilers. In addition, the regulations include work
practice standards for dioxins and furans. Compliance is required within
three years after the effective date of the rule with the possibility of a
one-year extension. To comply with this rule, OG&E is currently planning
to utilize activated carbon injection and low levels of dry sorbent injec-
tion at each of its five coal-fired units. Due to various uncertainties about
the final design, the potential use of this technology relating to regional
haze measures and the specifications for the control equipment, the
resulting cost estimates currently range from $34 million to $72 million
per unit. OG&E is evaluating the results of field testing to finalize cost
estimates and implementation schedules. The final MATS rule has been
appealed by several parties. OG&E is not a party to the appeals and
cannot predict the outcome of any such appeals.

Notice of Violation

In July 2008, OG&E received a request for information from the EPA
regarding Federal Clean Air Act compliance at OG&E’s Muskogee and
Sooner generating plants. In recent years, the EPA has issued similar
requests to numerous other electric utilities seeking to determine
whether various maintenance, repair and replacement projects should
have required permits under the Federal Clean Air Act’s new source
review process. In January 2012, OG&E received a supplemental
request for an update of the previously provided information and for
some additional information not previously requested. On May 1, 2012,
OG&E responded to the EPA’s supplemental request for information.
OG&E believes it has acted in full compliance with the Federal Clean
Air Act and new source review process and is cooperating with the EPA.
On April 26, 2011, the EPA issued a notice of violation alleging that 13
projects occurred at OG&E’s Muskogee and Sooner generating plants
between 1993 and 2006 without the required new source review permits.
The notice of violation also alleges that OG&E'’s visible emissions at its
Muskogee and Sooner generating plants are not in accordance with
applicable new source performance standards. OG&E has met with the
EPA regarding the notice but cannot predict at this time what, if any, fur-
ther actions may be necessary as a result of the notice. The EPA could
seek to require OG&E to install additional pollution control equipment and
pay fines and significant penalties as a result of the allegations in the
notice of violation. Section 113 of the Federal Clean Air Act (along with
the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1996) provides for
civil penalties as much as $37,500 per day for each violation. The cost
of any required pollution control equipment could also be significant.
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National Ambient Air Quality Standards

The EPA is required to set National Ambient Air Quality Standards
(“NAAQS”) for certain pollutants considered to be harmful to public
health or the environment. The Clean Air Act requires the EPA to review
each NAAQS every five years. As a result of these reviews, the EPA
periodically has taken action to adopt more stringent NAAQS for those
pollutants. If any areas of Oklahoma were to be designated as not
attaining the NAAQS for a particular pollutant, the Company could be
required to install additional emission controls on its facilities to help
the state achieve attainment with the NAAQS. As of the end of 2012,
no areas of Oklahoma had been designated as non-attainment for
pollutants that are likely to affect the Company’s operations. Several
processes are under way to designate areas in Oklahoma as attaining
or not attaining revised NAAQS. The Company is monitoring those
processes and their possible impact on its operations but, at this time,
cannot determine with any certainty whether they will cause a material
impact to the Company’s financial results.

Acid Rain Program

The Federal Clean Air Act includes an Acid Rain Program. The goal of
the Acid Rain Program is to achieve environmental and public health
benefits through reductions in SO2 and NOX emissions, which are the
primary causes of acid rain. To achieve this goal, the program employs
both traditional and market-based approaches for controlling air pollution.

The Acid Rain Program introduces an allowance trading system that
uses the free market to reduce pollution. Under this system, affected utility
units are allocated allowances based on their historic fuel consumption
and a specific emissions rate. Each allowance permits a unit to emit one
ton of SO2 from the chimney during or after a specified year. For each
ton of SO2 emitted in a given year, one allowance is retired, that is, it
can no longer be used. Allowances may be bought, sold or banked.

During Phase Il of the program (now in effect), the Federal Clean
Air Act set a permanent ceiling (or cap) of 8.95 million total annual
allowances allocated to utilities. This cap firmly restricts emissions and
ensures that environmental benefits will be achieved and maintained.
Due to OG&E'’s earlier decision to burn low sulfur coal, these restrictions
have had no significant financial impact.

The Acid Rain Program also focuses on one set of sources that emit
NOX, coal-fired electric utility boilers. As with the SO2 emission reduc-
tion requirements, the NOX program was implemented in two phases,
beginning in 1996 and 2000. The NOX program embodies many of the
same principles of the SO2 trading program. However, it does not cap
NOX emissions as the SO2 program does, nor does it utilize an
allowance trading system.



Emission limitations for NOX focus on the emission rate to be
achieved (expressed in pounds of NOX per MMBtu of heat input). In
general, two options for compliance with the emission limitations are
provided: compliance with an individual emission rate for a boiler; or
averaging of emission rates over two or more units to meet an overall
emission rate limitation.

Since becoming subject to the Acid Rain Program, OG&E has met
all obligations and limitations requirements.

Climate Change and Greenhouse Gas Emissions
There is continuing discussion and evaluation of possible global climate
change in certain regulatory and legislative arenas. The focus is generally
on emissions of greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, sulfur hexa-
fluoride and methane, and whether these emissions are contributing to
the warming of the Earth’s atmosphere. There are various international
agreements that restrict greenhouse gas emissions, but none of them
have a binding effect on sources located in the United States. The U.S.
Congress has not passed legislation to reduce emissions of greenhouse
gases and the future prospects for any such legislation are uncertain,
but the EPA has existing authority under the Clean Air Act to regulate
greenhouse gas emissions from stationary sources. Several states have
passed laws, adopted regulations or undertaken regulatory initiatives to
reduce the emission of greenhouse gases, primarily through the planned
development of greenhouse gas emission inventories and/or regional
greenhouse gas cap and trade programs. Oklahoma, Arkansas and
Texas are not among them. If legislation or regulations are passed at the
Federal or state levels in the future requiring mandatory reductions of
carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases on the Company’s facilities,
this could result in significant additional compliance costs that would
affect the Company’s future financial position, results of operations and
cash flows if such costs are not recovered through regulated rates.
Following from the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the Clean Air
Act’s applicability to greenhouse gases in Massachusetts v. EPA, the
EPA has proposed regulations for new power plants. In 2010, the EPA
also issued a final rule that makes certain existing sources subject to
permitting requirements for greenhouse gas emissions. This rule requires
sources that emit greater than 100,000 tons per year of greenhouse
gases to obtain a permit for those emissions, even if they are not other-
wise required to obtain a new or modified permit. Such sources that
undergo construction or modification may have to install best available
control technology to control greenhouse gas emissions. Although these
rules currently do not have a material impact on the Company’s existing
facilities, they ultimately could result in significant changes to the
Company’s operations, significant capital expenditures by the Company
and a significant increase in the Company’s cost of conducting business.

In 2009, the EPA adopted a comprehensive national system for
reporting emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases
produced by major sources in the United States. The reporting require-
ments apply to large direct emitters of greenhouse gases with emissions
equal to or greater than a threshold of 25,000 metric tons per year,
which includes certain OG&E and Enogex facilities. OG&E also reports
quarterly its carbon dioxide emissions from generating units subject
to the Federal Acid Rain Program. OG&E and Enogex have submitted
the reports required by the applicable reporting rules.

The Company is continuing to review and evaluate available options
for reducing, avoiding, offsetting or sequestering its greenhouse gas
emissions. OG&E is a partner in the EPA Sulfur Hexafluoride Voluntary
Reduction Program. Enogex is a partner in the EPA Natural Gas STAR
Program, a voluntary program to reduce methane emissions.

The Company also seeks to utilize renewable energy sources that
do not emit greenhouse gases. OG&E'’s service territory is in central
Oklahoma and borders one of the nation’s best wind resource areas.
The Company has leveraged its advantageous geographic position to
develop renewable energy resources and transmission to deliver the
renewable energy. The SPP has begun to authorize the construction of
transmission lines capable of bringing renewable energy out of the wind
resource area in western Oklahoma, the Texas Panhandle and western
Kansas to load centers by planning for more transmission to be built in
the area. In addition to significantly increasing overall system reliability,
these new transmission resources should provide greater access to
additional wind resources that are currently constrained due to existing
transmission delivery limitations.

Endangered Species

Certain Federal laws, including the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection
Act, the Migratory Bird Treaty Act and the Endangered Species Act,
provide special protection to certain designated species. These laws and
any state equivalents provide for significant civil and criminal penalties
for unpermitted activities that result in harm to or harassment of certain
protected animals and plants, including damage to their habitats. If such
species are located in an area in which the Company conducts operations,
or if additional species in those areas become subject to protection, the
Company’s operations and development projects, particularly transmis-
sion, wind or pipeline projects, could be restricted or delayed, or the
Company could be required to implement expensive mitigation measures.
The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service announced a proposed rule to list the
lesser prairie chicken as threatened on November 30, 2012. A final deci-
sion regarding listing is anticipated to be completed by September 30,
2013. Although the lesser prairie chicken and its habitat are located in
potential development areas of the Company, the impact of a final deci-
sion to list this species as threatened cannot be determined at this time.
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Waste

OG&E’s and Enogex’s operations generate hazardous wastes that are
subject to the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976
as well as comparable state laws which impose detailed requirements
for the handling, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous waste.

For OG&E, these laws impose strict “cradle to grave” requirements on
generators regarding their treatment, storage and disposal of hazardous
waste. OG&E routinely generates small quantities of hazardous waste
throughout its system and occasional larger quantities from periodic
power generation related activities. These wastes are treated, stored
and disposed at facilities that are permitted to manage them.

In June 2010, the EPA proposed new rules under Federal Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 that could alter the classification
of OG&E’s coal-fired power plants as conditionally exempt hazardous
waste generators and make the management of coal ash more costly.
The extent to which the EPA intends to regulate coal ash is uncertain
due to the fact that the new rules propose to regulate coal ash as a
hazardous waste or as a nonhazardous solid waste. In November 2010,
OG&E submitted written comments opposing the regulation of coal ash
as a hazardous waste while supporting its regulation as a nonhazardous
waste. The EPA continues to consider numerous comments received
on the proposal and has stated that no definitive timetable for issuing
a final rule regarding the regulation of coal ash can be provided.

The Company has sought and will continue to seek pollution
prevention opportunities and to evaluate the effectiveness of its waste
reduction, reuse and recycling efforts. In 2012, the Company obtained
refunds of $6.4 million from the recycling of scrap metal, salvaged
transformers and used transformer oil. This figure does not include the
additional savings gained through the reduction and/or avoidance of
disposal costs and the reduction in material purchases due to the reuse
of existing materials. Similar savings are anticipated in future years.

For Enogex, the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of
1976 currently exempts many natural gas gathering and field processing
wastes from classification as hazardous waste. However, these oil and
gas exploration and production wastes may still be regulated under state
law or the less stringent solid waste requirements of the Federal Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976. The transportation of natural gas
in pipelines may also generate some hazardous wastes that are subject
to the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 or
comparable state law requirements.

Water

OG&E’s and Enogex’s operations are subject to the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended (“Federal Clean Water Act”),
and analogous state laws and regulations. These laws and regulations
impose detailed requirements and strict controls regarding the discharge
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of pollutants into state and Federal waters. The discharge of pollutants,
including discharges resulting from a spill or leak, is prohibited unless
authorized by a permit or other agency approval. The Federal Clean
Water Act and regulations implemented thereunder also prohibit dis-
charges of dredged and fill material in wetlands and other waters of
the United States unless authorized by an appropriately issued permit.
Existing cooling water intake structures are regulated under the Federal
Clean Water Act to minimize their impact on the environment.

With respect to cooling water intake structures, Section 316(b) of the
Federal Clean Water Act requires that their location, design, construc-
tion and capacity reflect the best available technology for minimizing
their adverse environmental impact via the impingement and entrain-
ment of aquatic organisms. In March 2011, the EPA proposed rules to
implement Section 316(b). On August 18, 2011, OG&E filed comments
with the EPA on the proposed rules. In June 2012, the EPA published
a Notice of Data Availability requesting additional comments on a num-
ber of impingement mortality-related issues based on new information
received during the initial public comment period. On July 11, 2012,
OG&E filed comments regarding the Notice of Data Availability. In July
2012, the EPA entered into a settlement agreement in a pending litiga-
tion matter, which extended the deadline by which the proposed rules
will be finalized to June 2013. In the interim, the state of Oklahoma
requires OG&E to implement best management practices related to the
operation and maintenance of its existing cooling water intake struc-
tures as a condition of renewing its discharge permits. Once the EPA
promulgates the final rules, OG&E may incur additional capital and/or
operating costs to comply with them. The costs of complying with the
final water intake standards are not currently determinable, but could
be significant.

Site Remediation
The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act of 1980 and comparable state laws impose liability, without
regard to the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons
responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the environ-
ment. Because OG&E and Enogex utilize various products and generate
wastes that are considered hazardous substances for purposes of the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980, OG&E and Enogex could be subject to liability for the costs
of cleaning up and restoring sites where those substances have been
released to the environment. At this time, it is not anticipated that any
associated liability will cause a significant impact to OG&E or Enogex.
For a further discussion regarding contingencies relating to environ-
mental laws and regulations, see Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.



QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks are, in most cases, risks that are actively traded in a
marketplace and have been well studied in regards to quantification.
Market risks include, but are not limited to, changes in interest rates and
commodity prices. The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates
relates primarily to short-term variable-rate debt and commercial paper.
The Company is exposed to commodity prices in its operations.

Risk Committee and Oversight
Management monitors market risks using a risk committee structure.
The Board of Directors appoints the Chief Risk Officer of the Company.
The Chief Risk Officer serves as chairman of the Company’s Risk Oversight
Committee, which consists primarily of corporate officers, and is respon-
sible for the overall development, implementation and enforcement of
strategies and policies for all market risk management activities of the
Company. This committee’s emphasis is a holistic perspective of risk
measurement and policies targeting the Company’s overall financial per-
formance. On a quarterly basis, the Risk Oversight Committee, through
the Chief Risk Officer, reports to the Audit Committee of the Company’s
Board of Directors on the Company’s risk profile affecting anticipated
financial results, including any significant risk issues.

The Enogex Risk Management Committee is comprised primarily
of business unit leaders within Enogex. This committee’s purpose is to
develop and maintain risk policies for Enogex, to provide oversight and
guidance for existing and prospective Enogex business activities and
to provide governance regarding compliance with Enogex risk policies.
This group is authorized by and reports to the Risk Oversight Committee.

The Company also has a Corporate Risk Management Department
led by the Company’s Chief Risk Officer. This group, in conjunction with
the aforementioned committees, is responsible for establishing and
enforcing the Company’s risk policies.

Risk Policies

Management utilizes risk policies to control the amount of market risk
exposure. These policies are designed to provide the Audit Committee
of the Company’s Board of Directors and senior executives of the
Company with confidence that the risks taken on by the Company’s
business activities are in accordance with their expectations for financial
returns and that the approved policies and controls related to market
risk management are being followed. Some of the measures in these
policies include value-at-risk limits, position limits, tenor limits and
stop loss limits.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates primarily relates
to short-term variable-rate debt and commercial paper. The Company
manages its interest rate exposure by monitoring and limiting the effects
of market changes in interest rates. The Company utilizes interest rate
derivatives to alter interest rate exposure in an attempt to reduce the
effects of these changes. Interest rate derivatives are used solely to
modify interest rate exposure and not to modify the overall leverage

of the debt portfolio.

The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is based on quoted
market prices and estimates of current rates available for similar issues
with similar maturities or by calculating the net present value of the
monthly payments discounted by the Company’s current borrowing rate.
The following table shows the Company’s long-term debt maturities and
the weighted-average interest rates by maturity date.

12/31/12
(Dollars in millions, year ended December 31) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Fixed-rate debt®
Principal amount $ 0.2 $300.2 $ 02 $110.2 $125.2 $1,934.7 $2,470.7 $3,011.3
Weighted-average interest rate 2.71% 6.25% 2.71% 5.15% 6.49% 6.38% 6.31%
Variable-rate debt®
Principal amount $ - $ - $250.0 $ - $ - $ 1354 § 3854 $ 3854
Weighted-average interest rate - - 1.72% - - 0.24% 1.20%

(M) Prior to or when these debt obligations mature, the Company may refinance all or a portion of such debt at then-existing market interest rates which may be more or less than the interest rates

on the maturing debt.

(B) A hypothetical change of 100 basis points in the underlying variable interest rate incurred by the Company would change interest expense by $3.9 million annually.
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Commodity Price Risk

Commodity price risk is present in the Company’s activities because
changes in the prices of natural gas, NGLs and NGLs processing
spreads have a direct effect on the compensation the Company receives
for operating some of its assets. These prices are subject to fluctuations
resulting from changes in supply and demand. To partially reduce com-
modity price risk, the Company utilizes risk mitigation tools such as
default processing fees and ethane rejection capabilities to protect its
downside exposure while maintaining its upside potential. Additionally,
the Company utilizes derivatives and other forward transactions to
mitigate the effects these market fluctuations have on the Company’s
operating income. Because the commodities covered by these transac-
tions are substantially the same commodities that the Company buys
and sells in the physical market, no special studies other than monitor-
ing the degree of correlation between the derivative and cash markets
are deemed necessary.
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A sensitivity analysis has been prepared to estimate the Company’s
exposure to commodity price risk. The Company’s daily net commodity
position consists of natural gas inventories, commodity purchase and
sales contracts, financial and commodity derivative instruments and
anticipated natural gas processing spreads and fuel recoveries. Quoted
market prices are not available for all of the Company’s positions; there-
fore, the value of positions is a summation of the forecasted values
calculated for each commodity based upon internally generated forward
price curves. Commodity price risk is estimated as the potential loss in
fair value resulting from a hypothetical 20 percent decline in quoted market
prices. The result of this analysis, which may differ from actual results,
reflects net commodity price risk to be $21.6 million at December 31,
2012. This amount represents the Company’s exposure, net of the
ArcLight group’s proportional share.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions, except per share data, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Operating revenues
Electric Utility operating revenues $2,141.2 $2,211.5 $2,109.9
Natural Gas Midstream Operations operating revenues 1,530.0 1,704.4 1,607.0
Total operating revenues 3,671.2 3,915.9 3,716.9
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown below)
Electric Utility cost of goods sold 819.0 966.0 952.6
Natural Gas Midstream Operations cost of goods sold 1,099.7 1,311.9 1,234.8
Total cost of goods sold 1,918.7 2,277.9 2,187.4
Gross margin on revenues 1,752.5 1,638.0 1,529.5
Operating expenses
Other operation and maintenance 601.5 581.2 549.8
Depreciation and amortization 371.0 307.1 291.3
Impairment of assets 0.4 6.3 141
Gain on insurance proceeds (7.5) (8.0) -
Taxes other than income 110.2 99.7 93.4
Total operating expenses 1,075.6 991.3 935.6
Operating income 676.9 646.7 593.9
Other income (expense)
Interest income 0.6 0.5 -
Allowance for equity funds used during construction 6.2 20.4 11.4
Other income 17.0 19.3 13.7
Other expense (16.5) (21.7) (17.9)
Net other income 7.3 18.5 7.2
Interest expense
Interest on long-term debt 158.9 146.1 139.3
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction (3.5) (10.4) (5.5)
Interest on short-term debt and other interest charges 8.7 5.2 5.9
Interest expense 164.1 140.9 139.7
Income before taxes 520.1 524.3 461.4
Income tax expense 135.1 160.7 161.0
Net income 385.0 363.6 300.4
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 30.0 20.7 5.1
Net income attributable to OGE Energy $ 355.0 $ 342.9 $ 295.3
Basic average common shares outstanding 98.6 97.9 97.3
Diluted average common shares outstanding 99.1 99.2 98.9
Basic earnings per average common share attributable to OGE Energy common shareholders $ 3.60 $ 3.50 $ 3.03
Diluted earnings per average common share attributable to OGE Energy common shareholders $ 3.58 $ 345 $ 299
Dividends declared per common share $ 1.5950 $1.5175 $1.4625

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Net income $385.0 $363.6 $300.4
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Pension plan and restoration of retirement income plan:
Amortization of deferred net loss, net of tax of $1.7, $1.4 and $1.2, respectively 3.0 2.5 1.3
Net gain (loss) arising during the period, net of tax of ($5.6), ($6.7) and $4.4, respectively (10.2) (13.5) 7.6
Amortization of prior service cost, net of tax of $0.2, $0.2 and $0.1, respectively 0.2 0.4 0.2
Postretirement plans:
Amortization of deferred net loss, net of tax of ($1.1), ($1.6) and $0.6, respectively 2.0 1.8 1.2
Net loss arising during the period, net of tax of ($1.1), ($3.1) and ($2.4), respectively (2.3) (3.6) 4.1)
Amortization of deferred net transition obligation, net of tax of $0.1, $0.1 and $0.1, respectively 0.1 0.2 0.1
Amortization of prior service cost, net of tax of ($1.0), ($1.6) and $0.1, respectively (1.8) (1.8) -
Prior service credit arising during the period, net of tax of $0, $9.5 and $0, respectively - 10.8 -
Deferred commodity contracts hedging (gains) losses reclassified in net income, net of tax of
($1.6), $12.6 and $9.9, respectively (3.6) 27.6 18.5
Deferred commodity contracts hedging gains (losses), net of tax of $0.1, ($1.7)
and ($8.5), respectively 0.4 (4.8) (16.3)
Amortization of deferred interest rate swap hedging losses, net of tax of $0.2, $0.2
and $0.2, respectively 0.2 0.3 0.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (12.0) 19.9 8.7
Comprehensive income (loss) 373.0 383.5 309.1
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest for sale of equity investment (0.5) 8.2) 6.2)
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 27.0 24.2 5.5
Total comprehensive income attributable to OGE Energy $346.5 $362.5 $309.8

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 385.0 $ 363.6 $300.4
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 374.8 307.7 291.3
Impairment of assets 0.4 6.3 141
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits, net 143.7 166.0 146.4
Allowance for equity funds used during construction 6.2 (20.4) (11.4)
(Gain) loss on disposition and abandonment of assets 4.2 (2.7) -
Gain on insurance proceeds (7.5) (3.0 -
Stock-based compensation (2.6) 7.8 7.4
Excess tax benefit on stock-based compensation - - (0.7)
Price risk management assets 3.3 (1.7) 3.9
Price risk management liabilities (4.6) 19.0 8.5
Regulatory assets 20.3 14.0 241
Regulatory liabilities (14.8) (1.9) (12.4)
Other assets (6.9) (7.6) 6.3
Other liabilities (14.3) (37.4) (37.0)
Change in certain current assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable, net 271 (48.0) 11.9
Accrued unbilled revenues 1.9 (2.5) 0.4
Income taxes receivable 1.1 (3.6) 153.0
Fuel, materials and supplies inventories 13.7 54.2 (45.2)
Gas imbalance assets (7.2) 0.7 0.7
Fuel clause under recoveries 1.8 (0.8) (0.7)
Other current assets (4.7) (7.2) (5.9)
Accounts payable 25.1 34.5 59.2
Gas imbalance liabilities (4.8) 3.1 (5.3)
Fuel clause over recoveries 101.5 (22.2) (157.6)
Other current liabilities 15.8 16.0 441
Net cash provided from operating activities 1,046.1 833.9 782.5
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (less allowance for equity funds used during construction) (1,150.6) (1,270.4) (879.9)
Acquisition of gathering assets (78.6) (200.4) -
Proceeds from sale of assets 1.5 18.0 2.3
Proceeds from insurance 7.6 7.4 -
Reimbursement of capital expenditures 27.5 49.6 31.5
Net cash used in investing activities (1,192.6) (1,395.8) (846.1)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt 250.0 246.3 246.2
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt 153.8 132.1 (30.0)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest partners 46.2 216.4 183.2
Issuance of common stock 14.3 14.8 16.9
Proceeds from line of credit - 150.0 115.0
Retirement of long-term debt - - (289.2)
Excess tax benefit on stock-based compensation - - 0.7
Payment of long-term debt (0.1) - -
Purchase of treasury stock (3.4) (6.2) -
Distributions to noncontrolling interest partners (12.6) (17.4) (4.0)
Repayment of line of credit (150.0) (25.0) (90.0)
Dividends paid on common stock (154.5) (146.8) (141.0)
Net cash provided from financing activities 143.7 564.2 7.8
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2.8) 2.3 (55.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4.6 2.3 58.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1.8 $ 4.6 $ 23

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1.8 $ 4.6
Accounts receivable, less reserve of $2.6 and $3.8, respectively 295.3 322.5
Accrued unbilled revenues 57.4 59.3
Income taxes receivable 7.2 8.3
Fuel inventories 93.3 100.7
Materials and supplies, at average cost 80.9 87.2
Price risk management 0.5 3.5
Gas imbalances 9.0 1.8
Deferred income taxes 187.7 32.1
Fuel clause under recoveries - 1.8
Assets held for sale 25.5 -
Other 35.6 30.9
Total current assets 794.2 652.7
Other property and investments, at cost 52.2 46.7
Property, plant and equipment
In service 11,504.4 10,315.9
Construction work in progress 387.5 499.0
Total property, plant and equipment 11,891.9 10,814.9
Less accumulated depreciation 3,547.1 3,340.9
Net property, plant and equipment 8,344.8 7,474.0
Deferred charges and other assets
Regulatory assets 510.6 507.9
Intangible assets, net 127.4 137.0
Goodwill 39.4 39.4
Price risk management - 0.3
Other 53.6 48.0
Total deferred charges and other assets 731.0 732.6
Total assets $ 9,922.2 $ 8,906.0

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Short-term debt $ 430.9 $ 2771
Accounts payable 396.7 388.0
Dividends payable 41.2 38.5
Customer deposits 70.3 67.6
Accrued taxes 48.1 42.3
Accrued interest 55.0 54.8
Accrued compensation 55.2 47.8
Price risk management 0.3 0.4
Gas imbalances 5.0 9.8
Fuel clause over recoveries 109.2 7.7
Other 64.5 64.5
Total current liabilities 1,276.4 998.5
Long-term debt 2,848.6 2,7371
Deferred credits and other liabilities
Accrued benefit obligations 399.8 360.8
Deferred income taxes 1,948.8 1,651.4
Deferred investment tax credits 3.9 6.1
Regulatory liabilities 2451 230.7
Deferred revenues 37.7 40.8
Price risk management - 0.1
Other 89.5 61.2
Total deferred credits and other liabilities 2,724.8 2,351.1
Total liabilities 6,849.8 6,086.7
Commitments and contingencies (note 16)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stockholders’ equity 1,047.4 1,035.3
Retained earnings 1,772.4 1,574.8
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (49.1) (40.6)
Treasury stock, at cost (3.5) (6.2)
Total OGE Energy stockholders’ equity 2,767.2 2,563.3
Noncontrolling interests 305.2 256.0
Total stockholders’ equity 3,072.4 2,819.3
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $9,922.2 $8,906.0

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; authorized 225.0 shares;
and outstanding 98.8 and 98.1 shares, respectively $ 1.0 $ 1.0
Premium on common stock 1,046.4 1,034.3
Retained earnings 1,772.4 1,574.8
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (49.1) (40.6)
Treasury stock, at cost, 0.1 and 0.1 shares, respectively (3.5) (6.2)
Total OGE Energy stockholders’ equity 2,767.2 2,563.3
Noncontrolling interest 305.2 256.0
Total stockholders’ equity 3,072.4 2,819.3
Long-term debt
Senior Notes — OGE Energy
5.00% Senior Notes, Series Due November 15, 2014 100.0 100.0
Unamortized discount (0.1) 0.2)
Senior Notes — OG&E
5.15% Senior Notes, Series Due January 15, 2016 110.0 110.0
6.50% Senior Notes, Series Due July 15, 2017 125.0 125.0
6.35% Senior Notes, Series Due September 1, 2018 250.0 250.0
8.25% Senior Notes, Series Due January 15, 2019 250.0 250.0
6.65% Senior Notes, Series Due July 15, 2027 125.0 125.0
6.50% Senior Notes, Series Due April 15, 2028 100.0 100.0
6.50% Senior Notes, Series Due August 1, 2034 140.0 140.0
5.75% Senior Notes, Series Due January 15, 2036 110.0 110.0
6.45% Senior Notes, Series Due February 1, 2038 200.0 200.0
5.85% Senior Notes, Series Due June 1, 2040 250.0 250.0
5.25% Senior Notes, Series Due May 15, 2041 250.0 250.0
3.70% Tinker Debt, Due August 31, 2062 10.7 -
Other Bonds — OG&E
0.22% - 0.40% Garfield Industrial Authority, January 1, 2025 47.0 47.0
0.21% - 0.41% Muskogee Industrial Authority, January 1, 2025 324 32.4
0.20% - 0.47% Muskogee Industrial Authority, June 1, 2027 56.0 56.0
Unamortized discount (5.8) 6.2)
Enogex
6.875% Senior Notes, Series Due July 15, 2014 200.0 200.0
1.72% Enogex LLC Term Loan Agreement, Due August 2, 2015 250.0 -
—-% Enogex LLC Revolving Credit Agreement, Due December 13, 2016 - 150.0
6.25% Senior Notes, Series Due March 15, 2020 250.0 250.0
Unamortized discount (1.6) (1.9)
Total long-term debt 2,848.6 2,7371
Total Capitalization $5,921.0 $5,556.4

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF C

HANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Premium on Retained Comprehegg';\/eé Noncontrolling  Treasury

(In millions) Common Stock Common Stock Earnings Income (Loss) Interest Stock Total
Balance at December 31, 2009 $1.0 $ 886.7 $1,227.8 $(74.7) $ 20.0 - $2,060.8
Comprehensive income (loss)

Net income - - 295.3 - 5.1 - 300.4

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax - - - 14.5 (5.8 - 8.7
Comprehensive income (loss) - - 295.3 14.5 0.7) - 309.1
Dividends declared on common stock - - (142.5) - - (142.5)
Issuance of common stock - 17.0 - - - - 17.0
Stock-based compensation - 10.4 - - - - 10.4
Contributions from noncontrolling interest partner - 88.1 - - 95.1 - 183.2
Distributions to noncontrolling interest partner - - - - (4.0) - (4.0)
Deferred income taxes attributable to contributions

from noncontrolling interest partner - (34.0) - - - - (34.0)
Balance at December 31, 2010 $1.0 $ 968.2 $1,380.6 $(60.2) $110.4 - $2,400.0
Comprehensive income (loss)

Net income - - 342.9 - 20.7 - 363.6

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax - - - 19.6 0.3 - 19.9
Comprehensive income (loss) - - 342.9 19.6 21.0 - 383.5
Dividends declared on common stock - - (148.7) - - - (148.7)
Issuance of common stock - 14.8 - - - - 14.8
Stock-based compensation - 5.8 - - - - 5.8
Contributions from noncontrolling interest partners - 74.4 - - 142.0 - 216.4
Distributions to noncontrolling interest partners - - - - (17.4) - (17.4)
Deferred income taxes attributable to contributions

from noncontrolling interest partners - (28.9) - - - (28.9)
Purchase of treasury stock - - - - - (6.2) (6.2)
Balance at December 31, 2011 $1.0 $1,034.3 $1,574.8 $(40.6) $256.0 $(6.2) $2,819.3
Comprehensive income (loss)

Net income - - 355.0 - 30.0 - 385.0

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax - - - (8.5) (3.5) - (12.0)
Comprehensive income (loss) - - 355.0 (8.5) 26.5 - 373.0
Dividends declared on common stock - - (157.4) - - - (157.4)
Issuance of common stock - 14.3 - - - - 14.3
Stock-based compensation and other - (8.7) - - (0.2) 6.1 (2.8)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest partners - 10.7 - - 35.5 - 46.2
Distributions to noncontrolling interest partners - - - - (12.6) - (12.6)
Deferred income taxes attributable to contributions

from noncontrolling interest partners - 4.2 - - - - 4.2
Purchase of treasury stock - - - - - (3.4) (3.4)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $1.0 $1,046.4  $1,772.4 $(49.1) $305.2  $(3.5) $3,072.4

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part hereof.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

The Company is an energy and energy services provider offering
physical delivery and related services for both electricity and natural
gas primarily in the south central United States. The Company conducts
these activities through three business segments: (i) electric utility, (ii)
natural gas transportation and storage and (jii) natural gas gathering
and processing. All significant intercompany transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The electric utility segment generates, transmits, distributes and
sells electric energy in Oklahoma and western Arkansas. Its operations
are conducted through OG&E and are subject to regulation by the OCC,
the APSC and the FERC. OG&E was incorporated in 1902 under the
laws of the Oklahoma Territory. OG&E is the largest electric utility in
Oklahoma and its franchised service territory includes the Fort Smith,
Arkansas area. OG&E sold its retail natural gas business in 1928 and
is no longer engaged in the natural gas distribution business.

Enogex is a provider of integrated natural gas midstream services.
Enogex is engaged in the business of gathering, processing, transport-
ing and storing natural gas. Most of Enogex’s natural gas gathering,
processing, transportation and storage assets are strategically located
in the Arkoma and Anadarko basins of Oklahoma and the Texas
Panhandle. During the third quarter of 2012, the operations and activities
of EER were fully integrated with those of Enogex through the creation
of a new commodity management organization. This new organization
is intended to facilitate the execution of Enogex’s strategy through an
enhanced focus on asset optimization and active management of its
growing natural gas, NGLs and condensate positions. The operations of
EER, including asset management activities, have been included in the
natural gas transportation and storage segment and have been restated
for all prior periods presented. Enogex’s operations are now organized
into two business segments: (i) natural gas transportation and storage
and (i) natural gas gathering and processing. At December 31, 2012,
OGE Energy indirectly owns a 79.9 percent membership interest in
Enogex Holdings, which in turn owns all of the membership interests in
Enogex LLC, a Delaware single-member limited liability company (see
Note 4). The Company consolidates Enogex Holdings in its Consolidated
Financial Statements as OGE Energy has a controlling financial interest
over the operations of Enogex Holdings. Also, Enogex LLC holds a
50 percent ownership interest in Atoka. The Company consolidates
Atoka in its Consolidated Financial Statements as Enogex acts as the

managing member of Atoka and has control over the operations of Atoka.

OGE Energy charges operating costs to its subsidiaries based on
several factors. Operating costs directly related to specific subsidiaries are
assigned to those subsidiaries. Where more than one subsidiary benefits
from certain expenditures, the costs are shared between those subsidiaries
receiving the benefits. Operating costs incurred for the benefit of all sub-
sidiaries are allocated among the subsidiaries, either as overhead based
primarily on labor costs or using the “Distrigas” method. The Distrigas
method is a three-factor formula that uses an equal weighting of payroll,
net operating revenues and gross property, plant and equipment. OGE
Energy adopted the Distrigas method in January 1996 as a result of a
recommendation by the OCC Staff. OGE Energy believes this method
provides a reasonable basis for allocating common expenses.

48 OGE Energy Corp.

Basis of Presentation

In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary to fairly present
the consolidated financial position of the Company at December 31,
2012 and 2011 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, have been included
and are of a normal recurring nature except as otherwise disclosed.

Accounting Records
The accounting records of OG&E are maintained in accordance with
the Uniform System of Accounts prescribed by the FERC and adopted
by the OCC and the APSC. Additionally, OG&E, as a regulated utility,
is subject to accounting principles for certain types of rate-regulated
activities, which provide that certain actual or anticipated costs that
would otherwise be charged to expense can be deferred as regulatory
assets, based on the expected recovery from customers in future rates.
Likewise, certain actual or anticipated credits that would otherwise reduce
expense can be deferred as regulatory liabilities, based on the expected
flowback to customers in future rates. Management’s expected recovery
of deferred costs and flowback of deferred credits generally results from
specific decisions by regulators granting such ratemaking treatment.
OG&E records certain actual or anticipated costs and obligations
as regulatory assets or liabilities if it is probable, based on regulatory
orders or other available evidence, that the cost or obligation will be
included in amounts allowable for recovery or refund in future rates.
The following table is a summary of OG&E’s regulatory assets and
liabilities at:

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011

Regulatory assets

Current
Crossroads wind farm rider under recovery® $ 14.9 $ 25
Oklahoma demand program rider under recovery® 9.2 8.1
Fuel clause under recoveries - 1.8
Other® 2.9 3.6
Total current regulatory assets $ 27.0 $ 16.0
Non-current
Benefit obligations regulatory asset $370.6 $359.2
Income taxes recoverable from customers, net 54.7 54.0
Smart Grid 42.8 37.2
Unamortized loss on reacquired debt 13.0 14.2
Deferred storm expenses 12.7 23.8
Deferred pension expenses 4.5 9.1
Other 12.3 10.4
Total non-current regulatory assets $510.6 $507.9
Regulatory Liabilities
Current
Fuel clause over recoveries $109.2 $ 7.7
Smart Grid rider over recovery®) 24.1 24.3
Other® 7.8 13.7
Total current regulatory liabilities $141.1 $ 457
Non-Current
Accrued removal obligations, net $218.2 $208.2
Deferred pension credits 17.7 -
Pension tracker 9.2 22.5
Total non-current regulatory liabilities $245.1 $230.7

(A) Included in Other Current Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(B) Included in Other Current Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.



OG&E recovers a return on the capital expenditures along with
operation and maintenance expense and depreciation expense related
to the Crossroads wind farm through a rider established by the OCC.
OG&E began recovery in the fourth quarter of 2011 and believes the
rider will continue until new rates are implemented in OG&E’s next
general rate case.

OG&E recovers program costs related to the Demand and Energy
Efficiency Program. An extension of the demand program rider was
approved in December 2012, which allows for the recovery of demand
program costs, lost revenues associated with any achieved energy,
demand savings and performance based incentives and the recovery of
costs associated with research and development investments through
December 2015.

Fuel clause under recoveries are generated from under recoveries
from OG&E’s customers when OG&E’s cost of fuel exceeds the amount
billed to its customers. Fuel clause over recoveries are generated from
over recoveries from OG&E’s customers when the amount billed to its
customers exceeds OG&E’s cost of fuel. OG&E’s fuel recovery clauses
are designed to smooth the impact of fuel price volatility on customers’
bills. As a result, OG&E under recovers fuel costs in periods of rising
fuel prices above the baseline charge for fuel and over recovers fuel
costs when prices decline below the baseline charge for fuel. Provisions
in the fuel clauses are intended to allow OG&E to amortize under and
over recovery balances.

The benefit obligations regulatory asset is comprised of expenses
recorded which are probable of future recovery and that have not yet
been recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost, including
net loss, prior service cost and net transition obligation. These expenses
were allowed to be recorded as a regulatory asset as OG&E had histori-
cally recovered and currently recovers pension and postretirement
benefit plan expense in its electric rates and there was no negative
evidence that the existing regulatory treatment would change. If, in the
future, the regulatory bodies indicate a change in policy related to the
recovery of pension and postretirement benefit plan expenses, this
could cause the benefit obligations regulatory asset balance to be
reclassified to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.

The following table is a summary of the components of the benefit
obligations regulatory asset at:

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011

Pension plan and restoration

of retirement income plan:

Net loss $278.6 $266.3

Prior service cost 4.5 7.0

Postretirement plans:

Net loss 134.6 144.2

Prior service cost (47.1) (60.8)

Net transition obligation - 2.5
Total $370.6 $359.2

The following amounts in the benefit obligations regulatory asset at
December 31, 2012 are expected to be recognized as components of
net periodic benefit cost in 2013:

(In millions)

Pension plan and restoration
of retirement income plan:

Net loss $19.8

Prior service cost 2.0

Postretirement plans:

Net loss 18.1

Prior service cost (13.7)
Total $26.2

Income taxes recoverable from customers, which represents
income tax benefits previously used to reduce OG&E’s revenues, are
treated as regulatory assets and liabilities and are being amortized over
the estimated remaining life of the assets to which they relate. These
amounts are being recovered in rates as the temporary differences that
generated the income tax benefit turn around. The income tax related
regulatory assets and liabilities are netted in Income Taxes Recoverable
from Customers, Net in the regulatory assets and liabilities table above.

OG&E recovers the cost of system-wide deployment of smart grid
technology and implementing the smart grid pilot program, the incremen-
tal costs for web portal access, education and providing home energy
reports and stranded costs associated with OG&E’s existing meters.
The costs recoverable from Oklahoma customers for system-wide
deployment of smart grid technology and implementing the smart grid
pilot program were capped at $366.4 million (inclusive of the U.S.
Department of Energy grant award amount) subject to an offset for any
recovery of those costs from Arkansas customers and are currently
being recovered through a rider which will remain in effect until the
smart grid project costs are included in base rates in OG&E’s next
general rate case. This project was completed in late 2012 and the
smart grid project costs did not exceed $366.4 million. The incremental
costs for web portal access, education and home energy reports are
capped at $6.9 million and will be recovered in base rates in OG&E’s
next general rate case. The stranded costs associated with OG&E’s
existing meters, which have been replaced by smart meters, were accu-
mulated during the smart grid deployment and recovery of the stranded
costs will be included in future rate cases. OG&E began recovering the
estimated capital costs of $14 million and associated operation and
maintenance costs for deployment of smart grid technology, along with
incremental costs for web portal access and education of $0.8 million,
through a rider beginning with the first billing cycle in January 2013
through December 2013.

OG&E defers the Oklahoma storm-related operation and maintenance
expenses in excess of $2.7 million and reserves for any Oklahoma storm-
related operation and maintenance expenses less than $2.7 million.
OG&E will recover the deferred amounts over a five-year period ending
in August 2017.
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Unamortized loss on reacquired debt is comprised of unamortized
debt issuance costs related to the early retirement of OG&E’s long-term
debt. These amounts are being amortized over the term of the long-term
debt which replaced the previous long-term debt. The unamortized loss
on reacquired debt is not included in OG&E’s rate base and does not
otherwise earn a rate of return.

OG&E recovers specific amounts of pension and postretirement
medical costs in rates approved in its Oklahoma rate cases. In accor-
dance with approved orders, OG&E defers the difference between actual
pension and postretirement medical expenses and the amount approved
in its last Oklahoma rate case as a regulatory asset or regulatory liability.
These amounts have been recorded in Pension tracker regulatory liability
in the regulatory assets and liabilities table above.

In July 2009, OG&E was allowed to recover previously deferred
pension costs over a four-year period ending in August 2013. OG&E
also recovers its 2006 and 2007 pension settlement costs in Arkansas,
which are being amortized over a 10-year period ending in January
2020. Both the Oklahoma and Arkansas pension plan expenses are
reflected in Deferred Pension expenses asset in the regulatory assets
and liabilities table above.

In September 2011, OG&E was allowed to include postretirement
medical expenses in its pension tracker. In August 2012, OG&E was
allowed to recover pension and postretirement medical expenses over a
two-year period ending July 2014 which is included in Deferred Pension
credits liability in the regulatory assets and liabilities table above.

Accrued removal obligations represent asset retirement costs
previously recovered from ratepayers for other than legal obligations.

Management continuously monitors the future recoverability of
regulatory assets. When in management’s judgment future recovery
becomes impaired, the amount of the regulatory asset is adjusted, as
appropriate. If OG&E were required to discontinue the application of
accounting principles for certain types of rate-regulated activities for
some or all of its operations, it could result in writing off the related
regulatory assets, which could have significant financial effects.

Use of Estimates

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, management is
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and contingent liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Changes to these assumptions and estimates
could have a material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. However, the Company believes it has taken reasonable,
but conservative, positions where assumptions and estimates are used
in order to minimize the negative financial impact to the Company that
could result if actual results vary from the assumptions and estimates.
In management’s opinion, the areas of the Company where the most
significant judgment is exercised for all Company segments includes
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the determination of Pension Plan assumptions, impairment estimates
of long-lived assets (including intangible assets), income taxes, contin-
gency reserves, asset retirement obligations, fair value and cash flow
hedges and the allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable. For the
electric utility segment, the most significant judgment is also exercised
in the valuation of regulatory assets and liabilities and unbilled revenues.
For the natural gas transportation and storage segment and the natural
gas gathering and processing segment, the most significant judgment
is also exercised in the valuation of operating revenues, natural gas pur-
chases, purchase and sale contracts, assets and depreciable lives of
property, plant and equipment, amortization methodologies related to
intangible assets and impairment assessments of goodwill.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company
considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. These invest-
ments are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable

For OG&E, customer balances are generally written off if not collected
within six months after the final billing date. The allowance for uncol-
lectible accounts receivable for OG&E is calculated by multiplying the
last six months of electric revenue by the provision rate. The provision
rate is based on a 12-month historical average of actual balances written
off. To the extent the historical collection rates are not representative of
future collections, there could be an effect on the amount of uncollectible
expense recognized. Also, a portion of the uncollectible provision related
to fuel is being recovered through the fuel adjustment clause. The
allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable for Enogex is calculated
based on outstanding accounts receivable balances over 180 days old.
In addition, other outstanding accounts receivable balances less than
180 days old are reserved on a case-by-case basis when Enogex
believes the collection of specific amounts owed is unlikely to occur.
The allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable was $2.6 million
and $3.8 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

For OG&E, new business customers are required to provide a
security deposit in the form of cash, bond or irrevocable letter of credit
that is refunded when the account is closed. New residential customers,
whose outside credit scores indicate risk, are required to provide a
security deposit that is refunded based on customer protection rules
defined by the OCC and the APSC. The payment behavior of all exist-
ing customers is continuously monitored and, if the payment behavior
indicates sufficient risk within the meaning of the applicable utility
regulation, customers will be required to provide a security deposit.

For Enogex, credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Enogex if
counterparties fail to perform their contractual obligations. Enogex
maintains credit policies with regard to its counterparties that manage-
ment believes minimize overall credit risk. These policies include the



evaluation of a potential counterparty’s financial position (including credit
rating, if available), collateral requirements under certain circumstances,
the use of standardized agreements which provide for the netting of
cash flows associated with a single counterparty and the monitoring of
the financial position of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis.

Fuel Inventories

OG&E

Fuel inventories for the generation of electricity consist of coal, natural
gas and oil. OG&E uses the weighted-average cost method of account-
ing for inventory that is physically added to or withdrawn from storage
or stockpiles. The amount of fuel inventory was $76.8 million and
$76.9 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Enogex

Natural gas inventory is held by Enogex, through its transportation and
storage business, to provide operational support for its pipeline deliver-
ies and to manage its leased storage capacity. In an effort to mitigate
market price exposures, Enogex may enter into contracts or hedging
instruments to protect the cash flows associated with its inventory. All
natural gas inventory held by Enogex is valued using moving average
cost and is recorded at the lower of cost or market. As part of its asset
management activity, Enogex injects and withdraws natural gas into
and out of inventory under the terms of its storage capacity contracts.
During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, Enogex
recorded write-downs to market value related to natural gas storage
inventory of $5.5 million, $4.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
The amount of Enogex’s natural gas inventory was $16.5 million and
$23.7 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The cost of
gas associated with sales of natural gas storage inventory is presented
in Cost of Goods Sold on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Gas Imbalances

OG&E

Gas imbalances occur when the actual amounts of natural gas delivered
from or received by OG&E differ from the amounts scheduled to be
delivered or received. OG&E values all imbalances at an average of
current market indices applicable to OG&E’s operations, not to exceed
net realizable value.

Enogex

Gas imbalances occur when the actual amounts of natural gas delivered
from or received by Enogex’s pipeline system differ from the amounts
scheduled to be delivered or received. Imbalances are due to or due
from shippers and operators and can be settled in cash or made up
in-kind depending on contractual terms. Enogex values all imbalances
at an average of current market indices applicable to Enogex’s opera-
tions, not to exceed net realizable value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

OG&E

All property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Newly constructed
plant is added to plant balances at cost which includes contracted
services, direct labor, materials, overhead, transportation costs and the
allowance for funds used during construction. Replacements of units of
property are capitalized as plant. For assets that belong to a common
plant account, the replaced plant is removed from plant balances and
the cost of such property is charged to Accumulated Depreciation.
For assets that do not belong to a common plant account, the replaced
plant is removed from plant balances with the related accumulated
depreciation and the remaining balance net of any salvage proceeds
is recorded as a loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income as
Other Expense. Repair and replacement of minor items of property are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Income as Other Operation
and Maintenance Expense.

The table below presents OG&E’s ownership interest in the jointly-
owned McClain Plant and the jointly-owned Redbud Plant, and, as
disclosed below, only OG&E’s ownership interest is reflected in the
property, plant and equipment and accumulated depreciation balances
in these tables. The owners of the remaining interests in the McClain
Plant and the Redbud Plant are responsible for providing their own
financing of capital expenditures. Also, only OG&E’s proportionate inter-
ests of any direct expenses of the McClain Plant and the Redbud Plant
such as fuel, maintenance expense and other operating expenses are
included in the applicable financial statement captions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income.

Total Property, Net Property,

Percentage Plant and Accumulated Plant and
(In millions, December 31) Ownership Equipment  Depreciation Equipment
2012
McClain Plant 77% $182.1 $56.3 $125.8
Redbud Plant® 51% $458.5 $69.5 $389.0

(A) This amount includes a plant acquisition adjustment of $148.3 million and accumulated
amortization of $23.3 million.

Enogex

All property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Newly constructed
plant is added to plant balances at cost which includes contracted serv-
ices, direct labor, materials, overhead, transportation costs and capitalized
interest. Replacements of units of property are capitalized as plant. For
assets that belong to a common plant account, the replaced plant is
removed from plant balances and charged to Accumulated Depreciation.
For assets that do not belong to a common plant account, the replaced
plant is removed from plant balances with the related accumulated
depreciation and the remaining balance net of any salvage proceeds is
recorded as a loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income as Other
Expense. Repair and removal costs are included in the Consolidated
Statements of Income as Other Operation and Maintenance Expense.
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Enogex Cox City Plant Fire
On December 8, 2010, a fire occurred at Enogex’s Cox City natural
gas processing plant destroying major components of one of the four
processing trains, representing 120 MMcf/d of the total 180 MMcf/d
of capacity, at that facility. The damaged train was replaced and the
facility was returned to full service in September 2011. The total cost
necessary to return the facility back to full service was $29.6 million.
In the fourth quarter of 2011, Enogex received a partial insurance reim-
bursement of $7.4 million and recognized a gain of $3.0 million on
insurance proceeds. In March 2012, Enogex reached a settlement
agreement with its insurers in this matter. As a result of the settlement
agreement, Enogex received additional reimbursements of $7.6 million
and recognized a gain of $7.5 million on insurance proceeds in 2012.
In a period in which the Company has an event that results in the
recognition of a material gain or loss on an event that is covered by
insurance proceeds, the Company records an impairment loss for the
book value of the damaged asset and an offsetting gain for insurance
proceeds if recovery of the loss is considered probable. To the extent
proceeds from an insurance settlement exceed recognized losses, the
Company records a gain on insurance proceeds in earnings as the
receipts of proceeds are determined to be probable.

OGE Energy Consolidated
The Company’s property, plant and equipment and related accumulated
depreciation are divided into the following major classes at:

Total Property,

Net Property,

Plant and Accumulated Plant and
(In millions, December 31) Equipment  Depreciation Equipment
2011
OGE Energy (holding company)
Property, plant and equipment $ 124.6 $ 90.6 $ 34.0
OGE Energy property,
plant and equipment 124.6 90.6 34.0
OG&E
Distribution assets 2,981.3 920.3 2,061.0
Electric generation assets® 3,360.6 1,215.8 2,144.8
Transmission assets®) 1,464.2 339.6 1,124.6
Intangible plant 43.2 20.3 229
Other property and equipment 293.9 96.3 197.6
OG&E property,
plant and equipment 8,143.2 2,592.3 5,5650.9
Enogex
Natural gas transportation
and storage assets 967.0 277.0 690.0
Natural gas gathering
and processing assets 1,580.1 381.0 1,199.1
Enogex property,
plant and equipment 2,547.1 658.0 1,889.1
Total property,
plant and equipment $10,814.9 $3,340.9 $7,474.0

(A) This amount includes a plant acquisition adjustment of $148.3 million and accumulated

amortization of $17.9 million.

(B) This amount includes a plant acquisition adjustment of $3.3 million and accumulated

amortization of $0.2 million.

Total Property,

Net Property,

Plant and Accumulated Plant and
(In millions, December 31) Equipment  Depreciation Equipment
2012
OGE Energy (holding company)
Property, plant and equipment $ 14241 $ 103.2 $ 389
OGE Energy property,
plant and equipment 1421 103.2 38.9
OG&E
Distribution assets 3,222.7 969.6 2,253.1
Electric generation assets® 3,446.6 1,242.4 2,204.2
Transmission assets® 1.712.6 359.8 1,352.8
Intangible plant 50.2 25.0 25.2
Other property and equipment 317.6 108.8 208.8
OG&E property,
plant and equipment 8,749.7 2,705.6 6,044.1
Enogex
Natural gas transportation
and storage assets 988.6 292.7 695.9
Natural gas gathering
and processing assets 2,011.5 445.6 1,565.9
Enogex property,
plant and equipment 3,000.1 738.3 2,261.8
Total property,
plant and equipment $11,891.9 $3,547.1 $8,344.8

(A) This amount includes a plant acquisition adjustment of $148.3 million and accumulated

amortization of $23.3 million.

(B) This amount includes a plant acquisition adjustment of $3.3 million and accumulated

amortization of $0.3 million.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s unamortized
computer software costs.

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011
OGE Energy (holding company) $11.6 $14.0
OG&E 17.6 6.7
Enogex 3.9 4.4
Total $33.1 $25.1
The following table summarized the Company’s amortization
expense for computer software costs.
(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
OGE Energy (holding company) $ 6.8 $6.4 $ 53
OG&E 4.2 1.8 2.6
Enogex 3.1 1.0 22
Total $14.1 $9.2 $10.1

Intangible Assets

Enogex

The following table below summarizes Enogex’s intangible assets and
related accumulated amortization at:

Total Net

Intangible Accumulated Intangible

(In millions) Assets  Amortization Assets
December 31, 2012

Customer contract/acreage dedication $141.9 $14.5 $127.4
December 31, 2011

Customer contract/acreage dedication ~ $141.9 $ 49 $137.0




In 2012, 2011 and 2010, amortization expense for intangible assets
was $9.6 million, $2.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, including
amortization of certain customer-based intangible assets associated
with the acquisition from Cordillera in November 2011, which is
included in gross margin for financial reporting purposes.

The following table summarizes Enogex’s expected amortization of
intangible assets for each of the next five years.

(In millions) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Expected amortization
of intangible assets $9.5 $9.5 $9.5 $9.5 $9.1

Depreciation and Amortization

OG&E

The provision for depreciation, which was 3.0 percent and 2.9 percent,
respectively, of the average depreciable utility plant for 2012 and 2011,
is provided on a straight-line method over the estimated service life of
the utility assets. Depreciation is provided at the unit level for production
plant and at the account or sub-account level for all other plant, and is
based on the average life group method. Amortization of intangible assets
is computed using the straight-line method. Of the remaining amortizable
intangible plant balance at December 31, 2012, 92.4 percent will be
amortized over 9.25 years with 7.6 percent of the remaining amortizable
intangible plant balance at December 31, 2012 being amortized over
their respective lives ranging from three to five years. Amortization of
plant acquisition adjustments is provided on a straight-line basis over
the estimated remaining service life of the acquired asset. Plant acqui-
sition adjustments include $148.3 million for the Redbud Plant, which
are being amortized over a 27-year life and $3.3 million for certain sub-
station facilities in OG&E’s service territory, which are being amortized
over a 26 to 59-year period.

Enogex

For Enogex, depreciation is computed principally on the straight-line
method using estimated useful lives of three to 83 years for transporta-
tion and storage assets, three to 30 years for gathering and processing
assets and three to 15 years for general plant assets. Amortization of
intangible assets other than debt costs is computed using the straight-
line method over the respective lives of the intangible assets ranging
up to 20 years.

The computation of depreciation expense requires judgment
regarding the estimated useful lives and salvage value of assets at the
time the assets are placed in service. As circumstances warrant, useful
lives are adjusted when changes in planned use, changes in estimated
production lives of affiliated natural gas basins or other factors indicate
that a different life would be more appropriate. Such changes could
materially impact future depreciation expense. Changes in useful lives
that do not result in the impairment of an asset are recognized prospec-
tively. The computation of amortization expense on intangible assets
requires judgment regarding the amortization method used. Intangible
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives using
a method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic
benefits of the intangible asset are consumed.

Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company has previously recorded asset retirement obligations
that are being amortized over their respective lives ranging from three
months to 74 years. The Company also has certain asset retirement
obligations primarily related to Enogex’s processing plants and com-
pression sites that have not been recorded because the Company
cannot determine when these obligations will be incurred.

The following table summarizes changes to the Company’s asset
retirement obligations during the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011.

(In millions) 2012 2011
Balance at January 1 $24.8 $11.1
Liabilities incurred ® 0.4 13.0
Accretion expense 1.9 0.7
Revisions in estimated cash flows®) 26.9 -
Balance at December 31 $54.0 $24.8

(A) Due to certain Enogex compression assets in 2012 and OG&E’s Crossroads wind farm in 2011.

(B) Due to changes to OG&E’s asset retirement obligations related to its wind farms due to a
change in the assumption related to the timing of removal used in the valuation of the asset
retirement obligations.

Assessing Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

(Including Intangible Assets) and Goodwill

The Company assesses its long-lived assets, including intangible assets
with finite useful lives, for impairment when there is evidence that events
or changes in circumstances require an analysis of the recoverability of
an asset’s carrying amount. Estimates of future cash flows used to test
the recoverability of long-lived assets and intangible assets shall include
only the future cash flows (cash inflows less associated cash outflows)
that are directly associated with and that are expected to arise as a
direct result of the use and eventual disposition of the asset. The fair
value of these assets is based on third-party evaluations, prices for
similar assets, historical data and projected cash flows. An impairment
loss is recognized when the sum of the expected future net cash flows
is less than the carrying amount of the asset. The amount of any recog-
nized impairment is based on the estimated fair value of the asset
subject to impairment compared to the carrying amount of such asset.
In 2011, the Company recorded a pre-tax impairment loss of $5.0 mil-
lion, of which $2.5 million was the noncontrolling interest portion (see
Note 5), related to the Atoka processing plant. The Company recorded
no other material impairments in 2012, 2011 or 2010.

As a result of the gas gathering acquisitions in November 2011,
Enogex recorded goodwill of $39.4 million. Enogex assesses its goodwill
for impairment at least annually as of October 1 by comparing the fair
value of the reporting unit with its book value, including goodwill. Enogex
utilizes the income approach (generally accepted valuation approach)
to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit, also giving consideration
to alternative methods such as the market and cost approaches. Under
the income approach, anticipated cash flows over a period of years
plus a terminal value are discounted to present value using appropriate
discount rates. Enogex performs its goodwill impairment testing at the
natural gas gathering and processing segment reporting unit level.
Enogex recorded no impairments of goodwill in 2012.
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Allowance for Funds Used During Construction

For OG&E, allowance for funds used during construction is calculated
according to the FERC pronouncements for the imputed cost of equity
and borrowed funds. Allowance for funds used during construction, a
non-cash item, is reflected as an increase to net other income and a
reduction to interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income
and as an increase to Construction Work in Progress in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Allowance for funds used during construction rates,
compounded semi-annually, were 8.93 percent, 8.71 percent and
8.89 percent for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The increase in the allowance for funds used during con-
struction rates in 2012 was primarily due to an increase in commercial
paper fees in 2012 which resulted in an increase in the cost of short-
term debt borrowings.

Collection of Sales Tax

In the normal course of its operations, OG&E collects sales tax from its
customers. OG&E records a current liability for sales taxes when it bills
its customers and eliminates this liability when the taxes are remitted to
the appropriate governmental authorities. OG&E excludes the sales tax
collected from its operating revenues.

Revenue Recognition

OG&E

General. OG&E reads its customers’ meters and sends bills to its
customers throughout each month. As a result, there is a significant
amount of customers’ electricity consumption that has not been billed
at the end of each month. Unbilled revenue is presented in Accrued
Unbilled Revenues on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Operating
Revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Income based on estimates
of usage and prices during the period. The estimates that management
uses in this calculation could vary from the actual amounts to be paid
by customers.

SPP Purchases and Sales. OG&E participates in the SPP energy
imbalance service market in a dual role as a load serving entity and as
a generation owner. The energy imbalance service market requires cash
settlements for over or under schedules of generation and load. Market
participants, including OG&E, are required to submit resource plans and
can submit offer curves for each resource available for dispatch. A
function of interchange accounting is to match participants’ MWH enti-
tlements (generation plus scheduled bilateral purchases) against their
MWH obligations (load plus scheduled bilateral sales) during every hour
of every day. If the net result during any given hour is an entitlement,
the participant is credited with a spot-market sale to the SPP at the
respective market price for that hour; if the net result is an obligation,
the participant is charged with a spot-market purchase from the SPP at
the respective market price for that hour. The SPP purchases and sales
are not allocated to individual customers. OG&E records the hourly
sales to the SPP at market rates in Operating Revenues and the hourly
purchases from the SPP at market rates in Cost of Goods Sold in its
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Enogex

Operating revenues for gathering, processing, transportation and
storage services for Enogex are recorded each month based on the
current month’s estimated volumes, contracted prices (considering
current commodity prices), historical seasonal fluctuations and any
known adjustments. The estimates are reversed in the following month
and customers are billed on actual volumes and contracted prices.
Gas sales are calculated on current-month nominations and contracted
prices. Operating revenues associated with the production of NGLs are
estimated based on current-month estimated production and contracted
prices. These amounts are reversed in the following month and the
customers are billed on actual production and contracted prices.
Estimated operating revenues are reflected in Accounts Receivable on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Operating Revenues on the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Enogex’s key natural gas producer
customers in 2012 included Chesapeake Energy Marketing Inc., Apache
Corporation and Devon Energy Production Company, L.P. In 2012, these
customers accounted for 19.6 percent, 17.8 percent and 10.6 percent,
respectively, of Enogex’s gathering and processing volumes. In 2012,
Enogex’s top 10 natural gas producer customers accounted for 73.0 per-
cent of Enogex’s gathering and processing volumes.

Enogex recognizes revenue from natural gas gathering, processing,
transportation and storage services to third parties as services are
provided. Revenue associated with NGLs is recognized when the pro-
duction is sold. Enogex depends on third-party facilities to transport
and fractionate NGLs that it delivers to third parties at the inlet of their
facilities. Additionally, one third party purchases 50 percent of the NGLs
delivered to its system, which accounted for $297.3 million (43.3 per-
cent), $285.4 million (38.8 percent) and $279.8 million (46.0 percent),
respectively, of Enogex’s total NGLs sales for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Enogex records deferred revenue when it receives consideration
from a third party before achieving certain criteria that must be met for
revenue to be recognized in accordance with GAAP. In August 2010,
Enogex completed construction of transportation and compression
facilities necessary to provide gas delivery service to a new natural gas-
fired electric generation facility near Pryor, Oklahoma. Aid in Construction
payments of $36.4 million received in excess of construction costs were
recognized as Deferred Revenues on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet and are being amortized on a straight-line basis of
$1.2 million per year over the life of the related firm transportation service
agreement under which service commenced in June 2011. Also, in
August 2011, Enogex and one of its five largest customers entered into
new agreements, effective July 1, 2011, relating to the customer’s natural
gas gathering and processing volumes on the Oklahoma portion of
Enogex’s system. As a result, Enogex has recorded $7.1 million in
Deferred Revenues on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
at December 31, 2012, which are expected to be recognized based on
the estimated average fee per MMBtu processed by the end of 2014.
Enogex has also recorded $1.5 million in Deferred Revenues on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012 in
connection with other gathering and processing agreements.



Enogex engages in asset management and hedging activities
related to the purchase and sale of natural gas and NGLs. Contracts
utilized in these activities generally include purchases and sales for
physical delivery, over-the-counter forward swap and options contracts
and exchange traded futures and options. Enogex’s transactions that
qualify as derivatives are reflected at fair value with the resulting unreal-
ized gains and losses recorded as PRM Assets or Liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, classified as current or long-term based on
their anticipated settlement, or against the brokerage deposits in Other
Current Assets. The offsetting unrealized gains and losses from changes
in the market value of open contracts are included in Operating Revenues
in the Consolidated Statements of Income or in Other Comprehensive
Income for derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges.
Contracts resulting in delivery of a commaodity are included as sales or
purchases in the Consolidated Statements of Income as Operating
Revenues or Cost of Goods Sold depending on whether the contract
relates to the sale or purchase of the commodity.

Estimates for gas purchases are based on estimated volumes and
contracted purchase prices. Estimated gas purchases are included in
Accounts Payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Cost of
Goods Sold on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Normal purchases and normal sales contracts are not recorded in
PRM Assets or Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and earn-
ings recognition is recorded in the period in which physical delivery of
the commodity occurs. Management applies normal purchases and
normal sales treatment to: (i) commodity contracts for the purchase and
sale of natural gas used in or produced by Enogex’s operations and (ii)
commodity contracts for the purchase and sale of NGLs produced by
Enogex’s gathering and processing business.

Fuel Adjustment Clauses

Variances in the actual cost of fuel used in electric generation and
certain purchased power costs, as compared to the fuel component
included in the cost-of-service for ratemaking, are passed through to
OG&E’s customers through fuel adjustment clauses. The fuel adjust-
ment clauses are subject to periodic review by the OCC, the APSC and
the FERC. The OCC, the APSC and the FERC have authority to review
the appropriateness of gas transportation charges or other fees OG&E
pays to Enogex.

Income Taxes

The Company files consolidated income tax returns in the U.S. Federal
jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. Income taxes are generally
allocated to each company in the affiliated group based on its stand-
alone taxable income or loss. Federal investment tax credits previously
claimed on electric utility property have been deferred and are being
amortized to income over the life of the related property. The Company
uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.
Under this method, a deferred tax asset or liability is recognized for
the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary differences
between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of assets and

liabilities as well as tax credit carry forwards and net operating loss
carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in the period of the change. The Company
recognizes interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest
expense and recognizes penalties in other expense.

Accrued Vacation

The Company accrues vacation pay monthly by establishing a liability
for vacation earned. Vacation may be taken as earned and is charged
against the liability. At the end of each year, the liability represents the
amount of vacation earned, but not taken.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table summarizes the components of accumulated other
comprehensive loss at December 31, 2012 and 2011 attributable to
OGE Energy. At both December 31, 2012 and 2011, there was no accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss related to Enogex’s noncontrolling
interest in Atoka.

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011
Pension plan and restoration
of retirement income plan:
Net loss $(49.3) $(42.1)
Prior service cost 0.1 0.1)
Postretirement plans:
Net loss (15.7) (15.4)
Prior service cost 7.2 9.0
Net transition obligation - 0.1)
Deferred commodity contracts hedging gains 0.1 3.3
Deferred interest rate swap hedging losses (0.5) 0.7)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss (58.1) (46.1)
Less: Accumulated other comprehensive loss
attributable to noncontrolling interests (9.0) (5.5)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss,
net of tax $(49.1) $(40.6)

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss at
December 31, 2012 that are expected to be recognized into earnings
in 2013 are as follows:

(In millions)

Pension plan and restoration

of retirement income plan:

Net loss $3.3
Prior service cost 0.1

Postretirement plans:
Net loss 2.0
Prior service cost

Deferred commodity contracts hedging gains 0.1
Deferred interest rate swap hedging losses 0.2)
Total, net of tax $3.5
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Environmental Costs

Accruals for environmental costs are recognized when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be
reasonably estimated. Costs are charged to expense or deferred as a
regulatory asset based on expected recovery from customers in future
rates, if they relate to the remediation of conditions caused by past
operations or if they are not expected to mitigate or prevent contamina-
tion from future operations. Where environmental expenditures relate to
facilities currently in use, such as pollution control equipment, the costs
may be capitalized and depreciated over the future service periods.
Estimated remediation costs are recorded at undiscounted amounts,
independent of any insurance or rate recovery, based on prior experi-
ence, assessments and current technology. Accrued obligations are
regularly adjusted as environmental assessments and estimates are
revised, and remediation efforts proceed. For sites where OG&E or
Enogex have been designated as one of several potentially responsible
parties, the amount accrued represents OG&E’s or Enogex’s estimated
share of the cost. The Company had $5.8 million and $5.5 million in
accrued environmental liabilities at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, which are included in the summary of asset retirement
obligations above.

Reclassifications

As discussed in Note 15, during the third quarter of 2012, the operations
and activities of EER were fully integrated with those of Enogex
through the creation of a new commodity management organization.
The operations of EER, including asset management activities, have
been included in the natural gas transportation and storage segment
and have been restated for all prior periods presented to conform to
the 2012 presentation.

2. Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
“Balance Sheet: Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.”
The new standard requires entities to disclose information about finan-
cial instruments and derivative instruments that are either offset on the
balance sheet or are subject to a master netting arrangement, including
providing both gross information and net information for recognized
assets and liabilities, the net amounts presented on an entity’s balance
sheet and a description of the rights of setoff associated with these
assets and liabilities. The new standard is applicable for all entities that
have financial instruments and derivative instruments shown using a
net presentation on an entity’s balance sheet or are subject to a master
netting arrangement. On January 31, 2013, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board issued an update to this standard clarifying that the
scope includes derivatives, including bifurcated embedded derivatives,
repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and secu-
rities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are either offset
or are subject to a master netting arrangement or similar agreement.
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The new standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods
for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and is required
to be applied retrospectively for all periods presented. The Company
adopted this new standard effective January 1, 2013 and will provide
any additional disclosures necessary to comply with the new standard
in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued “Comprehensive Income: Reporting of Amounts Reclassified
Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.” The new standard
requires an entity to provide information about the amounts reclassified
out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In
addition, the new standard requires an entity to present, either on the
face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes,
significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehen-
sive income by the respective line items in net income but only if the
amount reclassified is required under GAAP to be reclassified to net
income in its entirety in the same reporting period. For other amounts
that are not required under GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to
net income, an entity is required to cross-reference to other disclosures
required under GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts.
The new standard is applicable for all entities that issue financial state-
ments that are presented in conformity with GAAP and that report
items of other comprehensive income. The new standard is effective
for interim and annual reporting periods for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2012 and is required to be applied prospectively. The
Company adopted this new standard effective January 1, 2013 and will
provide any additional disclosures necessary to comply with the new
standard in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

3. Gas Gathering and Processing Acquisitions and Divestitures
Western Oklahoma Gathering Acquisition

On September 23, 2011, Enogex entered into the following agreements:
an agreement with Cordillera, Oxbow Midstream, LLC (“Oxbow”) and
West Canadian Midstream LLC pursuant to which Enogex agreed to
acquire 100 percent of the membership interest in Roger Mills Gas
Gathering, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company that owns an
approximately 60-mile natural gas gathering system located in Roger
Mills County and Ellis County, Oklahoma; an agreement with Cordillera
and Oxbow pursuant to which Enogex agreed to acquire an approxi-
mately 30-mile natural gas gathering system located in Roger Mills
County, Oklahoma; and agreements with Cordillera and other producers
pursuant to which such producers agreed to provide Enogex with long-
term acreage dedication in the area served by the gathering systems
encompassing approximately 100,000 net acres. The gathering systems
are located in the Granite Wash area. The aggregate purchase price for
these transactions was $200.4 million which was paid in cash primarily
from contributions from OGE Energy and the ArcLight group as well as
cash generated from operations and bank borrowings. The transactions
closed on November 1, 2011.



The acquisition described above was accounted for as a business
combination. The following table summarizes the purchase price alloca-
tion for this acquisition.

(In millions)

Current assets $ 5.4

Net property, plant and equipment 243

Intangible assets 136.3

Goodwill 39.4

Current liabilities assumed (5.0
Total $200.4

The goodwill recognized from this acquisition primarily related to the
benefits associated with combining the acquired assets with Enogex’s
existing assets and operations. All of the goodwill is deductible for tax
purposes. The transactions have provided Enogex with key new oppor-
tunities in the Granite Wash area. The goodwill has been recorded in
the natural gas gathering and processing segment. At December 31,
2012 and 2011, there were no changes in the recognized amount of
goodwill resulting from this acquisition, as discussed in Note 1.

Intangible assets consist of identifiable customer contracts and
relationships. The acquired intangible assets are being amortized on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 15 years. The net
amount of intangible assets and related accumulated amortization was
$125.7 million and $10.6 million at December 31, 2012 and $134.8 mil-
lion and $1.5 million at December 31, 2011, respectively.

Granite Wash Gathering Acquisition
On August 1, 2012, Enogex entered into agreements with Chesapeake
Midstream Gas Services, L.L.C. and Mid-America Midstream Gas
Services, L.L.C., wholly-owned subsidiaries of Access Midstream
Partners, L.P. and Chesapeake Midstream Development, L.P., respec-
tively, pursuant to which Enogex agreed to acquire approximately 235
miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, right-of-ways and certain other
midstream assets that provide natural gas gathering services in the
greater Granite Wash area. The transactions closed on August 31, 2012.
The aggregate purchase price for these transactions was approximately
$78.6 million including reimbursement for certain permitted capital
expenditures incurred during the period beginning June 1, 2012 and
ending August 31, 2012. Enogex utilized cash generated from opera-
tions and bank borrowings to fund the purchase. In addition, Enogex
also incurred acquisition-related costs of $3.5 million for sales taxes
on acquired assets, which are included in taxes other than income.
The acquisition described above was accounted for as a business
combination. The purchase price is preliminary and has been allocated
to property, plant and equipment based on the estimated fair values at
the acquisition date using a third-party valuation expert. This allocation
may change in subsequent financial statements. Enogex is currently
evaluating the preliminary purchase price allocation, which will be
adjusted as additional information relative to the fair value of assets
becomes available. Enogex expects the purchase price allocations to
be completed by the end of the first quarter of 2013.

In connection with these agreements, Enogex entered into a
gas gathering and processing agreement with Chesapeake effective
September 1, 2012 pursuant to which Enogex began providing fee-based
natural gas gathering, compression, processing and transportation
services to Chesapeake with respect to certain acreage dedicated
by Chesapeake.

Texas Panhandle Gathering Divestiture

On January 2, 2013, Enogex and one of its five largest customers
entered into new agreements, effective January 1, 2013, relating to

the customer’s gathering and processing volumes on the Texas portion
of Enogex’s system. The effects of this new arrangement are (i) a fixed
fee processing agreement replaces the previous keep-whole agreement,
(ii) the acreage dedicated by the customer to Enogex for gathering and
processing in Texas has been increased for an extended term and

(iii) the sale by Enogex of certain gas gathering assets in the Texas
Panhandle portion of Enogex’s system to this customer for cash proceeds
of approximately $35 million. The sale of these assets was approved

by the Company’s and Enogex’s Board of Directors in November 2012,
therefore these assets were classified as held for sale on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012. Enogex expects to
recognize a pre-tax gain of approximately $10 million in the first quarter
of 2013 in its natural gas gathering and processing segment from the
sale of these assets.

Harrah Gathering and Processing Divestiture

On April 1, 2011, Enogex completed the sale of its Harrah processing
plant (38 MMcf/d of capacity) and the associated Wellston and Davenport
gathering assets. The proceeds from the sale were $15.9 million and
Enogex recorded a pre-tax gain in the second quarter of 2011 of

$3.7 million in its natural gas gathering and processing segment.

4. Noncontrolling Interests
The following table summarizes changes in OGE Holdings’ and the
ArcLight group’s membership interest in Enogex Holdings in 2012.

OGE ArcLight
(In millions) Holdings Group Total
Balance at December 31, 2011 (units) 93.8 21.6 115.4
Ownership percentage at
December 31, 2011 81.3% 18.7%  100.0%

Issuance of 5,294,118 units of Enogex Holdings® 2.7 2.6 5.3

Balance at December 31, 2012 (units) 96.5 24.2 120.7
Ownership percentage at
December 31, 2012 79.9% 20.1%  100.0%

(A) Effective October 1, 2012, OGE Energy and the ArcLight group made contributions to Enogex
Holdings of $45.0 million each to fund a portion of Enogex LLC’s 2012 capital requirements.
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The following table summarizes changes in OGE Energy’s equity
which represents changes in additional paid-in capital for unrecognized
gains from the issuance of equity interests in Enogex Holdings to the
ArcLight group in 2012.

(In millions)
Net income attributable to OGE Energy $355.0
Transfers from the noncontrolling interest

Increase in paid-in capital for issuance of 5,294,118 units of

Enogex Holdings (net of tax of $3.2 million) 5.1

Net transfers from the noncontrolling interest 5.1
Total of net income attributable to OGE Energy and transfers

from noncontrolling interest $360.1

Pursuant to the Enogex Holdings LLC Agreement, Enogex
Holdings makes quarterly distributions to its partners. The following
table summarizes the quarterly distributions in 2012.

OGE ArcLight

Holdings’ Group’s Total

(In millions) Portion Portion Distribution
First quarter 2012 $24.4 $ 56 $30.0
Second quarter 2012 10.1 2.4 12.5
Third quarter 2012 10.2 2.3 12.5
Fourth quarter 2012 10.2 23 12.5
Total $54.9 $12.6 $67.5

During 2012, Atoka’s noncontrolling interest partner made contributions
of $1.2 million to Atoka. Enogex LLC made no distributions during 2012
to its Atoka partner, as there is no minimum distribution requirement
related to Atoka.

5. Impairment of Assets

Atoka previously operated a 20 MMcf/d refrigeration processing plant
which processed gas gathered in the Atoka area. The processing plant
was leased on a month-to-month basis. In August 2011, management
made a decision to use third-party processing exclusively for gathered
volumes dedicated to Atoka and, therefore, to take the processing plant
out of service and return it to the lessor in accordance with the rental
agreement. As a result, in August 2011, Enogex recorded a pre-tax
impairment loss of $5.0 million in the natural gas gathering and process-
ing segment associated with the cost it had capitalized in connection
with the installation of the leased plant as it will not be able to recover
the remaining value of the assets through future cash flows. The non-
controlling interest portion of the pre-tax impairment loss was $2.5 million
which was included in Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income.
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6. Fair Value Measurements

The classification of the Company’s fair value measurements requires
judgment regarding the degree to which market data are observable or
corroborated by observable market data. GAAP establishes a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value based on
observable and unobservable data. The hierarchy categorizes the inputs
into three levels, with the highest priority given to quoted prices in active
markets for identical unrestricted assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the
lowest priority given to unobservable inputs (Level 3). Financial assets
and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels
defined in the fair value hierarchy and examples of each are as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
unrestricted assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement
date. Instruments classified as Level 1 include natural gas futures, swaps
and options transactions for contracts traded on the New York Mercantile
Exchange (“NYMEX?”) and settled through a NYMEX clearing broker.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets
included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable at
the reporting date for the asset or liability for substantially the full term
of the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active. Instruments clas-
sified as Level 2 include over-the-counter NYMEX natural gas swaps,
natural gas basis swaps and natural gas purchase and sales transactions
in markets such that the pricing is closely related to the NYMEX pricing.

Level 3 inputs are prices or valuation techniques for the asset
or liability that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value
measurement and unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market
activity). Unobservable inputs reflect the reporting entity’s own assump-
tions about the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk).

The Company utilizes the market approach in determining the fair
value of its derivative positions by using either NYMEX published market
prices, independent broker pricing data or broker/dealer valuations. The
valuations of derivatives with pricing based on NYMEX published market
prices may be considered Level 1 if they are settled through a NYMEX
clearing broker account with daily margining. Over-the-counter derivatives
with NYMEX based prices are considered Level 2 due to the impact of
counterparty credit risk. Valuations based on independent broker pricing
or broker/dealer valuations may be classified as Level 2 only to the extent
they may be validated by an additional source of independent market
data for an identical or closely related active market. In certain less liquid
markets or for longer-term contracts, forward prices are not as readily
available. In these circumstances, contracts are valued using internally
developed methodologies that consider historical relationships among
various quoted prices in active markets that result in management’s best
estimate of fair value. These contracts are classified as Level 3.

The impact to the fair value of derivatives due to credit risk is
calculated using the probability of default based on Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Services and/or internally generated ratings. The fair value of
derivative assets is adjusted for credit risk. The fair value of derivative
liabilities is adjusted for credit risk only if the impact is deemed material.



Contracts with Master Netting Arrangements

Fair value amounts recognized for forward, interest rate swap, option
and other conditional or exchange contracts executed with the same
counterparty under a master netting arrangement may be offset. The
reporting entity’s choice to offset or not must be applied consistently.
A master netting arrangement exists if the reporting entity has multiple
contracts, whether for the same type of conditional or exchange con-
tract or for different types of contracts, with a single counterparty that
are subject to a contractual agreement that provides for the net settle-
ment of all contracts through a single payment in a single currency in
the event of default on or termination of any one contract. Offsetting the
fair values recognized for forward, interest rate swap, option and other
conditional or exchange contracts outstanding with a single counter-
party results in the net fair value of the transactions being reported as
an asset or a liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company
has presented the fair values of its derivative contracts under master
netting agreements using a net fair value presentation.

The following tables summarize the Company’s assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2012
and 2011 as well as reconcile the Company’s commodity contracts fair
value to PRM Assets and Liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets at December 31, 2012 and 2011. There were no Level 3
investments held at December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Commodity Contracts Gas Imbalances(A)

(In millions, December 31) Assets Liabilities Assets®) Liabilities(C)
2012
Quoted market prices
in active market for
identical assets (Level 1) $ 5.0 $ 5.0 $ - $ -
Significant other observable
inputs (Level 2) 0.5 0.5 3.1 3.8
Total fair value 5.5 5.5 3.1 3.8
Netting adjustments (5.0) (5.2 - -
Total $ 05 $ 03 $3.1 $3.8
2011
Quoted market prices
in active market for
identical assets (Level 1) $57.1 $52.3 $ - $ -
Significant other observable
inputs (Level 2) 4.2 1.2 1.8 7.8
Total fair value 61.3 53.5 1.8 7.8
Netting adjustments (57.5) (53.0) - -
Total $ 3.8 $ 05 $1.8 $7.8

(A) The Company uses the market approach to fair value its gas imbalance assets and liabilities,
using an average of the Inside FERC Gas Market Report for Panhandle Eastern Pipe Line Co.
(Texas, Oklahoma Mainline), ONEOK (Oklahoma) and ANR Pipeline (Oklahoma) indices.

(B) Gas imbalance assets exclude fuel reserves for under retained fuel due from shippers of
$5.9 million at December 31, 2012 with no comparable item at December 31, 2011, which
fuel reserves are based on the value of natural gas at the time the imbalance was created
and which are not subject to revaluation at fair market value.

(C) Gas imbalance liabilities exclude fuel reserves for over retained fuel due to shippers of
$1.2 million and $2.0 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, which fuel reserves
are based on the value of natural gas at the time the imbalance was created and which are not
subject to revaluation at fair market value.

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobserv-
able inputs (Level 3) during 2011. There were no Level 3 investments
held at December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Commodity Contracts

(In millions) Assets
2011
Balance at January 1 $13.3
Total gains or losses included in

other comprehensive income 5.4)
Settlements (7.9
Balance at December 31 $

The following table summarizes the fair value and carrying amount
of the Company’s financial instruments, including derivative contracts
related to the Company’s PRM activities, at:

2012 2011
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(In millions, December 31) Amount Value Amount Value
PRM assets
Energy derivative contracts $ 05%$ 05 $ 38 $ 38
PRM liabilities
Energy derivative contracts $ 03 % 03 $ 05 % 05
Long-term debt
OG&E senior notes $1,904.2 $2,401.6 $1,903.8 $2,383.8
OG&E industrial
authority bonds 135.4 135.4 135.4 135.4
OG&E tinker debt® 10.7 10.0 - -
OGE Energy senior notes 99.9 106.3 99.8 108.5
Enogex LLC senior notes 448.4 493.4 4481 497.9
Enogex LLC revolving
credit agreement - - 150.0 150.0
Enogex LLC term loan 250.0 250.0 - -

(A) In September 2012, OG&E purchased the electric distribution system at Tinker Air Force Base
for $10.7 million and began making installment payments over a 50-year term. The fair value of
this debt was based on calculating the net present value of the monthly payments discounted
by the Company’s current borrowing rate. Since the debt was valued using unobservable
inputs, it was classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. This was a non-cash investing and
financing activity as discussed in Note 9.

The carrying value of the financial instruments included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets approximates fair value except for long-
term debt which is valued at the carrying amount. The valuation of the
Company’s energy derivative contracts was determined generally based
on quoted market prices. However, in certain instances where market
quotes are not available, other valuation techniques or models are used
to estimate market values. The valuation of instruments also considers
the credit risk of the counterparties. The fair value of the Company’s
long-term debt is based on quoted market prices and estimates of cur-
rent rates available for similar issues with similar maturities and is
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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7. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing
business operations. The primary risks managed using derivatives
instruments are commodity price risk and interest rate risk. The
Company is also exposed to credit risk in its business operations.

Commodity Price Risk

The Company has used forward physical contracts, commodity price
swap contracts and commodity price option features to manage the
Company’s commodity price risk exposures in the past. Commodity
derivative instruments used by the Company are as follows:

e NGLs put options and NGLs swaps are used to manage Enogex’s
NGLs exposure associated with its processing agreements;

e Natural gas swaps are used to manage Enogex’s keep-whole natural
gas exposure associated with its processing operations and Enogex’s
natural gas exposure associated with operating its gathering, trans-
portation and storage assets; and

e Natural gas futures and swaps, natural gas options and natural gas
commodity purchases and sales are used to manage Enogex’s natural
gas exposure associated with its storage and transportation contracts
and asset management activities.

Normal purchases and normal sales contracts are not recorded in
PRM Assets or Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and earn-
ings recognition is recorded in the period in which physical delivery of
the commodity occurs. Management applies normal purchases and
normal sales treatment to: (i) commodity contracts for the purchase
and sale of natural gas used in or produced by Enogex’s operations,
(i) commodity contracts for the purchase and sale of NGLs produced
by Enogex’s gathering and processing business, (iii) electric power
contracts by OG&E and (iv) fuel procurement by OG&E.

The Company recognizes its non-exchange traded derivative
instruments as PRM Assets or Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at fair value with such amounts classified as current or long-term
based on their anticipated settlement. Exchange traded transactions
are settled on a net basis daily through margin accounts with a clearing
broker and, therefore, are recorded at fair value on a net basis in Other
Current Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates primarily relates
to short-term variable-rate debt and commercial paper. The Company
manages its interest rate exposure by monitoring and limiting the effects
of market changes in interest rates. The Company utilizes interest rate
derivatives to alter interest rate exposure in an attempt to reduce the
effects of these changes. Interest rate derivatives are used solely to
modify interest rate exposure and not to modify the overall leverage

of the debt portfolio.
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Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to certain credit risks relating to its ongoing
business operations. Credit risk includes the risk that counterparties
that owe the Company money or energy will breach their obligations. If
the counterparties to these arrangements fail to perform, the Company
may be forced to enter into alternative arrangements. In that event, the
Company’s financial results could be adversely affected and the
Company could incur losses.

Cash Flow Hedges
For derivatives that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge,
the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative instru-
ment is reported as a component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) and recognized into earnings in the same period during
which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion
of a derivative’s change in fair value or hedge components excluded
from the assessment of effectiveness is recognized currently in earnings.
The Company measures the ineffectiveness of commodity cash flow
hedges using the change in fair value method whereby the change in
the expected future cash flows designated as the hedge transaction
are compared to the change in fair value of the hedging instrument.
Forecasted transactions, which are designated as the hedged transac-
tion in a cash flow hedge, are regularly evaluated to assess whether
they continue to be probable of occurring. If the forecasted transactions
are no longer probable of occurring, hedge accounting will cease on
a prospective basis and all future changes in the fair value of the
derivative will be recognized directly in earnings.

The Company designates as cash flow hedges derivatives used
to manage commodity price risk exposure for Enogex’s NGLs volumes
and corresponding keep-whole natural gas resulting from its natural
gas processing contracts (processing hedges) and natural gas positions
resulting from its natural gas gathering and processing operations and
natural gas transportation and storage operations (operational gas
hedges). The Company also designates as cash flow hedges certain
derivatives used to manage natural gas commodity exposure for certain
natural gas storage inventory positions. Enogex’s cash flow hedges at
December 31, 2012 mature by the end of the first quarter of 2013.

Fair Value Hedges
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a fair value
hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative as well as the offsetting loss or
gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedge risk are recognized
currently in earnings. The Company includes the gain or loss on the
hedged items in Operating Revenues as the offsetting loss or gain on
the related hedging derivative.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had no derivative
instruments that were designated as fair value hedges.



Derivatives Not Designated As Hedging Instruments

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments are
utilized in Enogex’s asset management activities. For derivative instru-
ments not designated as hedging instruments, the gain or loss on the
derivative is recognized currently in earnings.

Quantitative Disclosures Related to Derivative Instruments
At December 31, 2012, the Company had the following derivative
instruments that were designated as cash flow hedges.

(In millions) 2012
Gross Notional Volume®
Enogex hedges

Natural gas sales 3.7

(A) Natural gas in MMBtu’s.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had the following derivative
instruments that were not designated as hedging instruments.

(In millions) Purchases Sales

Gross Notional Volume®

Natural gas®
Physical©®©) 7.0 30.1
Fixed swaps/futures 16.2 17.9
Basis swaps 7.3 6.7

(A) Natural gas in MMBtu’s.

(B) 95.1 percent of the natural gas contracts have durations of one year or less, 2.9 percent have
durations of more than one year and less than two years and 2.0 percent have durations of
more than two years.

(C) Of the natural gas physical purchases and sales volumes not designated as hedges, the majority
are priced based on a monthly or daily index and the fair value is subject to little or no market
price risk.

(D) Natural gas physical sales volumes exceed natural gas physical purchase volumes due to the
marketing of natural gas volumes purchased via Enogex’s processing contracts, which are not
derivative instruments and are excluded from the table above.

Balance Sheet Presentation Related to Derivative Instruments
The fair value of the derivative instruments that are presented in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012 are as
follows:

The fair value of the derivative instruments that are presented in
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011
are as follows:

Fair Value
Balance Sheet
(In millions) Instrument Location Assets Liabilities
Derivatives designated
as hedging instruments
Natural gas
Financial futures/swaps ~ Other Current Assets $ 5.2 $ 0.3
Total $ 52 $ 03
Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments
Natural gas
Financial futures/swaps Current PRM $ 0.4 $ -
Other Current Assets 49.9 49.9
Physical purchases/sales Current PRM 3.1 0.4
Non-Current PRM 0.3 0.1
Financial options Other Current Assets 2.4 2.8
Total $56.1 $53.2
Total gross derivatives® $61.3 $53.5

(A) See Note 6 for a reconciliation of the Company’s total derivatives fair value to the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011.

Income Statement Presentation Related to Derivative Instruments
The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income in 2012.

Amount
Reclassified
from
Amount Accumulated
Recognized Other
in Other  Comprehensive Amount
Comprehensive  Income (Loss)  Recognized
(In millions) Income® into Income in Income
Derivatives in cash flow
hedging relationships
Natural gas financial futures/swaps $0.5 $5.2 $-
Interest rate swap - 0.4) -
Total $0.5 $4.8 $ -

(A) The estimated net amount of gains or losses included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) at December 31, 2012 that is expected to be reclassified into income within the
next 12 months is a loss of $0.2 million.

Fair Value
Balance Sheet
(In millions) Instrument Location Assets Liabilities Amgunt
Recognized
Derivatives designated (In millions) in Income
as hedging instruments Derivatives not designated
Natural gas as hedging instruments
Financial futures/swaps  Other Current Assets $ - $0.5  Natural gas physical purchases/sales $(11.7)
Total $ - $0.5  Natural gas financial futures/swaps 1.1
Derivatives not designated Total $(10.6)
as hedging instruments
Natural gas
Financial futures/swaps Current PRM $0.1 $ -
Other Current Assets 5.0 4.7
Physical purchases/sales Current PRM 0.4 0.3
Total $5.5 $5.0
Total gross derivatives® $5.5 $5.5

(M) See Note 6 for a reconciliation of the Company’s total derivatives fair value to the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012.
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The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on
the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income in 2011.

Amount
Reclassified
from
Amount Accumulated
Recognized Other
in Other  Comprehensive Amount
Comprehensive  Income (Loss)  Recognized
(In millions) Income into Income in Income
Derivatives in cash flow
hedging relationships
NGLs financial options $(8.4) $ (9.8) $-
Natural gas financial futures/swaps 2.9 (30.4) -
Interest rate swap - 0.4) -
Total $(5.5) $(40.6) $-
Amount
Recognized
(In millions) in Income
Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments
Natural gas physical purchases/sales $(10.0)
Natural gas financial futures/swaps 0.4
Total $ (9.6)

The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on
the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income in 2010.

Amount
Reclassified
from
Amount Accumulated
Recognized Other
in Other  Comprehensive Amount
Comprehensive  Income (Loss)  Recognized
(In millions) Income into Income in Income
Derivatives in cash flow
hedging relationships
NGLs financial options $ 9.7) $ 1.2 $ -
NGLs financial futures/swaps 1.7 3.7) -
Natural gas financial futures/swaps (14.9) (25.9) 0.2
Interest rate swap - 0.4) -
Total $(22.9) $(28.8) $0.2
Amount
Recognized
(In millions) in Income
Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments
Natural gas physical purchases/sales $(11.7)
Natural gas financial futures/swaps 3.2
Total $ (8.5

For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in the tables above,
amounts reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss) into income (effective portion) and amounts recognized in income
(ineffective portion) for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, if any, are reported in Operating Revenues. For derivatives not
designated as hedges in the tables above, amounts recognized in
income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, if any,
are reported in Operating Revenues.
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Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features in Derivative Instruments
In the event Moody’s Investors Services or Standard & Poor’s Ratings
Services were to lower the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating to
a below investment grade rating, at December 31, 2012, the Company
would have been required to post $0.2 million of cash collateral to sat-
isfy its obligation under its financial and physical contracts relating to
derivative instruments that are in a net liability position at December 31,
2012. In addition, the Company could be required to provide additional
credit assurances in future dealings with third parties, which could
include letters of credit or cash collateral.

8. Stock-Based Compensation
In 2008, the Company adopted, and its shareowners approved,
the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan. Under the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan,
restricted stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights and perform-
ance units may be granted to officers, directors and other key employees
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company has authorized the
issuance of up to 2,750,000 shares under the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan.
The following table summarizes the Company’s pre-tax compensation
expense and related income tax benefit for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 related to the Company’s performance units and
restricted stock.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Performance units
Total shareholder return $ 8.0 $ 8.2 $ 6.8
Earnings per share 4.2 5.5 2.5
Total performance units 12.2 13.7 9.3
Restricted stock 0.6 1.0 0.9
Total compensation expense $12.8 $14.7 $10.2
Income tax benefit $ 4.9 $ 5.7 $ 3.9

The Company has issued new shares to satisfy stock option
exercises, restricted stock grants and payouts of earned performance
units. In 2012, 2011 and 2010, there were 424,555 shares, 311,623 shares
and 255,389 shares, respectively, of new common stock issued pursuant
to the Company’s stock incentive plans related to exercised stock options,
restricted stock grants (net of forfeitures) and payouts of earned perform-
ance units. In 2012, there were 5,911 shares of restricted stock returned
to the Company to satisfy tax liabilities.

In November 2012, the Company purchased 60,000 shares of its
common stock at an average cost of $55.41 per share on the open
market. These shares will be used to satisfy Enogex’s portion of the
Company’s obligation to deliver shares of common stock related to
long-term incentive payouts of earned performance units in 2013. The
Company expects to purchase shares in the future to satisfy a portion
of its obligation under its incentive plan. The Company records treasury
stock purchases at cost. Treasury stock is presented as a reduction of
stockholders’ equity in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.



Performance Units

Under the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company has issued
performance units which represent the value of one share of the
Company’s common stock. The performance units provide for acceler-
ated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the 2008 Stock
Incentive Plan). Each performance unit is subject to forfeiture if the
recipient terminates employment with the Company or a subsidiary
prior to the end of the three-year award cycle for any reason other than
death, disability or retirement. In the event of death, disability or retire-
ment, a participant will receive a prorated payment based on such
participant’s number of full months of service during the award cycle,
further adjusted based on the achievement of the performance goals
during the award cycle.

The performance units granted based on total shareholder return
are contingently awarded and will be payable in shares of the Company’s
common stock subject to the condition that the number of performance
units, if any, earned by the employees upon the expiration of a three-
year award cycle (i.e., three-year cliff vesting period) is dependent on
the Company’s total shareholder return ranking relative to a peer group
of companies. The performance units granted based on earnings per
share are contingently awarded and will be payable in shares of the
Company’s common stock based on the Company’s earnings per share
growth over a three-year award cycle (i.e., three-year cliff vesting period)
compared to a target set at the time of the grant by the Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. All of these perform-
ance units are classified as equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

If there is no or only a partial payout for the performance units at the
end of the award cycle, the unearned performance units are cancelled.
Payout requires approval of the Compensation Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors. Payouts, if any, are all made in common
stock and are considered made when the payout is approved by the
Compensation Committee.

Performance Units — Total Shareholder Return

The fair value of the performance units based on total shareholder
return was estimated on the grant date using a lattice-based valuation
model that factors in information, including the expected dividend yield,
expected price volatility, risk-free interest rate and the probable outcome
of the market condition, over the expected life of the performance units.
Compensation expense for the performance units is a fixed amount
determined at the grant date fair value and is recognized over the three-
year award cycle regardless of whether performance units are awarded
at the end of the award cycle. Dividends are not accrued or paid during
the performance period and, therefore, are not included in the fair value
calculation. Expected price volatility is based on the historical volatility

of the Company’s common stock for the past three years and was
simulated using the Geometric Brownian Motion process. The risk-free
interest rate for the performance unit grants is based on the three-year
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The expected
life of the units is based on the non-vested period since inception of
the award cycle. There are no post-vesting restrictions related to the
Company’s performance units based on total shareholder return. The
number of performance units granted based on total shareholder return
and the assumptions used to calculate the grant date fair value of the
performance units based on total shareholder return are shown in the
following table.

2012 2011 2010
Number of units granted 169,339 213,721 214,750
Fair value of units granted $ 5182 $ 46.09 $ 39.43
Expected dividend yield 3.0% 3.2% 3.9%
Expected price volatility 22.0% 33.0% 34.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.38% 1.40% 1.42%
Expected life of units (in years) 2.87 2.87 2.87

Performance Units — Earnings Per Share

The fair value of the performance units based on earnings per share is
based on grant date fair value which is equivalent to the price of one
share of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The fair
value of performance units based on earnings per share varies as the
number of performance units that will vest is based on the grant date
fair value of the units and the probable outcome of the performance
condition. The Company reassesses at each reporting date whether
achievement of the performance condition is probable and accrues
compensation expense if and when achievement of the performance
condition is probable. As a result, the compensation expense recog-
nized for these performance units can vary from period to period. There
are no post-vesting restrictions related to the Company’s performance
units based on earnings per share. The number of performance units
granted based on earnings per share and the grant date fair value are
shown in the following table.

2012 2011 2010
Number of units granted 40,797 71,238 71,585
Fair value of units granted $ 47.63 $ 41.61 $ 32.44

In 2012, the performance unit grant for Enogex employees that was
previously based on earnings per share was changed to a cash pay-
ment that entitles Enogex employees to receive from 0 percent to 200
percent of the performance units granted based on the growth in
Enogex’s EBITDA over a three-year award cycle (i.e., three-year cliff
vesting period) compared to a growth target set by the Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.

OGE Energy Corp. 63



Restricted Stock

Under the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan and beginning in 2008, the
Company issued restricted stock to certain existing non-officer employees
as well as other executives upon hire to attract and retain individuals to
be competitive in the marketplace. The restricted stock vests in one-third
annual increments. Prior to vesting, each share of restricted stock is
subject to forfeiture if the recipient ceases to render substantial services
to the Company or a subsidiary for any reason other than death, disability
or retirement. These shares may not be sold, assigned, transferred or
pledged and are subject to a risk of forfeiture.

The fair value of the restricted stock was based on the closing market
price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Compensation
expense for the restricted stock is a fixed amount determined at the
grant date fair value and is recognized as services are rendered by
employees over a three-year vesting period. Also, the Company treats its

restricted stock as multiple separate awards by recording compensation
expense separately for each tranche whereby a substantial portion

of the expense is recognized in the earlier years in the requisite service
period. Dividends are accrued and paid during the vesting period and,
therefore, are included in the fair value calculation. The expected life
of the restricted stock is based on the non-vested period since incep-
tion of the three-year award cycle. There are no post-vesting restrictions
related to the Company’s restricted stock. The number of shares of
restricted stock granted and the grant date fair value are shown in the
following table.

2012 2011 2010
Shares of restricted stock granted 5,412 17,902 26,653
Fair value of restricted stock granted $53.44 $ 48.82 $ 40.78

A summary of the activity for the Company’s performance units and
restricted stock at December 31, 2012 and changes in 2012 are shown
in the following table.

Performance Units

Total Shareholder Return Earnings Per Share Restricted Stock

Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
Number Intrinsic Number Intrinsic Number Intrinsic
of Units Value of Units Value of Shares Value
Units/shares outstanding at 12/31/11 706,124 235,376 37,244
Granted® 169,339 40,797 5,412
Converted®) (291,294) $30.6 (97,099) $10.2 N/A
Vested N/A N/A (15,847) $0.9
Forfeited (49,605) (15,155) (2,256)
Units/shares outstanding at 12/31/12 534,564 $46.3 163,919 $13.8 24,553 $1.4
Units/shares fully vested at 12/31/12 188,633 $21.2 62,880 $ 7.1

(A) For performance units, this represents the target number of performance units granted. Actual number of performance units earned, if any, is dependent upon performance and may range from

0 percent to 200 percent of the target.

(B) These amounts represent performance units that vested at December 31, 2011 which were settled in February 2012.

A summary of the activity for the Company’s non-vested performance
units and restricted stock at December 31, 2012 and changes in 2012 are
shown in the following table.

Performance Units

Total Shareholder Return Earnings Per Share Restricted Stock

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Average

Number Grant Date Number Grant Date Number Grant Date

of Units Fair Value of Units Fair Value of Shares Fair Value

Units/shares non-vested at 12/31/11 414,830 $42.75 138,277 $37.01 37,244 $44.24

Granted 169,339 ™ $51.82 40,797® $47.63 5,412 $53.44

Vested (188,633) $39.43 (62,880) $32.44 (15,847) $42.78

Forfeited (49,605) $44.24 (15,155) $38.02 (2,256) $44.22

Units/shares non-vested at 12/31/12 345,931 $48.79 101,039 $44.00 24,553 $47.21
Units/shares expected to vest 323,303 94,557 24,553

(A) For performance units, this represents the target number of performance units granted. Actual number of performance units earned, if any, is dependent upon performance and may range from

0 percent to 200 percent of the target.
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Fair Value of Vested Performance Units and Restricted Stock
A summary of the Company’s fair value for its vested performance units
and restricted stock is shown in the following table.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Performance units
Total shareholder return $7.4 $7.4 $5.4
Earnings per share 41 3.9 1.9
Restricted stock 0.7 1.0 0.6

Unrecognized Compensation Cost

A summary of the Company’s unrecognized compensation cost for its
non-vested performance units and restricted stock and the weighted-
average periods over which the compensation cost is expected to be
recognized are shown in the following table.

Weighted
Unrecognized Average to be
Compensation  Recognized
(In millions, December 31) Cost (in years)
2012
Performance units
Total shareholder return $ 7.7 1.64
Earnings per share 3.9 1.14
Total performance units 11.6
Restricted stock 0.5 1.96
Total $12.1

Stock Options

The Company last issued stock options in 2004 and as of December 31,
20086, all stock options were fully vested and expensed. All stock options
have a contractual life of 10 years. A summary of the activity for the
Company’s stock options at December 31, 2012 and changes during
2012 are shown in the following table.

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Aggregate Remaining
Number of Exercise Intrinsic Contractual
(In millions) Options Price Value Term
Options outstanding
at 12/31/11 55,800 $23.19
Exercised (36,200) $23.41 $2.0
Options outstanding
at 12/31/12 19,600 $22.80 $0.6  0.95 years
Options fully vested and
exercisable at 12/31/12 19,600 $22.80 $0.6 0.95 years

A summary of the activity for the Company’s exercised stock
options in 2012, 2011 and 2010 are shown in the following table.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Intrinsic value® $2.0 $2.2 $2.5
Cash received from stock options exercised 0.8 1.3 3.2
Income tax benefit realized for the tax

deductions from exercised stock options®) - - 1.0

(A) The difference between the market value on the date of exercise and the option exercise price.

(8) The Company did not realize an income tax benefit for the tax deductions from the exercised
stock options in 2012 and 2011 due to the Company being in a tax net operating loss position
in 2012 and 2011.

9. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table discloses information about investing and financing
activities that affected recognized assets and liabilities but which did
not result in cash receipts or payments. Also disclosed in the table is
cash paid for interest, net of interest capitalized, and cash paid for
income taxes, net of income tax refunds.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Non-cash investing
and financing activities
Installment payments for Tinker
electric distribution system $ 10.6 $ - $ -
Power plant long-term service agreement - 1.7 2.7
Future installment payments to
wind farm developer - - 2.3
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for
Interest (net of interest capitalized)® $161.3 $138.9 $144.6
Income taxes (net of income tax refunds) 9.1) 4.7 (139.5)
(A) Net of interest capitalized of $8.0 million, $19.1 million and $8.0 million in 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.
10. Income Taxes
The items comprising income tax expense are as follows:
(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Provision (benefit) for
current income taxes
Federal $ (9.1) $ (5.4) $ 12.8
State 0.5 0.1 1.8
Total provision (benefit)
for current income taxes (8.6) (5.3) 14.6
Provision for deferred
income taxes, net
Federal 147.3 165.5 139.8
State (1.5) 3.8 10.3
Total provision for deferred
income taxes, net 145.8 169.3 150.1
Deferred federal investment
tax credits, net (2.1) (8.3) 8.7)
Total income tax expense $135.1 $160.7 $161.0

The Company files consolidated income tax returns in the U.S.
Federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. With few exceptions,
the Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal tax examinations by
tax authorities for years prior to 2009 or state and local tax examinations
by tax authorities for years prior to 2005. Income taxes are generally
allocated to each company in the affiliated group based on its stand-
alone taxable income or loss. Federal investment tax credits previously
claimed on electric utility property have been deferred and are being
amortized to income over the life of the related property. OG&E earns
both Federal and Oklahoma state tax credits associated with produc-
tion from its wind farms. In addition, OG&E and Enogex earn Oklahoma
state tax credits associated with their investments in electric generating
and natural gas processing facilities which further reduce the Company’s
effective tax rate. The following schedule reconciles the statutory
Federal tax rate to the effective income tax rate:
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(Year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
Statutory Federal tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Amortization of net unfunded

deferred taxes 0.8 0.7 0.7
Medicare Part D subsidy - 0.2 2.6
Qualified production activities - - 0.2)
State income taxes, net of Federal

income tax benefit (0.1) 0.6 1.7
Federal investment tax credits, net (0.4) 0.7) (0.8)
401(k) dividends (0.5) (0.5) (0.6)
Income attributable to

noncontrolling interest (1.6) (1.3) 0.4)
Federal renewable energy credit® (7.2) (3.4) (3.4)
Other - 0.1 0.3

Effective income tax rate 26.0% 30.7% 34.9%

(A) These are credits associated with the production from OG&E’s wind farms.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had no material
unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions.

The deferred tax provisions are recognized as costs in the ratemaking
process by the commissions having jurisdiction over the rates charged
by OG&E. The components of Deferred Income Taxes at December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively, were as follows:

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011
Current deferred income tax assets
Net operating losses $ 1524 $ 1538
Accrued liabilities 271 13.2
Federal tax credits 6.0 -
Accrued vacation 3.8 4.2
Uncollectible accounts 1.0 1.4
Total current deferred income tax assets 190.3 34.6
Current accrued income tax liabilities
Derivative instruments (2.6) (2.5)
Total current accrued income tax liabilities (2.6) (2.5)
Current deferred income tax assets, net $ 187.7 $ 321
Non-current deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated depreciation and other property
related differences $1,660.3 $1,437.5
Investment in Enogex Holdings 638.0 571.8
Company pension plan 524 67.5
Income taxes refundable to customers, net 21.2 28.0
Regulatory asset 18.8 21.2
Bond redemption-unamortized costs 4.0 4.4
Derivative instruments 1.5 -
Total non-current deferred income tax liabilities 2,396.2 2,130.4
Non-current deferred income tax assets
Net operating losses (159.1) (225.2)
State tax credits (83.7) (63.0)
Regulatory liabilities (71.4) (65.3)
Federal tax credits (69.6) (49.7)
Postretirement medical and life insurance benefits (57.6) (50.2)
Derivative instruments - (12.1)
Deferred Federal investment tax credits (1.5) 2.3)
Other (4.5) (11.2)
Total non-current deferred income tax assets (447.4) (479.0)
Non-current deferred income tax liabilities, net $1,948.8 $1,651.4
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During 2012 and 2011, the Company had a Federal tax operating loss
primarily caused by the accelerated tax “bonus” depreciation provision
contained within the Tax Relief, Unemployment Insurance Reauthorization
and Job Creation Act of 2010 which allowed the Company to record a
current income tax deduction for 100 percent of the cost of certain prop-
erty placed into service in 2011 and 50 percent for certain property placed
into service in 2012. For financial accounting purposes, the Company
recorded an increase in its Non-Current Deferred Income Taxes Liability at
December 31, 2012 and 2011 on the Company’s Consolidated Balance
Sheet to recognize the financial statement impact of this new law.

On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was
signed into law. Among other things, the law included an extension of
bonus depreciation for one year for property generally placed in service
before January 1, 2014. Because this new law was enacted in 2013,
GAAP requires the law to be considered retroactive legislation, the impact
of which must be recorded in the period enacted. The impact of the
new law will be reflected in the Company’s 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements as an increase in Deferred Tax Liabilities with a correspon-
ding increase in Deferred Tax Assets related to the net operating loss.

In June 2010, new legislation was passed in Oklahoma that created
a moratorium, from July 1, 2010 through June 30, 2012, on 30 income
tax credits. For income tax purposes, credits affected by the moratorium
could not be claimed for any event, transaction, investment, expenditure
or other act for which the credits would otherwise be allowable. During
this two-year period, affected credits generated by the Company were
deferred and will be utilized at a future date. For financial accounting
purposes, the Company is receiving the benefits as most of these credits
did not expire if they were not utilized in the period they were generated.

Other

The Company sustained Federal and state tax operating losses in

2012 and 2011 caused primarily by bonus depreciation and other book
verses tax temporary differences. As a result, the Company accrued
Federal and state income tax benefits in 2012 and 2011. The Company
can no longer carry these losses back to prior periods, therefore, these
losses are being carried forward. In addition to the operating losses, the
Company was unable to utilize the various tax credits that were gener-
ating during these years. These tax losses and credits are being carried
as deferred tax assets and will be utilized in future periods. Under current
law, the Company anticipates future taxable income will be sufficient to
utilize all of the losses and credits before they begin to expire, accord-
ingly no valuation allowance is considered necessary. The following
table summarizes these carry forwards:



Carry Deferred Earliest

Forward Tax Expiration

(In millions) Amount Asset Date
Net operating losses

State operating loss $1,026.8 $ 37.8 2030

Federal operating loss 781.9 273.7 2030

Federal tax credits 75.6 75.6 2029

State tax credits
Oklahoma investment tax credits 100.5 65.3 N/A

Oklahoma capital investment
board credits 7.3 7.3 N/A
Oklahoma zero emission tax credits 16.2 111 2020

Under tax law in effect at December 31, 2012, the Company
projected utilization of $711.0 million of tax loss carry forward in 2013
and recorded a current deferred tax asset of $152.4 million. The remain-
ing $159.1 million was recorded as a non-current deferred tax asset for
utilization in periods after 2013. With the passage of the American
Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 on January 2, 2013, the Company now
expects much lower utilization will result in 2013. The impact of the
new law will be reflected in the Company’s 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements as a decrease in Current Deferred Tax Assets with a
corresponding increase in Deferred Tax Liabilities related to the net
operating loss.

In January 2013, OG&E learned that a portion of certain Oklahoma
investment tax credits previously recognized but not yet utilized may not
be available for utilization in future years. If management determines
that it is more likely than not that it will be unable to utilize these credits,
OG&E will be required to record a reserve of $7.8 million ($5.1 million
after tax) at such time.

11. Common Equity

Automatic Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

The Company issued 246,549 shares of common stock under its
Automatic Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan in 2012
and received proceeds of $13.4 million. The Company may, from
time to time, issue additional shares under its Automatic Dividend
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan to fund capital requirements or
working capital needs. At December 31, 2012, there were 2,122,494
shares of unissued common stock reserved for issuance under the
Company’s Automatic Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable
to OGE Energy by the weighted average number of the Company’s
common shares outstanding during the period. In the calculation of
diluted earnings per share, weighted average shares outstanding are
increased for additional shares that would be outstanding if potentially
dilutive securities were converted to common stock. Potentially dilutive
securities for the Company consist of performance units. Basic and
diluted earnings per share for the Company were calculated as follows:

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net income attributable to OGE Energy $355.0 $342.9 $295.3
Average common shares outstanding

Basic average common shares outstanding  98.6 97.9 97.3

Effect of dilutive securities:
Contingently issuable shares
(performance units) 0.5 1.3 1.6
Diluted average common
shares outstanding
Basic earnings per average common
share attributable to OGE Energy
common shareholders
Diluted earnings per average common
share attributable to OGE Energy
common shareholders
Anti-dilutive shares excluded
from earnings per share calculation - - -

99.1 99.2 98.9

$ 3.60 $ 3.50 $ 3.03

$ 3.58 $ 3.45 $ 2.99

12. Long-Term Debt

A summary of the Company’s long-term debt is included in the
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization. At December 31, 2012,
the Company was in compliance with all of its debt agreements.

OG&E Industrial Authority Bonds

OG&E has tax-exempt pollution control bonds with optional redemption
provisions that allow the holders to request repayment of the bonds on
any business day. The bonds, which can be tendered at the option of
the holder during the next 12 months, are as follows:

Amount

Series Date Due (In millions)
0.22% - 0.40% Garfield Industrial Authority, January 1, 2025 $ 47.0
0.21% - 0.41%  Muskogee Industrial Authority, January 1, 2025 32.4
0.20% - 0.47% Muskogee Industrial Authority, June 1, 2027 56.0
Total (redeemable during next 12 months) $135.4

All of these bonds are subject to an optional tender at the request
of the holders, at 100 percent of the principal amount, together with
accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The bond holders,
on any business day, can request repayment of the bond by delivering an
irrevocable notice to the tender agent stating the principal amount of the
bond, payment instructions for the purchase price and the business day
the bond is to be purchased. The repayment option may only be exer-
cised by the holder of a bond for the principal amount. When a tender
notice has been received by the trustee, a third party remarketing agent
for the bonds will attempt to remarket any bonds tendered for purchase.
This process occurs once per week. Since the original issuance of these
series of bonds in 1995 and 1997, the remarketing agent has success-
fully remarketed all tendered bonds. If the remarketing agent is unable
to remarket any such bonds, OG&E is obligated to repurchase such
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unremarketed bonds. As OG&E has both the intent and ability to
refinance the bonds on a long-term basis and such ability is supported
by an ability to consummate the refinancing, the bonds are classified
as long-term debt in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
OG&E believes that it has sufficient liquidity to meet these obligations.

Enogex Term Loan Agreement

On August 2, 2012, Enogex entered into a $250 million, three-year term
loan agreement with a maturity date of August 2, 2015. The loan was
used to fund capital expenditures and for working capital purposes.

Long-Term Debt Maturities
Maturities of the Company’s long-term debt during the next five years
consist of $0.2 million, $300.2 million, $250.2 million, $110.2 million and
$125.2 million in years 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively.
The Company has previously incurred costs related to debt
refinancings. Unamortized loss on reacquired debt is classified as a
Non-Current Regulatory Asset, unamortized debt expense is classified
as Deferred Charges and Other Assets and the unamortized premium
and discount on long-term debt is classified as Long-Term Debt, respec-
tively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are being amortized over
the life of the respective debt.

13. Short-Term Debt and Credit Facilities

The Company borrows on a short-term basis, as necessary, by the
issuance of commercial paper and by borrowings under its revolving
credit agreements. The short-term debt balance was $430.9 million
and $277.1 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, at
a weighted-average interest rate of 0.43 percent and 0.48 percent,
respectively. The following table provides information regarding the
Company’s revolving credit agreements and available cash at
December 31, 2012.

Weighted-
Amount Average
Outstanding® Interest Rate

Aggregate

(In millions) Commitment Maturity

Revolving credit agreements
and available cash

OGE Energy® $ 750.0 $430.9 0.43%© 12/13/16

OG&E© 400.0 2.2 0.53%© 12/13/16

Enogex LLC®) 400.0 - —%® 12/13/16
1,550.0 433.1 0.43%

Cash 1.8 N/A N/A N/A
Total $1,551.8 $433.1 0.43%

(A) Includes direct borrowings under the revolving credit agreements, commercial paper borrowings
and letters of credit at December 31, 2012.

(B) This bank facility is available to back up OGE Energy’s commercial paper borrowings and to
provide revolving credit borrowings. This bank facility can also be used as a letter of credit facility.
At December 31, 2012, there was $430.9 million in outstanding commercial paper borrowings.

(C) This bank facility is available to back up OG&E’s commercial paper borrowings and to provide
revolving credit borrowings. This bank facility can also be used as a letter of credit facility. At
December 31, 2012, there was $2.2 million supporting letters of credit.

(D) This bank facility is available to provide revolving credit borrowings for Enogex LLC. As Enogex
LLC'’s credit agreement matures on December 13, 2016, along with its intent in utilizing its
credit agreement, borrowings thereunder are classified as long-term debt in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(E) Represents the weighted-average interest rate for the outstanding borrowings under the revolving
credit agreements, commercial paper borrowings and letters of credit.
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The Company’s ability to access the commercial paper market
could be adversely impacted by a credit ratings downgrade or major
market disruptions. Pricing grids associated with the Company’s credit
facilities could cause annual fees and borrowing rates to increase if
an adverse rating impact occurs. The impact of any future downgrade
could include an increase in the costs of the Company’s short-term
borrowings, but a reduction in the Company’s credit ratings would not
result in any defaults or accelerations. Any future downgrade could also
lead to higher long-term borrowing costs and, if below investment grade,
would require the Company to post collateral or letters of credit.

OG&E must obtain regulatory approval from the FERC in order
to borrow on a short-term basis. OG&E has the necessary regulatory
approvals to incur up to $800 million in short-term borrowings at any
one time for a two-year period beginning January 1, 2013 and ending
December 31, 2014.

14. Retirement Plans and Postretirement Benefit Plans

Pension Plan and Restoration of Retirement Income Plan

In October 2009, the Company’s Pension Plan and the Company’s
qualified defined contribution retirement plan (“401(k) Plan”) were
amended, effective January 1, 2010 to provide eligible employees a
choice to select a future retirement benefit combination from the
Company’s Pension Plan and the Company’s 401(k) Plan.

Employees hired or rehired on or after December 1, 2009 do not
participate in the Pension Plan but are eligible to participate in the
401(k) Plan where, for each pay period, the Company contributes to
the 401(k) Plan, on behalf of each participant, 200 percent of the
participant’s contributions up to five percent of compensation.

It is the Company’s policy to fund the Pension Plan on a current
basis based on the net periodic pension expense as determined by the
Company’s actuarial consultants. During 2012 and 2011, OGE Energy
made contributions to its Pension Plan of $35 million and $50 million,
respectively, to help ensure that the Pension Plan maintains an adequate
funded status. Such contributions are intended to provide not only for
benefits attributed to service to date, but also for those expected to be
earned in the future. During 2013, OGE Energy expects to contribute
up to $35 million to its Pension Plan. The expected contribution to the
Pension Plan during 2013 would be a discretionary contribution, antici-
pated to be in the form of cash, and is not required to satisfy the minimum
regulatory funding requirement specified by the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. OGE Energy could be required
to make additional contributions if the value of its pension trust and
postretirement benefit plan trust assets are adversely impacted by a
major market disruption in the future.

The Company provides a Restoration of Retirement Income Plan
to those participants in the Company’s Pension Plan whose benefits
are subject to certain limitations of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986
(“Code”). Participants in the Restoration of Retirement Income Plan
receive the same benefits that they would have received under the
Company’s Pension Plan in the absence of limitations imposed by
the Federal tax laws. The Restoration of Retirement Income Plan is
intended to be an unfunded plan.



The following table presents the status of the Company’s Pension
Plan and Restoration of Retirement Income Plan at December 31, 2012
and 2011. These amounts have been recorded in Accrued Benefit
Obligations with the offset in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
(except OG&E’s portion which is recorded as a regulatory asset as dis-
cussed in Note 1) in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
amounts in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss and those recorded
as a regulatory asset represent a net periodic benefit cost to be recog-
nized in the Consolidated Statements of Income in future periods.

Restoration of

Pension Plan Retirement Income Plan

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011 2012 2011

Benefit obligations $(747.1) $(697.7) $(14.5) $(13.3)
Fair value of plan assets 626.0 589.8 - -
Funded status at end of year $(121.1) $(107.9) $(14.5) $(13.3)

The following table summarizes the benefit payments the Company
expects to pay related to its Pension Plan and Restoration of Retirement
Income Plan. These expected benefits are based on the same assump-
tions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at the end
of the year and include benefits attributable to estimated future
employee service.

(In millions) Projected Benefit Payments
2013 $ 751
2014 94.5
2015 84.7
2016 77.2
2017 71.5
After 2017 295.3

Plan Investments, Policies and Strategies

The Pension Plan assets are held in a trust which follows an investment
policy and strategy designed to reduce the funded status volatility of the
Plan by utilizing liability driven investing. The purpose of liability driven
investing is to structure the asset portfolio to more closely resemble the
pension liability and thereby more effectively hedge against changes in
the liability. The investment policy follows a glide path approach that
shifts a higher portfolio weighting to fixed income as the Plan’s funded
status increases. The table below sets forth the targeted fixed income
and equity allocations at different funded status levels.

Projected Benefit Obligation

Funded Status Thresholds <90% 95% 100% 105% 110% 115% 120%
Fixed income 50% 58% 65% 73% 80% 85% 90%
Equity 50% 42% 35% 27% 20% 15% 10%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Within the portfolio’s overall allocation to equities, the funds are allo-
cated according to the guidelines in the table below.

Asset Class Target Allocation Minimum Maximum
Domestic all-cap/large cap equity 50% 50% 60%
Domestic mid-cap equity 15% 5% 25%
Domestic small-cap equity 15% 5% 25%
International equity 20% 10% 30%

The Company has retained an investment consultant responsible
for the general investment oversight, analysis, monitoring investment
guideline compliance and providing quarterly reports to certain of the
Company’s members and the Company’s Investment Committee. The
various investment managers used by the trust operate within the
general operating objectives as established in the investment policy
and within the specific guidelines established for each investment
manager’s respective portfolio.

The portfolio is rebalanced on an annual basis to bring the asset
allocations of various managers in line with the target asset allocation
listed above. More frequent rebalancing may occur if there are dramatic
price movements in the financial markets which may cause the trust’s
exposure to any asset class to exceed or fall below the established
allowable guidelines.

To evaluate the progress of the portfolio, investment performance is
reviewed quarterly. It is, however, expected that performance goals will
be met over a full market cycle, normally defined as a three to five year
period. Analysis of performance is within the context of the prevailing
investment environment and the advisors’ investment style. The goal
of the trust is to provide a rate of return consistently from three percent
to five percent over the rate of inflation (as measured by the national
Consumer Price Index) on a fee adjusted basis over a typical market
cycle of no less than three years and no more than five years. Each
investment manager is expected to outperform its respective bench-
mark. Below is a list of each asset class utilized with appropriate
comparative benchmark(s) each manager is evaluated against:

Comparative Benchmark(s)

Barclays Capital Aggregate Index
Barclays Capital Aggregate Index
Barclays Long Government/Credit
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index
Russell 3000 Index

Russell 3000 Value Index

Russell Midcap Index

Russell Midcap Value Index
Russell 2000 Index

Russell 2000 Value Index

Morgan Stanley Capital International ACWI ex-US

Asset Class

Core Fixed Income

Interest Rate Sensitive Fixed Income
Long Duration Fixed Income

Equity Index

All-Cap Equity

Mid-Cap Equity

Small-Cap Equity

International Equity
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The fixed income manager is expected to use discretion over the
asset mix of the trust assets in its efforts to maximize risk-adjusted per-
formance. Exposure to any single issuer, other than the U.S. government,
its agencies, or its instrumentalities (which have no limits) is limited to
five percent of the fixed income portfolio as measured by market value.
At least 75 percent of the invested assets must possess an investment
grade rating at or above Baa3 or BBB- by Moody’s Investors Services,
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services or Fitch Ratings. The portfolio may
invest up to 10 percent of the portfolio’s market value in convertible
bonds as long as the securities purchased meet the quality guidelines.
The purchase of any of the Company’s equity, debt or other securities
is prohibited.

The domestic value equity managers focus on stocks that the
manager believes are undervalued in price and earn an average or
less than average return on assets, and often pays out higher than
average dividend payments. The domestic growth equity manager will
invest primarily in growth companies which consistently experience
above average growth in earnings and sales, earn a high return on
assets, and reinvest cash flow into existing business. The domestic
mid-cap equity portfolio manager focuses on companies with market
capitalizations lower than the average company traded on the public
exchanges with the following characteristics: price/earnings ratio at or
near the Russell Midcap Index, small dividend yield, return on equity at
or near the Russell Midcap Index and an earnings per share growth rate
at or near the Russell Midcap Index. The domestic small-cap equity
manager will purchase shares of companies with market capitalizations
lower than the average company traded on the public exchanges with
the following characteristics: price/earnings ratio at or near the Russell
2000, small dividend yield, return on equity at or near the Russell 2000
and an earnings per share growth rate at or near the Russell 2000. The
international global equity manager invests primarily in non-dollar
denominated equity securities. Investing internationally diversifies the
overall trust across the global equity markets. The manager is required
to operate under certain restrictions including: regional constraints,
diversification requirements and percentage of U.S. securities. The
Morgan Stanley Capital International All Country World ex-US Index is
the benchmark for comparative performance purposes. The Morgan
Stanley Capital International All Country World ex-US Index is a market
value weighted index designed to measure the combined equity market
performance of developed and emerging markets countries, excluding
the United States. All of the equities which are purchased for the inter-
national portfolio are thoroughly researched. Only companies with a
market capitalization in excess of $100 million are allowable. No more
than five percent of the portfolio can be invested in any one stock at
the time of purchase. All securities are freely traded on a recognized
stock exchange and there are no 144-A securities and no over-the-
counter derivatives. The following investment categories are excluded:
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options (other than traded currency options), commodities, futures
(other than currency futures or currency hedging), short sales/margin
purchases, private placements, unlisted securities and real estate (but
not real estate shares).

For all domestic equity investment managers, no more than eight
percent (five percent for mid-cap and small-cap equity managers) can
be invested in any one stock at the time of purchase and no more than
16 percent (10 percent for mid-cap and small-cap equity managers)
after accounting for price appreciation. Options or financial futures may
not be purchased unless prior approval of the Company’s Investment
Committee is received. The purchase of securities on margin is prohib-
ited as is securities lending. Private placement or venture capital may
not be purchased. All interest and dividend payments must be swept
on a daily basis into a short-term money market fund for re-deployment.
The purchase of any of the Company’s equity, debt or other securities
is prohibited. The purchase of equity or debt issues of the portfolio
manager’s organization is also prohibited. The aggregate positions in
any company may not exceed one percent of the fair market value
of its outstanding stock.

Plan Investments

The following tables summarize the Pension Plan’s investments that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2012 and
2011. There were no Level 3 investments held by the Pension Plan at
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

(In millions, December 31) 2012 Level 1 Level 2
Common stocks
U.S. common stocks $232.2 $232.2 $ -

Foreign common stocks 39.9 39.9 -
U.S. Government obligations

U.S. treasury notes and bonds® 138.6 138.6 -

Mortgage-backed securities 55.8 - 55.8
Bonds, debentures and notes®

Corporate fixed income and

other securities 98.4 - 98.4
Mortgage-backed securities 13.5 - 13.5
Commingled fund© 34.9 - 34.9
Common/collective trust® 25.6 - 25.6
Foreign government bonds 3.9 - 3.9
U.S. municipal bonds 0.8 - 0.8
Interest-bearing cash 0.2 0.2 -
Forward contracts
Receivable (foreign currency) 0.4 - 0.4
Payable (foreign currency) (0.4) - (0.4)
Total Plan investments $643.8 $410.9 $232.9
Receivable from broker for securities sold 0.8
Interest and dividends receivable 2.8
Payable to broker for securities purchased (21.4)
Total Plan assets $626.0




(In millions, December 31) 2011 Level 1 Level 2
Common stocks
U.S. common stocks $179.7 $179.7 $ -
Foreign common stocks 59.5 59.5 -
U.S. Government obligations
U.S. treasury notes and bonds® 118.8 118.8 -
Mortgage-backed securities 72.0 - 72.0

Other securities 1.0 - 1.0
Bonds, debentures and notes®
Corporate fixed income and

other securities 95.3 - 95.3
Mortgage-backed securities 17.2 - 17.2
Commingled fund® 38.5 - 38.5
Common/collective trust® 29.6 - 29.6
Foreign government bonds 2.9 - 2.9
Interest-bearing cash 2.1 2.1 -
U.S. municipal bonds 1.7 - 1.7
Preferred stocks (foreign) 0.6 0.6 -
Forward contracts
Receivable (foreign currency) 41 - 41
Payable (foreign currency) 4.1) - 4.1)
Total Plan investments $618.9 $360.7 $258.2
Receivable from broker for securities sold 4.8
Interest and dividends receivable 3.1
Payable to broker for securities purchased  (37.0)
Total Plan assets $589.8

(A) This category represents U.S. treasury notes and bonds with a Moody’s Investors Services rating
of Aaa and Government Agency Bonds with a Moody's Investors Services rating of A1 or higher.

(B) This category primarily represents U.S. corporate bonds with an investment grade rating at or above
Baa3 or BBB- by Moody’s Investors Services, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services or Fitch Ratings.

(C) This category represents units of participation in a commingled fund that primarily invested in
stocks of international companies and emerging markets.

(D) This category represents units of participation in an investment pool which primarily invests in
foreign or domestic bonds, debentures, mortgages, equipment or other trust certificates, notes,
obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies, bank certificates of
deposit, bankers’ acceptances and repurchase agreements, high grade commercial paper and
other instruments with money market characteristics with a fixed or variable interest rate. There
are no restrictions on redemptions in the common/collective trust.

(E) This category represents units of participation in a commingled fund that primarily invest in stocks
and bonds of U.S. companies.

The three levels defined in the fair value hierarchy and examples
of each are as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
unrestricted assets or liabilities that are accessible by the Pension Plan
at the measurement date. Instruments classified as Level 1 include
investments in common and preferred stocks, U.S. treasury notes and
bonds, mutual funds and interest-bearing cash.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets
included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable at
the reporting date for the asset or liability for substantially the full term
of the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active. Instruments
classified as Level 2 include corporate fixed income and other securities,

mortgage-backed securities, other U.S. Government obligations,
commingled fund, a common/collective trust, U.S. municipal bonds,
foreign government bonds, a repurchase agreement, money market
fund and forward contracts.

Level 3 inputs are prices or valuation techniques for the asset or
liability that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value
measurement and unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market
activity). Unobservable inputs reflect the Plan’s own assumptions about
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset
or liability (including assumptions about risk).

Postretirement Benefit Plans
In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company provides certain
medical and life insurance benefits for eligible retired members. Regular,
full-time, active employees hired prior to February 1, 2000 whose age
and years of credited service total or exceed 80 or have attained at
least age 55 with 10 or more years of service at the time of retirement
are entitled to postretirement medical benefits while employees hired
on or after February 1, 2000 are not entitled to postretirement medical
benefits. Eligible retirees must contribute such amount as the Company
specifies from time to time toward the cost of coverage for postretire-
ment benefits. The benefits are subject to deductibles, co-payment
provisions and other limitations. OG&E charges to expense the postre-
tirement benefit costs and includes an annual amount as a component
of the cost-of-service in future ratemaking proceedings.

In January 2011, the Company adopted several amendments
to its retiree medical plan. Effective January 1, 2012, the Company’s
contribution to the medical costs for pre-65 aged eligible retirees are
fixed at the 2011 level and the Company covers future annual medical
inflationary cost increases up to five percent. Increases in excess of five
percent annually are covered by the pre-65 aged retiree in the form of
premium increases. Also, effective January 1, 2012, Medicare-eligible
retirees are no longer eligible to participate in the retiree medical plan.
Instead, the Company began providing Medicare-eligible retirees and
their Medicare-eligible spouses an annual fixed contribution to a
Company-sponsored health reimbursement arrangement. The contribu-
tion was determined based on the Company’s expected average 2011
premium for medical and drug coverage. Medicare-eligible retirees are
able to purchase individual insurance policies supplemental to Medicare
through a third-party administrator and use their health reimbursement
arrangement funds for reimbursement of medical premiums and other
eligible medical expenses. The effect of these plan amendments was
reflected in the Company’s 2011 Consolidated Balance Sheet as a reduc-
tion to the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of $91.3 million,
an increase in other comprehensive income of $16.9 million and a reduc-
tion to OG&E’s benefit obligations regulatory asset of $74.4 million.
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Plan Investments

The following tables summarize the postretirement benefit plans
investments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at
December 31, 2012 and 2011. There were no Level 2 investments held
by the postretirement benefit plans at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

(In millions, December 31) 2012 Level 1 Level 3
Group retiree medical

insurance contract® $53.3 $ - $53.3
Mutual funds investment

U.S. equity investments 6.0 6.0 -
Money market funds investment 0.3 0.3 -
Total Plan investments $59.6 $6.3 $53.3

(A) This category represents a group retiree medical insurance contract which invests in a pool of
common stocks, bonds and money market accounts, of which a significant portion is comprised
of mortgage-backed securities.

(In millions, December 31) 2011 Level 1 Level 3
Group retiree medical

insurance contract® $54.3 $ - $54.3
Mutual funds investment

U.S. equity investments 5.3 5.3 -
Money market funds investment 0.7 0.7 -
Cash 0.7 0.7 -
Total Plan investments $61.0 $6.7 $54.3

(A) This category represents a group retiree medical insurance contract which invests in a pool of
common stocks, bonds and money market accounts, of which a significant portion is comprised
of mortgage-backed securities.

The postretirement benefit plans Level 3 investment includes an
investment in a group retiree medical insurance contract. The unobserv-
able input included in the valuation of the contract includes the approach
for determining the allocation of the postretirement benefit plans pro-rata
share of the total assets in the contract.

The following table summarizes the postretirement benefit plans
investments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012
Group retiree medical insurance contract
Beginning balance $54.3
Net unrealized gains related to instruments

held at the reporting date 5.5
Interest income 1.2
Dividend income 0.6
Realized gains 0.6
Administrative expenses and charges (0.1)
Claims paid (8.8)
Ending balance $53.3
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The following table presents the status of the Company’s
postretirement benefit plans at December 31, 2012 and 2011. These
amounts have been recorded in Accrued Benefit Obligations with the
offset in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (except OG&E’s portion
which is recorded as a regulatory asset as discussed in Note 1) in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. The amounts in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Loss and those recorded as a regulatory asset
represent a net periodic benefit cost to be recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Income in future periods.

(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011

Benefit obligations $(301.0) $(280.6)
Fair value of plan assets 59.6 61.0
Funded status at end of year $(241.4) $(219.6)

The assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect
on the amounts reported for postretirement medical benefit plans.
Future health care cost trend rates are assumed to be 8.55 percent in
2013 with the rates trending downward to 4.48 percent by 2028. A
one-percentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend
rate would have the following effects:

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
One-percentage point increase
Effect on aggregate of the service and

interest cost components $ - $ - $3.1

Effect on accumulated postretirement

benefit obligations 0.1 0.1 0.7
One-percentage point decrease
Effect on aggregate of the service and

interest cost components $0.1 $0.1 $2.5
Effect on accumulated postretirement
benefit obligations 0.9 0.6 1.6

Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement

and Modernization Act of 2003

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act
of 2003 expanded coverage for prescription drugs. The following table
summarizes the gross benefit payments the Company expects to pay
related to its postretirement benefit plans, including prescription
drug benefits.

Gross Projected
Postretirement

(In millions) Benefit Payments
2013 $15.4
2014 16.3
2015 17.0
2016 17.6
2017 18.1
After 2017 94.9




Obligations and Funded Status

The following table presents the status of the Company’s Pension Plan,
the Restoration of Retirement Income Plan and the postretirement ben-
efit plans for 2012 and 2011. The benefit obligation for the Company’s
Pension Plan and the Restoration of Retirement Income Plan represents
the projected benefit obligation, while the benefit obligation for the
postretirement benefit plans represents the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation. The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
for the Company’s Pension Plan and Restoration of Retirement Income
Plan differs from the projected benefit obligation in that the former

includes no assumption about future compensation levels. The accu-
mulated postretirement benefit obligation for the Pension Plan and the
Restoration of Retirement Income Plan at December 31, 2012 was
$705.2 million and $12.7 million, respectively. The accumulated postre-
tirement benefit obligation for the Pension Plan and the Restoration of
Retirement Income Plan at December 31, 2011 was $656.1 million and
$11.9 million, respectively. The details of the funded status of the
Pension Plan, the Restoration of Retirement Income Plan and the
postretirement benefit plans and the amounts included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows:

Restoration of

Postretirement

Pension Plan Retirement Income Plan Benefit Plans
(In millions, December 31) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Change in benefit obligation
Beginning obligations $(697.7) $(640.9) $(13.3) $(10.8) $(280.6) $(337.1)
Service cost (17.9) (17.6) (1.0) (1.0 (4.1) (3.5
Interest cost (30.1) (33.3) (0.6) (0.6) (11.9) (12.5)
Plan amendments - - - - - 91.4
Participants’ contributions - - - - (3.5) 8.1)
Medicare subsidies received - - - - (0.5) (2.0
Actuarial gains (losses) (61.4) (48.3) (1.8) (1.0 (12.9) (25.7)
Benefits paid 60.0 42.4 2.2 0.1 12.5 16.9
Ending obligations $(747.1) $(697.7) $(14.5) $(13.3) $(301.0) $(280.6)
Change in plans’ assets
Beginning fair value $589.8 $574.0 $ - $ - $ 61.0 $ 585
Actual return on plans’ assets 61.2 8.2 - - 4.5 2.7
Employer contributions 35.0 50.0 2.2 0.1 2.6 6.6
Participants’ contributions - - - - 3.5 8.1
Medicare subsidies received - - - - 0.5 2.0
Benefits paid (60.0) (42.4) (2.2) 0.1) (12.5) (16.9)
Ending fair value $626.0 $589.8 $ - $ - $ 59.6 $ 61.0
Funded status at end of year $(121.1) $(107.9) $(14.5) $(13.3) $(241.4) $(219.6)
Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Restoration of Postretirement
Pension Plan Retirement Income Plan Benefit Plans
(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Service cost $17.9 $17.6 $16.7 $1.0 $1.0 $0.9 $ 441 $ 35 $ 4.3
Interest cost 30.1 33.3 31.8 0.6 0.6 0.5 11.9 125 17.0
Expected return on plan assets (46.0) (45.5) (42.4) - - - (3.0) (5.1) 6.9)
Amortization of transition obligation - - - - - - 2.7 2.7 2.7
Amortization of net loss 23.8 19.2 21.3 0.4 0.4 0.3 20.6 18.3 121
Amortization of unrecognized
prior service cost® 2.2 2.4 2.4 0.7 0.7 0.7 (16.5) (16.5) -
Settlement - - - 0.9 - - - - -
Net periodic benefit cost® $28.0 $27.0 $29.8 $3.6 $2.7 $2.4 $19.8 $15.4 $29.2

(A) Unamortized prior service cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period to the first eligibility age of participants who are expected to receive a benefit and are

active at the date of the plan amendment.

(B) In addition to the $51.4 million, $45.1 million and $61.4 million of net periodic benefit cost recognized in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, the Company recognized the following:
* An increase in pension expense in 2012, 2011 and 2010 of $8.3 million, $10.8 million and $8.1 million, respectively, to maintain the allowable amount to be recovered for pension expense in the

Oklahoma jurisdiction which are included in the Pension tracker regulatory liability (see Note 1); and

e An increase in postretirement medical expense in 2012 and 2011 of $0.8 million and $3.5 million, respectively, to maintain the allowable amount to be recovered for postretirement medical expense in

the Oklahoma jurisdiction which are included in the Pension tracker regulatory liability (see Note 1).

The capitalized portion of the net periodic pension benefit cost
was $6.5 million, $6.1 million and $6.5 million at December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively. The capitalized portion of the net periodic
postretirement benefit cost was $5.5 million, $3.8 million and $6.5 mil-
lion at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Rate Assumptions

Pension Plan and
Restoration of
Retirement Income Plan

Postretirement
Benefit Plans

(Year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Discount rate 3.70% 4.50% 5.30% 3.60% 4.50% 5.30%
Rate of return on plans’ assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.50% 4.00% 6.50% 8.50%
Compensation increases 4.20% 4.40% 4.40% N/A N/A N/A
Assumed health care cost trend:
Initial trend N/A N/A N/A 8.55% 8.75% 8.99%
Ultimate trend rate N/A N/A N/A 4.48% 4.48% 5.00%
Ultimate trend year N/A N/A N/A 2028 2028 2020

N/A - not applicable

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets assumption
remained at 8.00 percent in 2011 and 2012 in determining net periodic
benefit cost due to recent returns on the Company’s long-term investment
portfolio. The rate of return on plan assets assumption is the average
long-term rate of earnings expected on the funds currently invested and
to be invested for the purpose of providing benefits specified by the
Pension Plan or postretirement benefit plans. This assumption is reex-
amined at least annually and updated as necessary. The rate of return
on plan assets assumption reflects a combination of historical return
analysis, forward-looking return expectations and the plans’ current
and expected asset allocation.

Post-Employment Benefit Plan

Disabled employees receiving benefits from the Company’s Group
Long-Term Disability Plan are entitled to continue participating in
the Company’s Medical Plan along with their dependents. The post-
employment benefit obligation represents the actuarial present value
of estimated future medical benefits that are attributed to employee
service rendered prior to the date as of which such information is pre-
sented. The obligation also includes future medical benefits expected
to be paid to current employees participating in the Company’s Group
Long-Term Disability Plan and their dependents, as defined in the
Company’s Medical Plan.

The post-employment benefit obligation is determined by an actuary
on a basis similar to the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation.
The estimated future medical benefits are projected to grow with expected
future medical cost trend rates and are discounted for interest at the

discount rate and for the probability that the participant will discontinue
receiving benefits from the Company’s Group Long-Term Disability Plan
due to death, recovery from disability, or eligibility for retiree medical bene-
fits. The Company’s post-employment benefit obligation was $2.6 million
and $2.4 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

401(k) Plan
The Company provides a 401(k) Plan. Each regular full-time employee
of the Company or a participating affiliate is eligible to participate in
the 401(k) Plan immediately. All other employees of the Company or a
participating affiliate are eligible to become participants in the 401 (k)
Plan after completing one year of service as defined in the 401(k) Plan.
Participants may contribute each pay period any whole percentage
between two percent and 19 percent of their compensation, as defined
in the 401(k) Plan, for that pay period. Participants who have attained
age 50 before the close of a year are allowed to make additional contri-
butions referred to as “Catch-Up Contributions,” subject to certain
limitations of the Code. Participants may designate, at their discretion,
all or any portion of their contributions as: (i) a before-tax contribution
under Section 401(k) of the Code subject to the limitations thereof;
or (ii) a contribution made on an after-tax basis. The 401(k) Plan also
includes an eligible automatic contribution arrangement and provides
for a qualified default investment alternative consistent with the U.S.
Department of Labor regulations. Participants may elect, in accordance
with the 401(k) Plan procedures, to have his or her future salary deferral
rate to be automatically increased annually on a date and in an amount
as specified by the participant in such election.

The 401(k) Plan was amended in October 2009, as discussed
previously, whereby participants could select from the options below.

Employment Date

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Before February 1, 2000

< 20 years of service —
50% Company match up to
6% of compensation

200% Company match up
to 5% of compensation

100% Company match up
to 6% of compensation

> 20 years of service —
75% Company match up to
6% of compensation

200% Company match up
to 5% of compensation

100% Company match up
to 6% of compensation

After February 1, 2000 and before December 1, 2009 100% Company match up 200% Company match up N/A
to 6% of compensation to 5% of compensation
After December 1, 2009 200% Company match up N/A N/A

to 5% of compensation
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No Company contributions are made with respect to a participant’s
Catch-Up Contributions, rollover contributions, or with respect to a
participant’s contributions based on overtime payments, pay-in-lieu of
overtime for exempt personnel, special lump-sum recognition awards
and lump-sum merit awards included in compensation for determining
the amount of participant contributions. Once made, the Company’s
contribution may be directed to any available investment option in the
401(k) Plan. The Company match contributions vest over a three-year
period. After two years of service, participants become 20 percent
vested in their Company contribution account and become fully vested
on completing three years of service. In addition, participants fully vest
when they are eligible for normal or early retirement under the Pension
Plan, in the event of their termination due to death or permanent disability
or upon attainment of age 65 while employed by the Company or its
affiliates. The Company contributed $13.4 million, $12.3 million and
$11.4 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, to the 401(k) Plan.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company provides a nonqualified deferred compensation plan which
is intended to be an unfunded plan. The plan’s primary purpose is to
provide a tax-deferred capital accumulation vehicle for a select group of
management, highly compensated employees and non-employee mem-
bers of the Board of Directors of the Company and to supplement such
employees’ 401(k) Plan contributions as well as offering this plan to be
competitive in the marketplace.

Eligible employees who enroll in the plan have the following deferral
options: (i) eligible employees may elect to defer up to a maximum of
70 percent of base salary and 100 percent of annual bonus awards or
(ii) eligible employees may elect a deferral percentage of base salary
and bonus awards based on the deferral percentage elected for a year
under the 401(k) Plan with such deferrals to start when maximum defer-
rals to the qualified 401(k) Plan have been made because of limitations
in that plan. Eligible directors who enroll in the plan may elect to defer
up to a maximum of 100 percent of directors’ meeting fees and annual
retainers. The Company matches employee (but not non-employee
director) deferrals to make up for any match lost in the 401(k) Plan
because of deferrals to the deferred compensation plan, and to allow
for a match that would have been made under the 401(k) Plan on that
portion of either the first six percent of total compensation or the first
five percent of total compensation, depending on the option the partici-
pant elected under the choice provided to eligible employees in the
qualified 401(k) Plan discussed above, deferred that exceeds the limits
allowed in the 401(k) Plan. Matching credits vest based on years of
service, with full vesting after three years or, if earlier, on retirement,
disability, death, a change in control of the Company or termination of
the plan. Deferrals, plus any Company match, are credited to a record-

keeping account in the participant’s name. Earnings on the deferrals are
indexed to the assumed investment funds selected by the participant.
In 2012, those investment options included a Company Common Stock
fund, whose value was determined based on the stock price of the
Company’s Common Stock, and various money market, bond and
equity funds. The Company accounts for the contributions related

to the Company’s executive officers in this plan as Accrued Benefit
Obligations and the Company accounts for the contributions related to
the Company’s directors in this plan as Other Deferred Credits and
Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The investment
associated with these contributions is accounted for as Other Property
and Investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The appreciation
of these investments is accounted for as Other Income and the increase
in the liability under the plan is accounted for as Other Expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

The Company provides a supplemental executive retirement plan in
order to attract and retain lateral hires or other executives designated
by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors
who may not otherwise qualify for a sufficient level of benefits under
the Company’s Pension Plan and Restoration of Retirement Income
Plan. The supplemental executive retirement plan is intended to be an
unfunded plan and not subject to the benefit limitations of the Code.

15. Report of Business Segments

Previously, the Company’s business was divided into four segments

as follows: (i) electric utility, which is engaged in the generation,
transmission, distribution and sale of electric energy, (i) natural gas
transportation and storage, (jii) natural gas gathering and processing
and (iv) natural gas marketing. During the third quarter of 2012, the
operations and activities of EER were fully integrated with those of
Enogex through the creation of a new commodity management organi-
zation. The operations of EER, including asset management activities,
have been included in the natural gas transportation and storage seg-
ment and have been restated for all prior periods presented. As a result
of this change, the Company’s business is now divided into three seg-
ments for financial reporting purposes as follows: (i) electric utility,

(i) natural gas transportation and storage and (jii) natural gas gathering
and processing. Other Operations primarily includes the operations of
the holding company. Intersegment revenues are recorded at prices
comparable to those of unaffiliated customers and are affected by
regulatory considerations. In reviewing its segment operating results,
the Company focuses on operating income as its measure of segment
profit and loss, and, therefore, has presented this information below.
The following tables summarize the results of the Company’s business
segments for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Natural Gas Natural Gas
Electric Transportation Gathering and Other
(In millions) Utility —and Storage Processing Operations  Eliminations Total
2012
Operating revenues $2,141.2 $ 639.5 $1,222.6 $ - $ (332.1) $3,671.2
Cost of goods sold 879.1 504.9 868.7 - (334.0) 1,918.7
Gross margin on revenues 1,262.1 134.6 353.9 - 1.9 1,752.5
Other operation and maintenance 446.3 49.8 123.1 (17.7) - 601.5
Depreciation and amortization 248.7 24.0 84.8 13.5 - 371.0
Impairment of assets - - 0.4 - - 0.4
Gain on insurance proceeds - - (7.5) - - (7.5)
Taxes other than income 77.7 15.7 12.6 4.2 - 110.2
Operating income (loss) $ 489.4 $ 451 $ 1405 $ - 8 1.9 $ 676.9
Total assets $7,222.4 $2,330.8 $1,868.6 $272.6  $(1,772.2)  $9,922.2
Capital expenditures® $ 704.4 $ 320 $ 4754 $183 $ (090 $1,229.2
2011
Operating revenues $2,211.5 $ 880.1 $1,167.1 $ - $ (342.8) $3,915.9
Cost of goods sold 1,013.5 736.0 870.7 - (342.3) 2,277.9
Gross margin on revenues 1,198.0 1441 296.4 - (0.5) 1,638.0
Other operation and maintenance 436.0 50.7 111.8 (17.3) - 581.2
Depreciation and amortization 216.1 22.0 55.6 13.4 - 307.1
Impairment of assets - - 6.3 - - 6.3
Gain on insurance proceeds - - (3.0) - - (8.0)
Taxes other than income 73.6 15.0 7.0 41 - 99.7
Operating income (loss) $ 4723 $ 56.4 $ 118.7 $ 02 $ (05 $ 646.7
Total assets $6,620.9 $1,836.9 $1,483.8 $166.6  $(1,202.2)  $8,906.0
Capital expenditures® $ 8445 $ 411 $ 572.0 $ 138 $ (0.6) $1,470.8
2010
Operating revenues $2,109.9 $ 984.8 $1,005.6 $ - $ (383.4) $3,716.9
Cost of goods sold 1,000.2 834.5 733.3 - (380.6) 2,187.4
Gross margin on revenues 1,109.7 150.3 272.3 - (2.8) 1,529.5
Other operation and maintenance 418.1 53.8 91.5 (13.6) - 549.8
Depreciation and amortization 208.7 21.2 50.1 11.3 - 291.3
Impairment of assets - 0.7 0.4 - - 1.1
Taxes other than income 69.2 14.2 6.4 3.6 - 93.4
Operating income (loss) $ 413.7 $ 604 $ 123.9 $ (1.3 % (2.8) $ 593.9
Total assets $5,898.1 $1,316.6 $ 973.8 $135.4 $ (654.8) $7,669.1
Capital expenditures $ 631.6 $ 726 $ 164.0 $141 $ (24 $ 8799
(A Includes $78.6 million related to the acquisition of certain gas gathering assets as discussed in Note 3.
(B) Includes $200.4 million related to the acquisition of certain gas gathering assets as discussed in Note 3.
16. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Lease Obligations
The Company has operating lease obligations expiring at various dates,
primarily for OG&E railcar leases, OG&E wind farm land leases and
OGE Energy and Enogex noncancellable operating leases. Future
minimum payments for noncancellable operating leases are as follows:
After
(In millions, year ended December 31) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 Total
Operating lease obligations
OG&E railcars $ 3.2 $2.8 $2.7 $27.3 $ - $ - $ 36.0
OG&E wind farm land leases 2.0 21 21 21 2.4 51.2 61.9
OGE Energy noncancellable operating lease 0.3 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.7 4.2
Enogex noncancellable operating leases 5.2 3.7 3.5 3.4 0.7 - 16.5
Total operating lease obligations $10.7 $9.4 $9.1 $33.6 $3.9 $51.9 $118.6

Payments for operating lease obligations were $14.2 million,
$10.4 million and $10.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively.
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OG&E Railcar Lease Agreement

OG&E has a noncancellable operating lease with purchase options,
covering 1,389 coal hopper railcars to transport coal from Wyoming to
OG&E’s coal-fired generation units. Rental payments are charged to Fuel
Expense and are recovered through OG&E'’s tariffs and fuel adjustment
clauses. On December 15, 2010, OG&E renewed the lease agreement
effective February 1, 2011. At the end of the new lease term, which is
February 1, 2016, OG&E has the option to either purchase the railcars
at a stipulated fair market value or renew the lease. If OG&E chooses
not to purchase the railcars or renew the lease agreement and the actual
fair value of the railcars is less than the stipulated fair market value, OG&E
would be responsible for the difference in those values up to a maxi-
mum of $22.8 million.

On January 11, 2012, OG&E executed a five-year lease agreement
for 135 railcars to replace railcars that have been taken out of service
or destroyed. OG&E is also required to maintain all of the railcars it
has under lease to transport coal from Wyoming and has entered into
agreements with Progress Rail Services and WATCO, both of which
are non-affiliated companies, to furnish this maintenance.

OG&E Wind Farm Land Lease Agreements

OG&E has wind farm land operating leases for its Centennial, OU Spirit
and Crossroads wind farms expiring at various dates. The Centennial
lease has rent escalations which increase annually based on the Consumer
Price Index. The OU Spirit and Crossroads leases have rent escalations
which increase after five and 10 years. Although the leases are cancellable,

OG&E is required to make annual lease payments as long as the wind
turbines are located on the land. OG&E does not expect to terminate
the leases until the wind turbines reach the end of their economic life.

OGE Energy Noncancellable Operating Lease

On August 29, 2012, OGE Energy executed a five-year lease agreement
for office space from September 1, 2013 to August 31, 2018. This lease
has rent escalations which increase after five years and allows for
leasehold improvements.

Enogex Noncancellable Operating Leases
Enogex currently occupies 134,219 square feet of office space at its
executive offices under a lease that expires March 31, 2017. The lease
payments are $11.3 million over the lease term which began April 1,
2012. This lease has rent escalations which increase after five and
10 years if the lease is renewed.

Enogex currently has 17 compression service agreements, of which
10 agreements are on a month-to-month basis, three agreements will
expire in 2013, two agreements will expire in 2016 and two agreements
will expire in 2017. Enogex also has eight gas treating agreements, of
which six agreements are on a month-to-month basis, one agreement
will expire in 2013 and one agreement will expire in 2014.

Other Purchase Obligations and Commitments
The Company’s other future purchase obligations and commitments
estimated for the next five years are as follows:

(In millions) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Total
Other purchase obligations and commitments
OG&E cogeneration capacity and fixed operation
and maintenance payments $ 87.9 $ 85.8 $ 845 $ 82.4 $ 80.1 $ 420.7
OG&E expected cogeneration energy payments 58.6 63.8 70.5 81.0 87.3 361.2
OG&E minimum fuel purchase commitments 405.0 255.0 264.8 - - 924.8
OG&E expected wind purchase commitments 57.5 58.0 58.9 59.8 60.8 295.0
OG&E long-term service agreement commitments 8.0 27.8 6.7 6.2 6.4 55.1
EER commitments 11.9 10.8 4.7 0.8 - 28.2
Total other purchase obligations and commitments $628.9 $501.2 $490.1 $230.2 $234.6 $2,085.0
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Public Utility Regulatory Policy Act of 1978

At December 31, 2012, OG&E has QF contracts having terms of 15

to 32 years. These contracts were entered into pursuant to the Public
Utility Regulatory Policy Act of 1978. Stated generally, the Public Utility
Regulatory Policy Act of 1978 and the regulations thereunder promul-
gated by the FERC require OG&E to purchase power generated in a
manufacturing process from a QF. The rate for such power to be paid
by OG&E was approved by the OCC. The rate generally consists of two
components: one is a rate for actual electricity purchased from the QF
by OG&E; the other is a capacity charge, which OG&E must pay the
QF for having the capacity available. However, if no electrical power is
made available to OG&E for a period of time (generally three months),
OG&E'’s obligation to pay the capacity charge is suspended. The total
cost of cogeneration payments is recoverable in rates from customers.
For the 320 MW AES-Shady Point, Inc. QF contract and the 120 MW
PowerSmith Cogeneration Project, L.P. QF contract, OG&E purchases
100 percent of the electricity generated by the QFs.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, OG&E
made total payments to cogenerators of $135.1 million, $140.7 million
and $147.3 million, respectively, of which $77.1 million, $78.0 million
and $80.7 million, respectively, represented capacity payments. All pay-
ments for purchased power, including cogeneration, are included in
the Consolidated Statements of Income as Cost of Goods Sold.

OG&E Minimum Fuel Purchase Commitments

OG&E purchased necessary fuel supplies of coal and natural gas for
its generating units of $585.6 million, $647.6 million and $721.4 million
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
OG&E has coal contracts for purchases from January 2012 through
December 2015. OG&E has entered into multiple month term natural
gas contracts for 26.1 percent of its 2013 annual forecasted natural gas
requirements. Additional gas supplies to fulfill OG&E’s remaining 2013
natural gas requirements will be acquired through additional requests
for proposal in early to mid-2013, along with monthly and daily pur-
chases, all of which are expected to be made at market prices.

OG&E Wind Purchase Commitments

OG&E’s current wind power portfolio includes: (i) the 120 MW Centennial
wind farm, (i) the 101 MW OU Spirit wind farm, (iii) the 227.5 MW
Crossroads wind farm, (iv) access to up to 50 MWs of electricity gener-
ated at a wind farm near Woodward, Oklahoma from a 15-year contract
OG&E entered into with FPL Energy that expires in 2018, (v) access to
up to 150 MWs of electricity generated at a wind farm in Woodward
County, Oklahoma from a 20-year contract OG&E entered into with CPV
Keenan that expires in 2030, (vi) access to up to 130 MWs of electricity
generated at a wind farm in Dewey County, Oklahoma from a 20-year
contract OG&E entered into with Edison Mission Energy that expires in
2030 and (vii) access to up to 60 MWs of electricity generated at a wind
farm near Blackwell, Oklahoma from a 20-year contract OG&E entered
into with NextEra Energy that expires in 2032.
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The following table summarizes OG&E’s wind power purchases for
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

(In millions, year ended December 31) 2012 2011 2010
CPV Keenan $25.1 $24.5 $3.8
Edison Mission Energy 20.2 8.5 -
FPL Energy 3.4 3.7 3.9
NextEra Energy 0.8 - -
Total wind power purchased $49.5 $36.7 $7.7

OG&E Long-Term Service Agreement Commitments

In July 2004, OG&E acquired a 77 percent interest in the McClain Plant.
As part of that acquisition, OG&E became subject to an existing long-
term parts and service maintenance contract for the upkeep of the
natural gas-fired combined cycle generation facility. The contract was
initiated in December 1999, and runs for the earlier of 96,000 factored-
fired hours or 4,800 factored-fired starts. Based on historical usage
and current expectations for future usage, this contract is expected to
run until 2015. The contract requires payments based on both a fixed
and variable cost component, depending on how much the McClain
Plant is used.

In September 2008, OG&E acquired a 51 percent interest in the
Redbud Plant. As part of that acquisition, OG&E became subject to
an existing long-term parts and service maintenance contract for the
upkeep of the natural gas-fired combined cycle generation facility.
The contract was initiated in January 2001, and runs for the earlier of
120,000 factored-fired hours or 4,500 factored-fired starts. Based on
historical usage and current expectations for future usage, this contract
is expected to run until 2027. The contract requires payments based
on both a fixed and variable cost component, depending on how much
the Redbud Plant is used.

EER Commitments
In 2004, EER entered into a firm transportation service agreement with
Cheyenne Plains, who operates the Cheyenne Plains Pipeline that pro-
vides firm transportation services in Wyoming, Colorado and Kansas,
for 60,000 decatherms/day of firm capacity on the pipeline. The firm
transportation service agreement was for a 10-year term beginning with
the in-service date of the Cheyenne Plains Pipeline in March 2005 with
an annual demand fee of $7.4 million. Effective March 1, 2007, EER and
Cheyenne Plains amended the firm transportation service agreement to
provide for EER to turn back 20,000 decatherms/day of its capacity
beginning in January 2008 for the remainder of the term.

In 2006, Enogex entered into a firm capacity agreement with MEP for
a primary term of 10 years (subject to possible extension) that gives MEP
and its shippers access to capacity on Enogex’s system. The quantity of
capacity subject to the MEP capacity agreement is currently 272 MMcf/d,
with the quantity subject to being increased by mutual agreement
pursuant to the capacity agreement. In 2009, EER entered into a firm
transportation service agreement with MEP for 10,000 decatherms/day
of firm capacity on the pipeline. The firm transportation service agree-
ment was for a five-year term beginning with the in-service date of the
MEP pipeline in June 2009 with an annual demand fee of $2.1 million.



Environmental Laws and Regulations

The activities of OG&E and Enogex are subject to stringent and complex
Federal, state and local laws and regulations governing environmental
protection including the discharge of materials into the environment.
These laws and regulations can restrict or impact OG&E’s and Enogex’s
business activities in many ways, such as restricting the way it can
handle or dispose of their wastes, requiring remedial action to mitigate
pollution conditions that may be caused by their operations or that are
attributable to former operators, regulating future construction activities
to mitigate harm to threatened or endangered species and requiring
the installation and operation of pollution control equipment. Failure to
comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment
of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the imposition of remedial
requirements and the issuance of orders enjoining future operations.
OG&E and Enogex believe that their operations are in substantial com-
pliance with current Federal, state and local environmental standards.

Environmental regulation can increase the cost of planning,
design, initial installation and operation of OG&E’s or Enogex’s facilities.
Historically, OG&E’s and Enogex’s total expenditures for environmental
control facilities and for remediation have not been significant in relation
to its consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company
believes, however, that it is reasonably likely that the trend in environ-
mental legislation and regulations will continue towards more restrictive
standards. Compliance with these standards is expected to increase
the cost of conducting business.

OG&E and Enogex are managing several significant uncertainties
about the scope and timing for the acquisition, installation and operation
of additional pollution control equipment and compliance costs for a
variety of the EPA rules that are being challenged in court. OG&E and
Enogex are unable to predict the financial impact of these matters with
certainty at this time. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Environmental Laws and
Regulations” for a discussion of the Company’s environmental matters.

Pipeline Safety Legislation

On December 13, 2011, Congress passed the Pipeline Safety, Regulatory
Certainty, and Job Creation Act of 2011, which the President signed
into law on January 3, 2012. Among other things, the law requires addi-
tional verification of pipeline infrastructure records by Enogex and other
intrastate and interstate pipeline owners and operators to confirm the
maximum allowable operating pressure of lines located in high conse-
quence areas or more-densely populated areas. Where records are
inadequate to confirm the maximum allowable operating pressure, the
U.S. Department of Transportation, Pipeline and Hazardous Materials
Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) will require the operator to re-confirm
the maximum allowable operating pressure, a process that could cause
temporary or permanent limitations on throughput for affected pipelines.

This law required PHMSA to direct pipeline operators to verify the
maximum allowable operating pressure of their pipelines by July 3, 2012,
and to submit documentation to PHMSA by July 3, 2013. This law also
raises the maximum penalty for violating pipeline safety rules to $0.2 mil-
lion per violation per day up to $2.0 million for a related series of violations.

In addition, this law requires PHMSA to issue reports and/or, if
appropriate, develop new regulations, addressing a variety of subjects,
including: (1) requiring pipeline owners and operators to install excess-
flow valves in certain circumstances; (2) requiring pipeline owners and
operators to use automatic or remote-controlled shut-off valves in cer-
tain circumstances; (3) requiring pipeline owners and operators to test
to confirm the strength of previously untested transmission lines located
within high consequence areas and operating at a pressure greater than
30 percent of specified minimum vyield stress; (4) requiring pipeline owners
and operators to notify the National Response Center of an accident or
incident at the earliest practicable moment (but not later than one hour)
after confirming that an accident or incident has occurred; (5) expanding
integrity management requirements beyond high consequence areas;
and (6) applying the Federal pipeline safety regulations to onshore gath-
ering lines that are not currently subject to the Federal pipeline safety
regulations. This law prescribes various deadlines for PHMSA to act
on these issues.

At this time, the Company is not able to estimate the capital,
operating or other costs that may be required to comply with this law
and any related PHMSA regulations that may be promulgated, but such
costs could be significant.

Other

In the normal course of business, the Company is confronted with
issues or events that may result in a contingent liability. These generally
relate to lawsuits or claims made by third parties, including governmental
agencies. When appropriate, management consults with legal counsel
and other appropriate experts to assess the claim. If, in management’s
opinion, the Company has incurred a probable loss as set forth by
GAAP, an estimate is made of the loss and the appropriate accounting
entries are reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
At the present time, based on currently available information, except as
otherwise stated above, in Note 17 below, in ltem 3 of the Company’s
Form 10-K and under “Environmental Laws and Regulations” in
”Management’s Discussion of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”, the Company believes that any reasonably possible
losses in excess of accrued amounts arising out of pending or threat-
ened lawsuits or claims would not be quantitatively material to its
financial statements and would not have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.
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17. Rate Matters and Regulation

Regulation and Rates

OG&E's retail electric tariffs are regulated by the OCC in Oklahoma and
by the APSC in Arkansas. The issuance of certain securities by OG&E
is also regulated by the OCC and the APSC. OG&E’s wholesale electric
tariffs, transmission activities, short-term borrowing authorization and
accounting practices are subject to the jurisdiction of the FERC. The
Secretary of the U.S. Department of Energy has jurisdiction over some
of OG&E's facilities and operations. In 2012, 87 percent of OG&E’s elec-
tric revenue was subject to the jurisdiction of the OCC, eight percent
to the APSC and five percent to the FERC.

The OCC issued an order in 1996 authorizing OG&E to reorganize
into a subsidiary of OGE Energy. The order required that, among other
things, (i) OGE Energy permit the OCC access to the books and records
of OGE Energy and its affiliates relating to transactions with OG&E, (ii)
OGE Energy employ accounting and other procedures and controls to
protect against subsidization of non-utility activities by OG&E’s customers
and (i) OGE Energy refrain from pledging OG&E assets or income for
affiliate transactions. In addition, the Energy Policy Act of 2005 enacted
the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, which in turn granted
to the FERC access to the books and records of OGE Energy and its
affiliates as the FERC deems relevant to costs incurred by OG&E or
necessary or appropriate for the protection of utility customers with
respect to the FERC jurisdictional rates.

Completed Regulatory Matters

OG&E Contract and Wind Energy Purchase Agreement Filing

On December 1, 2011, OG&E filed an application with the OCC
requesting approval of a 20-year agreement that is intended to provide
wind power to help meet the current and future power generation needs
of Oklahoma State University. The project called for OG&E to contract with
NextEra Energy to build a 60 MW wind farm near Blackwell, Oklahoma, to
support the Oklahoma State University project in which NextEra Energy
built, owns and operates the wind farm and OG&E purchases the elec-
tric output. On February 22, 2012, OG&E, the Attorney General and the
Public Utility Division of the OCC signed a settlement agreement whereby
the stipulating parties requested that the OCC issue an order approving
the agreement for electric service with Oklahoma State University. On
March 12, 2012, OG&E received an order from the OCC approving the
settlement agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the power purchase
agreement between OG&E and NextEra Energy, OG&E has been purchas-
ing the electric output of the wind farm since November 2012 and uses
that power to provide service to Oklahoma State University and its other
retail customers. The wind farm was fully in service in December 2012.
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OG&E SPP Transmission Projects

The SPP is a regional transmission organization under the jurisdiction
of the FERC that was created to ensure reliable supplies of power,
adequate transmission infrastructure and competitive wholesale prices
of electricity. The SPP does not build transmission though the SPP’s
tariff contains rules that govern the transmission construction process.
Transmission owners complete the construction and then own, operate
and maintain transmission assets within the SPP region. When the SPP
Board of Directors approves a project, the transmission provider in the
area where the project is needed currently has the first obligation to
build; however, the process for deciding which entity constructs and
owns a project may change as a result of FERC Order. No. 1000
discussed below.

There are several studies currently under review at the SPP including
a 20-year plan to address issues of regional and interregional importance.
The 20-year plan suggests overlaying the SPP footprint with a 345 kilo-
volt transmission system and integrating it with neighboring regional
entities. In 2009, the SPP Board of Directors approved a new report
that recommended restructuring the SPP’s regional planning processes
to focus on the construction of a robust transmission system, large
enough in both scale and geography, to provide flexibility to meet the
SPP’s future needs. OG&E expects to actively participate in the ongoing
study, development and transmission growth that may result from the
SPP’s plans.

In 2007, the SPP notified OG&E to construct 44 miles of a new
345 kilovolt transmission line originating at OG&E’s existing Sooner
345 kilovolt substation and proceeding generally in a northerly direction
to the Oklahoma/Kansas Stateline (referred to as the Sooner-Rose Hill
project). At the Oklahoma/Kansas Stateline, the line connects to the com-
panion line constructed in Kansas by Westar Energy. The transmission
line was placed in service in April 2012. The total capital expenditures
associated with this project were $45 million.

In January 2009, OG&E received notification from the SPP to begin
construction on 50 miles of a new 345 kilovolt transmission line and sub-
station upgrades at OG&E’s Sunnyside substation, among other projects.
In April 2009, Western Farmers Electric Cooperative assigned to OG&E
the construction of 50 miles of line designated by the SPP to be built by
Western Farmers Electric Cooperative. The new line extends from OG&E’s
Sunnyside substation near Ardmore, Oklahoma, 123.5 miles to the Hugo
substation owned by Western Farmers Electric Cooperative near Hugo,
Oklahoma. The transmission line was completed in April 2012. The total
capital expenditures associated with this project were $157 million.

As discussed below, the OCC approved a settlement agreement
in OG&E’s 2011 Oklahoma rate case filing that included an expedited
procedure for recovering the costs of the two projects. On July 31, 2012,
OG&E filed an application with the OCC requesting an order authorizing
recovery for the two projects through the SPP transmission systems
additions rider. On October 2, 2012, all parties signed a settlement



agreement in this matter which stated: (i) the parties agree not to
oppose requested relief sought by OG&E, (ii) OG&E will host meetings
to discuss the SPP’s transmission planning process, including any future
transmission projects for which OG&E has received a notice to construct
from the SPP, and (jii) there will be opportunities for parties to provide
input related to transmission planning studies that the SPP performs
to identify future transmission projects. On October 25, 2012, the OCC
issued an order approving the settlement agreement and granting OG&E
cost recovery for the two projects. OG&E initiated cost recovery begin-
ning with the first billing cycle in November 2012.

OG&E 2011 Oklahoma Rate Case Filing

On July 28, 2011, OG&E filed its application with the OCC requesting
an annual rate increase of $73.3 million, or a 4.3 percent increase in

its rates. OG&E requested a return on equity of 11.0 percent based on

a common equity percentage of 53.0 percent. In its application, OG&E
requested recovery of increases in its operating costs and to begin
earning on approximately $500 million of new capital investments made
on behalf of its Oklahoma customers during the previous two and one-
half years. On July 2, 2012, OG&E and other parties associated with its
rate increase reached a settlement agreement in this matter. On July 9,
2012, the OCC issued an order approving the settlement agreement

in this matter. Key terms of the settlement agreement included: (i) an
annual net increase of approximately $4.3 million in OG&E’s rates to

its Oklahoma retail customers, (i) OG&E’s Oklahoma retail authorized
return on equity of 10.2 percent, (iii) the rate of return under various
recovery riders previously approved by the OCC, including riders for
OG&E’s smart grid implementation and Crossroads wind farm, is based
on OG&E’s actual debt and equity ratios as reflected in OG&E’s applica-
tion and a 10.2 percent return on equity, (iv) depreciation rates were
implemented in the same month new customer rates went into effect,
(v) the pension and postretirement medical cost tracker remains in
effect, (vi) a procedure was established to expedite the recovery of the
cost of specified high-voltage transmission projects and (vii) extension
of funding for OG&E’s system hardening program. OG&E expects the
impact of the rate increase on its customers and service territory to be
minimal as the rate increase will be more than offset by lower fuel costs
attributable to prior fuel over recoveries from lower than forecasted fuel
costs. OG&E implemented the new rates effective in early August.

OG&E Smart Grid Project

On December 17, 2010, OG&E filed an application with the APSC
requesting pre-approval for system-wide deployment of smart grid
technology and a recovery rider, including a credit for the Smart Grid
grant awarded by the U.S. Department of Energy under the American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. On June 22, 2011, OG&E
reached a settlement agreement with all the parties in this matter. OG&E
and the other parties in this matter agreed to ask the APSC to approve

the settlement agreement including the following: (i) pre-approval of
system-wide deployment of smart grid technology in Arkansas and
authorization for OG&E to begin recovering the prudently incurred costs
of the Arkansas system-wide deployment of smart grid technology
through a rider mechanism that will become effective in accordance
with the order approving the settlement agreement; (i) cost recovery
through the rider would commence when all of the smart meters to
be deployed in Arkansas are in service; (i) OG&E guarantees that cus-
tomers will receive certain operations and maintenance cost reductions
resulting from the smart grid deployment as a credit to the recovery
rider; and (iv) the stranded costs associated with OG&E’s existing
meters which are being replaced by smart meters will be accumulated
in a regulatory asset and recovered in base rates beginning after an
order is issued in OG&E’s next general rate case. On August 3, 2011,
the APSC issued an order in this matter approving the settlement
agreement. On November 5, 2012, OG&E filed a revised smart grid
recovery rider rate schedule. On December 13, 2012, the APSC issued
an order in this matter approving the revised smart grid recovery rider
to be effective beginning with the first billing cycle in January 2013
through December 2013. OG&E began recovering the estimated capital
costs of $14 million and associated operation and maintenance costs
for deployment of smart grid technology, along with incremental costs
for web portal access and education of $0.8 million. The APSC also
found that the prudence of OG&E’s smart grid expenditures will be
determined in OG&E’s next Arkansas rate case and that revenues col-
lected under the rider are subject to refund, with interest, only in the
event that the APSC determines that OG&E’s smart grid expenditures
were not prudent. The costs recoverable from Oklahoma customers for
system-wide deployment of smart grid technology and implementing
the smart grid pilot program were capped at $366.4 million (inclusive
of the U.S. Department of Energy grant award amount) subject to an
offset for any recovery of those costs from Arkansas customers and
are currently being recovered through a rider which will remain in effect
until the smart grid project costs are included in base rates in OG&E’s
next general rate case. This project was completed in late 2012 and
the smart grid project costs did not exceed $366.4 million.

OG&E Demand and Energy Efficiency Program Filing

On July 2, 2012, OG&E filed an application with the OCC requesting
approval of OG&E’s 2013 demand portfolio, the authorization to recover
the program costs, lost revenues associated with any achieved energy,
demand savings and performance based incentives through the demand
program rider and the recovery of costs associated with research and
development investments. On July 16, 2012, OG&E filed an amended
application which modified various calculations to reflect the rate of
return authorized by the OCC in OG&E’s 2011 rate case order and pro-
vided for consideration of a peak time rebate program. On December 20,
2012, the OCC approved a settlement with all parties in this matter.
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Key terms of the settlement included (i) approval of the program
budgets proposed by OG&E and an additional amount of approximately
$7 million over the three-year period for the energy efficiency programs,
(i) approval of OG&E’s proposed Demand Program Rider tariff, (iii) the
recovery through the Demand Program Rider of the increased program
costs and the net lost revenues, incentives and research and development
investments requested by OG&E, with the exception of lost revenues
resulting from the Integrated Volt Var Control program (automated intelli-
gence to control voltage and power on the distribution lines) and incentives
for the SmartHours® and Integrated Volt Var Control demand response
programs, (iv) recovery of the program costs on a levelized basis over
the three-year period, (v) consideration of implementing a peak time
rebate program in 2015 and (vi) the periodic filing of additional reports.
The Demand Program Rider became effective on January 1, 2013.

OG&E Fuel Adjustment Clause Review for Calendar Year 2010

The OCC routinely reviews the costs recovered from customers through
OG&E's fuel adjustment clause. On August 19, 2011, the OCC Staff filed
an application to review OG&E’s fuel adjustment clause for calendar year
2010, including the prudence of OG&E’s electric generation, purchased
power and fuel procurement costs. OG&E responded by filing direct
testimony and the minimum filing review package on October 18, 2011.
On September 26, 2012, the administrative law judge recommended
that the OCC find that for the calendar year 2010 OG&E’s generation,
purchase power and fuel procurement processes and costs, including
the cost of replacement power for the Sooner 2 outage, were prudent
and no disallowance (as discussed below) for any of these expenses is
warranted. On January 31, 2013, the OCC issued an order approving the
administrative law judge’s recommendation. Previously, the Oklahoma
Industrial Energy Consumers recommended that the OCC disallow
recovery of approximately $44 million of costs previously recovered
through OG&E'’s fuel adjustment clause. These recommendations were
based on allegations that OG&E’s lower cost coal-fired generation was
underutilized, that OG&E failed to aggressively pursue purchasing power
at a cost lower than its marginal cost of generation and that OG&E
should be found imprudent related to an unplanned outage at OG&E’s
Sooner 2 coal unit in November and December 2010. Previously, the
OCC Staff recommended approval of OG&E’s actions related to uti-
lization of coal plants and practices related to purchasing power but
recommended that OG&E refund $3 million to customers because of
the Sooner 2 outage.

Enogex 2011 Fuel Filing

On February 28, 2011, Enogex submitted its annual fuel filing to
establish the fixed fuel percentages for its East Zone and West Zone
for the upcoming fuel year (April 1, 2011 through March 31, 2012). Along
with the revised fuel percentages, Enogex also requested authority to
revise its statement of operating conditions to permanently change the
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annual filing date to February 28. On July 6, 2012, Enogex submitted
a compliance filing to synchronize the 2011 fuel filing with the revised
statement of operating conditions filed on May 31, 2012 in compliance
with the FERC’s order approving Enogex’s 2011 Section 311 rate case
settlement. In October 2012, the FERC accepted Enogex’s proposed
zonal fuel percentages.

Enogex 2012 Fuel Filing

On February 24, 2012, Enogex submitted its annual fuel filing to
establish the fixed fuel percentages for its East Zone and West Zone for
the 2012 fuel year (April 1, 2012 through March 31, 2013). On July 6,
2012, Enogex submitted a compliance filing to synchronize the 2012
fuel filing with the revised statement of operating conditions filed on
May 31, 2012 in compliance with the FERC’s order approving Enogex’s
2011 Section 311 rate case settlement. In October 2012, the FERC
accepted Enogex’s proposed zonal fuel percentages.

Enogex Storage Statement of Operating Conditions Filing

On August 31, 2010, Enogex filed a new statement of operating
conditions applicable to storage services with the FERC that replaced
Enogex’s existing storage statement of operating conditions effective
July 30, 2010. Among other things, the new storage statement of oper-
ating conditions updates the general terms and conditions for providing
storage services. On December 7, 2012, the FERC issued an order
approving Enogex’s revised storage statement of operating conditions,
effective August 31, 2010.

Enogex FERC Section 311 2011 Rate Case

On January 28, 2011, Enogex submitted a new rate filing to the FERC to
set the maximum rate for a new firm Section 311 transportation service
in the West Zone of its system and to revise the currently effective
maximum rates for Section 311 interruptible transportation service in
the East Zone and West Zone. Along with establishing the rate for a
new firm service in the West Zone, Enogex’s filing requested a decrease
in the maximum interruptible zonal rates in the West Zone and to retain
the currently effective rates for firm and interruptible services in the East
Zone. Enogex reserved the right to implement the higher rates for firm
and interruptible services in the East Zone supported by the cost of
service to the extent an expeditious settlement agreement cannot be
reached in the proceeding. Enogex proposed that the rates be placed
into effect on March 1, 2011. On January 10, 2012, Enogex filed a set-
tlement agreement with the FERC. On May 4, 2012, the FERC issued
an order approving the settlement agreement in this matter, subject to
the submission of a compliance filing to place the settlement rates into
effect as of March 1, 2011, which compliance filing was subsequently
filed on May 31, 2012. The FERC also requested that Enogex file a
revised statement of operating conditions, which was subsequently
filed on May 31, 2012. As part of the settlement agreement in this



matter, Enogex made refunds of $0.2 million to affected customers
on June 15, 2012 and submitted a report to the FERC on July 6, 2012
showing the refund payment calculation. On February 21, 2013, the
FERC issued an order approving the refund report.

Pending Regulatory Matters

FERC Order No. 1000, Final Rule on

Transmission Planning and Cost Allocation

On July 21, 2011, the FERC issued Order No. 1000, which revised
the FERC’s existing regulations governing the process for planning
enhancements and expansions of the electric transmission grid in a
particular region, along with the corresponding process for allocating
the costs of such expansions. Order No. 1000 leaves to individual
regions to determine whether a previously-approved project is subject
to reevaluation and is therefore governed by the new rule.

Order No. 1000 requires, among other things, public utility
transmission providers, such as the SPP, to participate in a process
that produces a regional transmission plan satisfying certain standards,
and requires that each such regional process consider transmission
needs driven by public policy requirements (such as state or Federal
policies favoring increased use of renewable energy resources). Order
No. 1000 also directs public utility transmission providers to coordinate
with neighboring transmission planning regions. In addition, Order No.
1000 establishes specific regional cost allocation principles and directs
public utility transmission providers to participate in regional and inter-
regional transmission planning processes that satisfy these principles.

On the issue of determining how entities are to be selected to
develop and construct the specific transmission projects, Order No. 1000
directs public utility transmission providers to remove from the FERC-
jurisdictional tariffs and agreements provisions that establish any Federal
“right of first refusal” for the incumbent transmission owner (such as
OG&E) regarding transmission facilities selected in a regional transmis-
sion planning process, subject to certain limitations. However, Order
No. 1000 is not intended to affect the right of an incumbent transmission
owner (such as OG&E) to build, own and recover costs for upgrades to
its own transmission facilities, and Order No. 1000 does not alter an
incumbent transmission owner’s use and control of existing rights of
way. Order No. 1000 also clarifies that incumbent transmission owners
may rely on regional transmission facilities to meet their reliability needs
or service obligations. The SPP currently has a “right of first refusal” for
incumbent transmission owners and this provision has played a role in
OG&E being selected by the SPP to build various transmission projects
in Oklahoma. These changes to the “right of first refusal” apply only
to “new transmission facilities,” which are described as those subject
to evaluation or reevaluation (under the applicable local or regional
transmission planning process) subsequent to the effective date of the
regulatory compliance filings required by the rule, which were filed on
November 13, 2012.

OGE Energy cannot, at this time, determine the precise impact of
Order No. 1000 on OG&E. OG&E has filed a petition for review in the
D.C. Circuit relating to the same matter. Nevertheless, at the present
time, OGE Energy has no reason to believe that the implementation
of Order No. 1000 will impact OG&E’s transmission projects currently
under development and construction for which OG&E has received
a notice to proceed from the SPP.

OG&E Market-Based Rate Authority

On June 29, 2012, OG&E filed its triennial market power update with
the FERC to retain its market-based rate authorization in the SPP’s
energy imbalance service market but to surrender its market-based rate
authorization for any market-based rate sales outside the SPP’s energy
imbalance service market. A FERC order is pending.

OG&E Fuel Adjustment Clause Review for Calendar Year 2011

On July 31, 2012, the OCC Staff filed an application for a public
hearing to review and monitor OG&E’s application of the 2011 fuel
adjustment clause and for a prudence review of OG&E’s electric gener-
ation, purchased power and fuel procurement processes and costs in
calendar year 2011. OG&E filed the necessary information and docu-
ments needed to satisfy the OCC’s minimum filing requirement rules

on October 1, 2012. On December 19, 2012, witnesses for the OCC
Staff filed responsive testimony recommending that the OCC approve
OG&E'’s fuel adjustment clause costs and recoveries for the calendar
year 2011 and recommending that the OCC find that OG&E’s electric
generation, purchased power, fuel procurement and other fuel related
practices, policies and decisions during calendar year 2011 were fair,
just and reasonable and prudent. The Oklahoma Industrial Energy
Consumers filed a statement of position on December 19, 2012 and
did not challenge OG&E’s application of its fuel adjustment clause or
prudency. The Oklahoma Industrial Energy Consumers reserved its right
to file rebuttal testimony, cross examine witnesses and amend its state-
ment of position should circumstances change or additional information
becomes available in the course of this proceeding. On January 7, 2013,
the Oklahoma Attorney General filed a statement of position stating that
after reviewing the case information the Attorney General has no reason
at this time to dispute the findings of the OCC Staff. A hearing in this
matter is scheduled for April 4, 2013.

OG&E Crossroads Wind Farm

As previously reported, OG&E signed memoranda of understanding in
February 2010 for approximately 197.8 MWs of wind turbine generators
and certain related balance of plant engineering, procurement and con-
struction services associated with the Crossroads wind farm. Also as
part of this project, on June 16, 2011, OG&E entered into an intercon-
nection agreement with the SPP for the Crossroads wind farm which
allowed the Crossroads wind farm to interconnect at 227.5 MWs. On

OGE Energy Corp. 83



August 31, 2012, OG&E filed an application with the APSC requesting
approval to recover the Arkansas portion of the costs of the Crossroads
wind farm through a rider until such costs are included in OG&E’s base
rates as part of its next general rate proceeding. On December 14, 2012,
the APSC Staff filed testimony recommending that the APSC find that the
Crossroads wind farm is in the public interest and that it approve interim
recovery through the Energy Cost Recovery Rider effective August 31,
2012. OG&E concurred with the APSC Staff’s recommendations. On
January 16, 2013, the APSC granted a motion made by OG&E and
the APSC Staff to cancel the hearing previously scheduled and issue
an order based on the filed record. On February 22, 2013, the APSC
directed OG&E to respond to two questions in order to complete the
record upon which they may rule. OG&E believes it is reasonable to
expect a final order from the APSC by the end of the first quarter.

OG&E Fuel Adjustment Clause Review for Calendar Year 2009
Related to Enogex Gas Transportation and Storage Agreement

As previously reported, under the terms of a settlement agreement
reached in 2011 regarding the prudency of OG&E’s fuel adjustment
clause for 2009, OG&E agreed to hire a third party expert to evaluate
its prospective gas transportation and storage needs and to identify
options for meeting those needs. Upon completion of the third party
evaluation, OG&E agreed to file a cause to address the third party’s
evaluation, recommendations and conclusions. On January 31, 2013,

OGA&E filed a cause that included OG&E’s response to the final
evaluations and conclusions of the third party consultant, Black &
Veatch, and OG&E’s assessment of transportation and storage
needs for the next three to five years.

Also, as part of this matter, on August 9, 2012, OG&E filed an
application with the OCC requesting: (i) an order finding that a one-year
extension to April 30, 2014 of OG&E’s gas transportation and storage
agreement with Enogex is prudent, (ii) a waiver of the OCC’s competi-
tive procurement rules and (jii) finding that the one-year extension
of the gas transportation and storage agreement complies with the
OCC'’s affiliate transaction rules. On September 14, 2012, OG&E filed
a settlement agreement in which all parties to this matter agreed to
the one-year extension of the Enogex contract and cost recovery from
ratepayers at the rates currently in effect. On October 25, 2012, the
OCC issued an order approving the settlement agreement.

18. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Due to the seasonal fluctuations and other factors of the Company’s
businesses, the operating results for interim periods are not necessar-
ily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year. In the
Company’s opinion, the following quarterly financial data includes all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary
to fairly present such amounts. Summarized consolidated quarterly
unaudited financial data is as follows:

(In millions, except per share data, quarter ended) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total
Operating revenues

2012 $840.7 $855.0 $1,1134 $862.1 $3,671.2
2011 $840.5 $978.1 $1,212.1 $885.2 $3,915.9
Operating income

2012 $ 98.3 $177.3 $ 304.0 $ 97.3 $ 676.9
2011 $ 67.9 $182.2 $ 299.7 $ 96.9 $ 646.7
Net income

2012 $ 47.5 $101.6 $ 1924 $ 435 $ 3850
2011 $ 29.7 $109.3 $ 181.4 $ 43.2 $ 363.6
Net income attributable to OGE Energy

2012 $ 37.1 $ 93.9 $ 185.5 $ 38.5 $ 355.0
2011 $ 24.8 $103.0 $ 178.7 $ 36.4 $ 342.9
Basic earnings per average common share

attributable to OGE Energy common shareholders®

2012 $ 0.38 $ 0.95 $ 1.88 $ 0.39 $ 3.60
2011 $ 0.25 $ 1.05 $ 1.82 $ 0.37 $ 3.50
Diluted earnings per average common share

attributable to OGE Energy common shareholders®

2012 $ 0.38 $ 0.95 $ 1.87 $ 0.39 $ 3.58
2011 $ 0.25 $ 1.04 $ 1.80 $ 0.37 $ 345

(A) Due to the impact of dilution on the earnings per share calculation, quarterly earnings per share amounts may not add to the total.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
OGE Energy Corp.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
statements of capitalization of OGE Energy Corp. as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s man-
agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company maintains a set of disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission
rules and forms. In addition, the disclosure controls and procedures
ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the chief executive officer
and chief financial officer, allowing timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. As of the end of the period covered by this report, based
on an evaluation carried out under the supervision and with the partici-
pation of the Company’s management, including the chief executive

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of OGE
Energy Corp. at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), OGE
Energy Corp.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2013
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Samt ¥ MLLP

Ernst & Young LLP
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
February 27, 2013

officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934),
the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded
that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

No change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
has occurred during the Company’s most recently completed fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934).
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The
Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed,
have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to
be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2012. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we
believe that, as of December 31, 2012, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

—>

The Company’s independent auditors have issued an attestation
report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
This report appears below.

At Fodn

Scott Forbes
Controller and

\._a_..—,\%%

Peter B. Delaney
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Accounting Officer

Chief Executive Officer

Sowr Tsdl

Sean Trauschke
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
OGE Energy Corp.
We have audited OGE Energy Corp.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). OGE Energy Corp.’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluat-
ing the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
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reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condi-
tions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, OGE Energy Corp. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets and statements of capitalization of OGE
Energy Corp. as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related con-
solidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows
and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012 of OGE Energy Corp. and our report
dated February 27, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

St + MLLP

Ernst & Young LLP
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
February 27, 2013



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

OGE Energy Corp. Common Stock Data

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Diluted earnings per share $ 3.58 $ 3.45 $ 2.99 $ 2.66 $ 2.49
Dividends paid per share® $ 1.57 $ 1.50 $ 1.45 $ 1.42 $ 1.39
Price range $60.21 - 50.23 $57.17 - 40.56 $46.18 - 33.87 $37.79-19.70 $36.23 - 19.56
Price/earnings ratio — year end 15.7 16.4 15.3 13.9 10.3
Return on equity — average 13.3% 14.9% 14.5% 13.1% 13.1%
Diluted average common shares outstanding (millions) 99.1 99.2 98.9 97.2 92.8
(A) Dividends were paid quarterly.
Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company
(In millions except EPS,
before elimination of inter-segment items) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Operating revenues $2,141 $2,212 $2,110 $1,751 $1,960
Gross margin on revenues $1,262 $1,198 $1,110 $ 955 $ 845
Operating income $ 489 $ 472 $ 414 $ 354 $ 278
Net income $ 280 $ 263 $ 216 $ 200 $ 143
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.83 $ 2.65 $ 2.18 $ 2.06 $ 1.54
Return on equity — average 10.9% 11.3% 10.3% 10.4% 9.3%
Total electricity sales (millions of megawatt hours) 29.4 29.5 28.1 26.9 28.2
OGE Enogex Holdings LLC
(In millions except EPS,
before elimination of inter-segment items) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Operating revenues $1,609 $1,787 $1,708 $1,205 $2,239
Gross margin on revenues $ 489 $ 441 $ 423 $ 358 $ 408
Operating income $ 186 $ 175 $ 184 $ 139 $ 193
Net income $ 74 $ 82 $ o $ 61 $ 96
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.75 $ 0.83 $ 0.92 $ 0.63 $ 1.04
Return on equity — average 13.7% 17.9% 20.5% 13.2% 23.4%
Pipeline throughput (mBtu/y)® 759 708 628 653 575
(A) Trillion British thermal units per year.
Cumulative Five-Year Total Return
This graph shows a five-year comparison of
cumulative total returns for the Company’s OGE Energy Corp. M $200
common stock, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Index u
S&P 1500 Utilities Sector Index. The graph S&P 1500 Utilities M $150

Sector Index

assumes that the value of the investment
in the Company’s common stock and each $100
index was $100 at Dec. 31, 2007, and that
all dividends were reinvested. As of Dec. 31, $50
2012, the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the New York Stock $0
Exchange was $56.31. 07 08 09 10 1 12
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HISTORICAL PERFORMANCE

(In millions except per share data) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Selected Financial Data
Operating revenues $3,671.2 $3,915.9 $3,716.9 $2,869.7 $4,070.7
Cost of goods sold 1,918.7 2,277.9 2,187.4 1,557.7 2,818.0
Gross margin on revenues 1,752.5 1,638.0 1,529.5 1,312.0 1,252.7
Other operating expenses 1,075.6 991.3 935.6 820.1 790.6
Operating income 676.9 646.7 593.9 491.9 462.1
Interest income 0.6 0.5 - 1.4 6.7
Allowance for equity funds used during construction 6.2 20.4 11.4 15.1 -
Other income 17.0 19.3 13.7 275 15.4
Other expense 16.5 21.7 17.9 16.3 25.6
Interest expense 164.1 140.9 139.7 137.4 120.0
Income tax expense 135.1 160.7 161.0 121.1 101.2
Net income 385.0 363.6 300.4 261.1 237.4
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 30.0 20.7 5.1 2.8 6.0
Net income attributable to OGE Energy $ 355.0 $ 342.9 $ 2953 $ 258.3 $ 231.4
Diluted earnings per average common share $ 3.58 $ 345 $ 2.99 $ 2.66 $ 249
Long-term debt $2,848.6 $2,737.1 $2,362.9 $2,088.9 $2,161.8
Total assets $9,922.2 $8,906.0 $7,669.1 $7,266.7 $6,518.5
Common Stock Statistics
Dividends paid per share $ 1.57 $ 1.50 $ 1.45 $ 1.42 $ 1.39
Dividends declared per share $ 1.5950 $1.5175 $1.4625 $1.4275 $1.3975
Book value $ 28.02 $ 26.15 $ 23.47 $ 21.05 $ 20.46
Market price - year end $ 56.31 $ 56.71 $ 4554 $ 36.89 $ 25.78
Price/earnings ratio — year end 15.7 16.4 15.3 13.9 10.3
Basic average shares outstanding (millions) 98.6 97.9 97.3 96.2 92.4
Diluted average shares outstanding (millions) 99.1 99.2 98.9 97.2 92.8
Actual shares outstanding (millions) 98.7 98.1 97.6 97.0 93.5
Number of shareholders 18,905 19,948 20,942 21,971 22,705
Capitalization Ratios®
Stockholders’ equity 51.9% 50.7% 50.4% 46.4% 47.0%
Long-term debt 48.1% 49.3% 49.6% 53.6% 53.0%
Miscellaneous Statistics
Electric customers 798,110 789,146 782,558 776,550 770,088
Megawatt-hour sales (millions) 29.4 29.5 28.1 26.9 28.2
Megawatt generating capability — year end (thousands) 6.8 6.8 6.5 6.6 6.8
Megawatt peak demand (thousands) 7.0 71 6.6 6.4 6.5
Fuel mix (generation only, by kilowatt-hours generated)

Natural gas 42% 39% 42% 38% 30%

Coal 52% 58% 55% 60% 68%

Wind 6% 3% 3% 2% 2%
Cost (in kilowatt-hours — cents)

Natural gas $ 2.930 $ 4.328 $ 4.638 $ 3.696 $ 8.455

Coal $ 2310 $ 2.064 $ 1.911 $ 1.747 $ 1.153

Weighted average $ 2437 $ 2.897 $ 3.012 $ 2.474 $ 3.337
Total gas throughput volumes (TBtu/d)® 2.08 1.94 1.72 1.79 1.57
Total natural gas processed (TBtu/d) 0.98 0.79 0.82 0.70 0.66
Condensate sold (million gallons) 35 27 24 21 18
Average condensate sales price per gallon $ 1.95 $ 2.09 $ 1.81 $ 1.36 $ 2.28
Total natural gas liquids sold (million gallons) 867 685 688 493 426
Average natural gas liquids sales price per gallon $ 0.89 $ 1.16 $ 0.96 $ 077 $ 1.26
Average natural gas sales price per MMBtu© $ 279 $ 4.08 $ 424 $ 3.37 $ 7.23

(A) Capitalization ratios = [Stockholders’ equity/(Stockholders’ equity + Long-term debt + Long-term debt due within one year)] and [(Long-term debt + Long-term debt due within one year)/(Stockholders’

equity + Long-term debt + Long-term debt due within one year)].
(B) Trillion British thermal units per day.
(C) Million British thermal unit.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

The annual meeting of shareholders is scheduled for 10 a.m. Thursday,
May 16, 2013, at the Skirvin Hilton Hotel, 1 Park Avenue, Oklahoma City.
The Board of Directors will request proxies for this meeting and statements
will be mailed to shareholders on or about March 29, 2013.

The New York Stock Exchange lists OGE Energy Corp. common stock
for trading under the symbol OGE. Quotes appear in daily newspapers
where the common stock is listed as “OGE Engy” in the New York
Stock Exchange table.

New York Stock Exchange
OGE Energy Corp.
Common stock

Shareholders with questions or in need of assistance concerning
their OGE stock accounts should contact OGE’s registrar, stock plan
administrator, transfer agent and dividend disbursing agent:

Computershare

P.O. Box 43006

Providence, RI 02940-3006
Phone toll free: 1-888-216-8114
Internet account access:
www.computershare.com/investor

Shareholders, analysts, brokers and institutional investors
with questions or comments may contact Todd Tidwell, Director,
Investor Relations at (405) 553-3966.

g” Mixed Sources

FSC

OGE Energy Corp. employees are consistently generous contributors
to the United Way. In 2012, our company’s employees pledged $827,182
to United Way campaigns in communities where they live and work.

This plan offers a convenient and economical way to purchase
OGE Energy Corp. common stock. Plan materials are available on
the Internet at www.oge.com or a prospectus and enrollment packet
may be obtained by calling 1-888-216-8114. Please read the
prospectus thoroughly before enrolling in the plan.

The following table gives information with respect to price ranges,
as reported in The Wall Street Journal as New York Stock Exchange
Composite Transactions, for the periods shown.

High Low
First Quarter (through February 28) $61.39 $55.39
First Quarter $57.54 $51.24
Second Quarter 55.31 50.23
Third Quarter 56.49 50.60
Fourth Quarter 60.21 54.36
First Quarter $50.61 $44.69
Second Quarter 53.50 47.64
Third Quarter 52.15 40.56
Fourth Quarter 57.17 45.70

The number of record holders of the Company’s Common Stock
at February 28, 2013, was 18,734. The reported closing market price
of the Company’s Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange
on February 28, 2013, was $57.91.

Shareholders may have their dividends deposited directly into their
checking, savings or money market accounts. To take advantage of
this service, please contact the registrar.

Annual reports are typically mailed for each separate shareholder
registration. To eliminate duplicate mailings please contact the registrar.

All of OGE Energy Corp.’s corporate governance material, including
codes of conduct, guidelines for corporate governance and committee
charters, is available for public viewing on the OGE Energy web site at
www.oge.com under the heading “Investor Relations,” “Corporate
Governance.” OGE Energy Corp.’s corporate governance material also is
available upon request sent to OGE Energy Corp.’s Corporate Secretary.
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